

The First 100 Days

Toward a More Sustainable and Values-Based National Security Approach

By the CAP National Security and International Policy Team October 2020

Contents

- 1 Introduction and Summary
 - 5 Rebuilding and Rebalancing Our National Security Tools and Institutions
 - 31 Living Our Democratic Values
 - 54 Ending the Wars Responsibly
 - 78 Recalibrating U.S. Global Relationships
 - 96 Tackling Global Challenges

Appendices

- 120 The First 100 Days During a Global Health Crisis
- 133 Important National Security Dates: 2020–2021
- 135 Partnering With Congress
- 138 Travel and Foreign Engagement

Introduction and summary

Regardless of who wins the November 2020 presidential election, the president will be sworn in during an unprecedented set of national crises—most urgently, a pandemic that has had a profound effect on the daily lives of all Americans and has left more than 215,000 dead. With the nation still grappling with the educational, social, and public health consequences of the coronavirus, the next administration will take office during the worst economy since the Great Depression. The next administration will also have to lead a nation badly divided—one with little faith that government can be held accountable or effectively address issues such as structural racism and economic inequality.

Meanwhile, the president who takes office in 2021 will lead a country diminished in the eyes of the world. While the Trump administration was embracing nationalist, authoritarian politics and badly mishandling the pandemic, the world moved on without us, and "America first" increasingly meant "America alone." At precisely the moment when the United States needed to be working alongside its allies and partners to solve global challenges such as climate change, the COVID-19 pandemic, and rising authoritarianism, the Trump administration retreated from advancing U.S. interests and defending our values to instead hiding behind fake walls and empty bravado. The next administration and its national security team face the immense challenge of reversing this dynamic and reviving the United States' sense of purpose in the world.

Yet January 20, 2021, will also bring tremendous potential for positive change. This potential lies not in America's past but in its present. The extraordinary mobilization against structural racism and injustice that followed the police killing of George Floyd in Minneapolis has shown the world that there is a United States still worth identifying with. The next administration has the opportunity to demonstrate that democracies are the most responsive to the needs and aspirations of everyday citizens. And it should seize that opportunity to promote a democratic renewal at home and abroad.

If a new administration takes office in January, Americans' hopes for a new and better day will be high, and the world will be watching for early signs of what the next four years will bring. Behind the scenes, the president-elect's transition team will have been preparing for months to transition from campaigning to governing—

recruiting and vetting top personnel, reviewing a daunting inbox, and deciding how to implement the president-elect's policy priorities across the federal government. And if President Donald Trump is beginning a second term, all eyes will be looking to see whether and how his governing style changes as the incumbent who is no longer constrained by reelection concerns.

In January 2020, the Center for American Progress set out to consider what a progressive national security agenda could look like in either scenario. CAP convened experts from across the national security policy, legislative, and advocacy community to examine the top policy challenges and opportunities that a new national security team will likely confront and to consider concrete ways to advance progressive ideas in the first 100 days of a new administration. As this group considered what would be necessary to advance such a progressive national security vision, it became clear how much rebuilding of U.S. capacity and international credibility would need to happen as a prerequisite to progress. Because, regardless of who wins in 2020, the president and his national security team will have to govern during an ongoing pandemic, with hollowed-out institutions, strained global alliances, a worsening climate crisis, and a much more competitive world. The COVID-19 crisis has revealed that national security is about far more than just defending against traditional security threats or negotiating diplomatic agreements. It is also about safeguarding Americans and their way of life. The COVID-19 crisis has also shown that principled U.S. leadership at home and abroad still matters, that international cooperation is essential, and that without that leadership, the world struggles to galvanize collective action, with awful results.

Yet even before the COVID-19 pandemic, U.S foreign policy and national security badly needed to reorient itself to better address the challenges of this century, correct a grievous imbalance of priorities, end the wars that have spanned two decades, and connect more directly to what the American people actually want. The next administration will face an important opportunity to reorient U.S. foreign policy to meet this moment. In doing so, it will need to put democratic values at the center of its foreign policy and prioritize working with our democratic allies and partners to tackle the world's most urgent challenges—whether it is rising authoritarianism and democratic back-sliding, rapid technological change, or the complex economic and security challenges posed by China. Given the growing competition between democratic and authoritarian systems and its direct impact on the global order, intensive action will also be needed to strengthen the foundations of our collective democracies so that we can more effectively shape the direction of that order. In the past,

the United States has risen to these moments by renewing its approach at home and abroad—and it can do so again. With this vision in mind, the past few years have clarified some important shared ideas across the progressive community, including the need for a return to American diplomacy and less militarization of our foreign policy; the strategic importance of living our values at home and abroad; the importance of the fight to defend the democratic world; the urgency of restoring faith in our national security institutions; and the need to focus on the challenges facing the next generation, not the past.

Over the past several months, the CAP National Security and International Policy team worked to develop an actionable plan that could serve as a roadmap for the early days of a willing administration—the first executive actions, human capital and budget investments, and policy initiatives. When considering how to scope this plan, we identified five key pillars of action that not only reflect the reality of the world that the next administration will confront but also the progressive values that are necessary to put the United States on a more principled and sustainable path internationally:

- Rebuilding and modernizing our national security institutions to provide the tools and resources necessary to meet today's national security challenges.
- 2. Living our democratic values at home and abroad and prioritizing the defense of those values.
- 3. Ending the current wars responsibly and leading with diplomacy—not military action—to resolve conflicts.
- 4. Recalibrating our global relationships, including with U.S. allies, competitors, and adversaries.
- Tackling global challenges such as climate change, migration, arms control, corruption, and the need to build a new multilateralism that advances the collective good.

The next president and his national security team will need to prioritize among these pillars and align them with his domestic policy priorities. As CAP built this 100-day plan, we were mindful that the line between domestic and foreign policy is no longer as stark as it once was. Challenges such as climate change, pandemics, and competing effectively with China will require substantial domestic action. This plan touches on what necessary steps the United States must take at home to put it on stronger footing in the world, including investing in its economic competitiveness, strengthening its democracy, and taking bold steps on climate change. CAP will continue to deliver additional bold, progressive ideas in these areas in the months ahead.

This plan is by no means exhaustive. It will, of course, take more than 100 days to end wars, reinvent institutions, tackle global challenges, reset relationships, and bolster democracy. This plan is designed to be a starting point and a constructive contribution of concrete and actionable ideas, not a rigid prescription. CAP does believe, however, that these ideas go a long way toward reorienting U.S. foreign policy and national security toward a more progressive path.

The past four years, and many before, have demonstrated that the United States needs to take a different approach to the world to better advance our interests and defend our way of life—an approach that prioritizes democratic values, delivers real results for the American people, and tackles big, global challenges head-on. There will be a natural impulse to take an incremental approach during these unprecedented times, but this is precisely the moment to take bold, necessary action. CAP hopes that this plan will contribute to a meaningful shift.



Rebuilding and Rebalancing Our National Security Tools and Institutions

Today's U.S. foreign policy tools and institutions are in serious need of repair. At the same time, America's overreliance on the military to solve most problems is increasingly disconnected from the national security challenges we face. It is time to reexamine what it means to keep America safe and what we need from our national security institutions to do so. This chapter lays out recommendations to rebuild and restore trust in our national security institutions and rebalance our national security tools to end the cycle of overreliance on the armed forces to manage problems that should be handled by civilian agencies.

Over the past 20 years, U.S. national security and foreign policy tools and institutions have become increasingly ill-suited to advancing U.S. interests around the world. This problem has been exacerbated over the past four years. Not only has victory been elusive¹ in theaters of active conflict, but the deadliest² and costliest³ national emergencies of the past two decades—including hurricanes Katrina, Sandy, Irma, Maria, and Harvey, as well as the COVID-19 pandemic—have raised new questions about what it means to protect the homeland from its most common and foreseeable threats. Meanwhile, increasingly intense competition with China and a revanchist Russia are presenting new challenges with the potential to transform how we think about our security. At the same time, new national security challenges such as climate change, rapid technological change, migration, and rising authoritarianism are also stressing U.S. national security institutions' ability to respond.

The military is not equipped to solve all or even most of these problems. Yet it is the only national security institution that has come out of the past decade stronger than it was before. Since 9/11, the role of the military in national security policymaking has steadily increased⁴ and has led to military issues competing with and often dominating economic, political, and diplomatic priorities, with dismal consequences. By investing disproportionately in the military as the United States' primary foreign policy tool, we have chronically underinvested⁵ in other national security institutions, creating a cycle of overreliance on the armed forces to manage problems that should be handled by civilian agencies. Meanwhile, for these and other reasons, the United States now finds itself underinvested—or entirely unequipped—to address problems that the military alone cannot solve.

This cycle must not continue in the next administration. In a world with today's range of international problems, we must abandon an approach which defines American national interests primarily in terms of security from foreign threats and instead reexamine our understanding of U.S. national interests both domestically and abroad. Only then can we recalibrate our national security tools to better advance these interests. Doing so will require us to answer hard questions about how best to keep our nation secure. How do we assess and prioritize the threats facing the United States? And because the meaning of U.S. national security has evolved, what are the consequences for the tools we use to protect and defend the United States?

An honest answer to these questions will require a significant rebalancing of our national security tools. Most obviously, this will require enhancing the status and influence of diplomacy and development in Washington, restoring the U.S. Department of State's overall primacy in foreign policymaking, and reestablishing the State Department as the lead for U.S. engagement around the world. At the same time, merely shifting the balance

of power or the investment of resources to favor the State Department will be insufficient on its own to modernize America's foreign policy. A comprehensive approach will require a decisive pivot away from the military as the foreign policy tool of first resort and toward meaningful investments in economic, diplomatic, and multilateral tools. It will require the State Department and the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) to use the tools they have—and the new tools and funding they receive—more effectively. It will require the development of new tools to confront emerging threats that the military, however powerful, cannot address. It will also require the next administration to wrestle with difficult questions about how to bring our national security tools and institutions into better alignment with our national security needs.

The next administration will also need to rebuild—and remodel—our national security institutions. Attacked from the outside and hollowed out from within, the U.S. Department of Defense (DOD) and the intelligence community, in addition to the State Department and U.S. foreign aid organizations, are also severely diminished after a decade of sequestration and austerity and, more recently, mismanagement during the Trump administration.⁶ As a consequence, the next administration will face the most severely weakened⁷ national security institutions in a generation. Rebuilding these institutions will require visionary leadership, skilled management, and thoughtful restoration to make them stronger and more effective institutions than they were before.

Merely returning to the pre-Trump status quo will not be enough. Instead, institutional investments and reforms must adapt and creatively reorient these institutions for a new world. The public health crisis caused by COVID-19 has exposed major deficiencies in the institutions meant to keep Americans safe; hampered by inept leadership at the top, these institutions have largely failed to protect Americans from the greatest and perhaps most foreseeable threat to our security in the past 20 years. The next administration will need to establish a wide-ranging and innovative agenda and mobilize skilled leaders to modernize how our national security institutions are staffed, how they operate, and the tools they use to implement the president's foreign policy.

The next administration will also need to reexamine core assumptions about what institutions and policies keep America safe and secure. This should include a wholesale reexamination of the mission, structure, and role of the U.S. Department of Homeland Security (DHS) with the goal of realigning the department's activities to today's threats. Finally, the next administration will need to consider whether, in today's world, continuing to increase the amount of resources America spends on its military is justified.

The next administration will need to drive significant reforms to refine and reimagine how our national security tools are used to protect the nation. This will take time, but a next administration can make important strides in its first 100 days in three key areas:

- 1. Restoring trust and recommitting to the rule of law.
- 2. Rebuilding and modernizing our national security institutions, workforce, and processes.
- 3. Signaling a meaningful shift toward a diplomacy-first foreign policy.

The recommendations that follow provide a range of options for advancing these goals.

Restoring trust and recommitting to the rule of law

American institutions—in particular, our law enforcement and national security institutions—are facing a crisis of trust. During the past four years, the Trump administration has consistently and methodically undermined the missions of our national security institutions and questioned the motivations of career public servants. The current administration has taken unprecedented actions to contort national security institutions into vehicles to serve personal rather than national interests, starting with the misplaced push to purge⁸ the so-called "deep state" from the government and continuing with the abuse of presidential authority to seek political favors⁹ from foreign governments. In recent months, the current administration has also inappropriately used the uniformed military and federal law enforcement agencies to suppress¹⁰ peaceful protests. In doing so, the Trump administration has violated long-standing norms against the use of national security institutions for political purposes and undermined the nonpartisan nature of the national security mission. Taken together, these actions have systematically undercut¹¹ the rule of law, rebuffed¹² congressional oversight, and upended¹³ decades of precedent that were the result of bipartisan reforms in the post-Watergate era.

During the past four years, the Trump administration has also hollowed out our national security workforce. Career officials and experts have been publicly attacked¹⁴, pushed out¹⁵ of their jobs, and cruelly undermined¹⁶ at the hands of political leaders. Many experienced career public servants have chosen to leave¹⁷ government service altogether rather than have their advice ignored, their work politicized, and their motives questioned. Some have been forced out. Those who remain have seen their institutions buckle under political pressure as they pursue their missions in the face of tremendous stress and uncertainty. The next administration must have a plan to reestablish norms, restore trust, and instill confidence with the experts that remain.

The Trump administration's actions have also exposed dangerous weaknesses in our institutions, especially around civilian control of the military and the independence of our intelligence and law enforcement agencies, which serve as a necessary check on the power of the executive branch. ¹⁸ These norms need to be reestablished and strengthened.

Overall, the next administration should publicly and persistently prioritize responding to the crisis of trust by restoring integrity—the commitment to the public good and freedom from undue political influence—and a commitment to the rule of law to our national security institutions. By doing so, the next administration can begin to reestablish the trust that Americans should have in their government and the confidence that the national security workforce should have in public service.



QUICK WIN: Issue a presidential directive on day one underscoring trust and commitment to rule of law in our national security institutions. On the first day of the next administration, the president should address the crisis of trust by issuing an executive order on restoring integrity to our national security institutions. This executive order could address broader issues, but at a minimum it should:

- > Reaffirm that our national security institutions will work to serve the interests of our country, not partisan political interests.
- > Recommit to the rule of law and reinforce the administration's respect for the role of other branches of government in overseeing the conduct of national security and foreign policy activities.
- **>** Direct national security leaders to normalize relations with Congress and respect its oversight function.
- Announce that the Office of Government Ethics' rules will be treated as binding on executive branch employees in national security and foreign policy roles.
- **>** Announce a strict, zero-tolerance policy for executive branch employees in national security and foreign policy roles, including political appointees, who violate laws and policies that prohibit using their positions for political or financial gain for themselves or others.
- **>** Direct the use of available hiring authorities to offer new opportunities to career civil servants who were pushed out or inappropriately reassigned during the prior administration.
- > Reinforce the independence of inspectors general in national security departments and agencies by announcing that all nominees will be selected from individuals recommended by an independent committee. Consider supporting a for-cause removal limitation for new inspectors general.



QUICK WIN: Direct leaders of national security departments and agencies to issue messages on trust and commitment to rule of law upon assuming office. Incoming department and agency leadership should use their first communications with their career workforces to reinforce trust and integrity and reaffirm a commitment to the rule of law and the national security mission. These messages should reiterate the president's commitment to governing for the benefit of national—rather than personal—interests,

express a clear commitment to transparency and independent oversight, and convey that the only loyalty required of civil servants is loyalty to the U.S. Constitution. These messages should also seek to reestablish key norms within each department and agency. For example, the secretary of defense should announce new initiatives to depoliticize the military, including restrictions on the use of military titles, uniforms, and other insignia for political and other nonmilitary purposes.



QUICK WIN: Swear in key intelligence and law enforcement appointees at their home agencies. The next administration should reaffirm the unique independence of intelligence and law enforcement missions by swearing in the attorney general and director of national intelligence at Main Justice and Liberty Crossing, respectively, rather than at the White House. The chair and ranking representatives from key oversight committees should be included in each swearing-in ceremony, reinforcing the president's commitment to respecting Congress' oversight function.



QUICK WIN: Resume regular press briefings at the White House, the State Department, and the DOD. Restoring trust in national security institutions will require more transparency and accountability to the public. The next administration should immediately resume regular press briefings at the White House and at the departments of State and Defense to ensure the public has access to a steady stream of reliable information about the conduct of U.S. foreign policy.



QUICK WIN: Replace politically appointed inspectors general at national security departments and agencies. Given efforts to exert undue influence over inspectors general over the past four years, 19 the next administration should immediately replace politically appointed inspectors general with their career deputies and select permanent officials from among candidates recommended by an independent committee, once established.



QUICK WIN: Appoint a diverse slate of foreign service officers to key ambassadorships.

Major campaign donors are often rewarded with coveted ambassadorships. While some of these high-level campaign donors may have experience that makes them well equipped to serve in these posts, many do not. The practice of awarding these positions to unqualified donors can often appear corrupt and undermines the professionalism of the foreign service. To restore trust and reinforce a commitment to installing qualified officials to key national security posts, the next administration should announce a diverse slate of foreign service officers to key ambassadorships before naming any other ambassadors.

Rebuilding and modernizing our national security institutions, workforce, and processes

The deadliest²⁰ and costliest²¹ national emergencies in the past two decades—including hurricanes, floods, fires, and the COVID-19 pandemic—have laid bare major flaws: The institutions charged with protecting Americans are not calibrated to protect us from our most common and foreseeable threats. Meanwhile, increasingly intense competition with China and a revanchist Russia as well as new national security challenges such as climate change, rapid technological change, migration, and rising authoritarianism are stressing our national security institutions' ability to respond. Modernizing our national security institutions will require new national security tools for the future—as discussed in the "Tackling Global Challenges" section of this report—strategic investments in the national security workforce, and better coordination across the structures that are already in place.

The next administration will also need to innovate: reinventing structures and processes, modernizing legacy systems, establishing new policy and implementation mechanisms, and identifying and attracting a workforce with a diversity of skills and experiences to creatively respond to threats that legacy national security tools alone cannot address. It will need to improve the National Security Council (NSC) staff to transform the post-Cold War, post-terrorism national security apparatus of the past into the all-threats national security enterprise of the future. Doing so will require the next administration to confront—and overcome—bureaucratic hurdles to innovation.

The next administration will also inherit a national security workforce in serious need of modernization. ²² A diverse workforce is a strategic asset, yet today's national security workforce is not only unrepresentative of the United States' diversity, but it is also less diverse²³ than the rest of the federal government. This must change. The next administration must improve talent pipelines and remove bureaucratic barriers to human-capital reforms—hurdles that have stymied past efforts to invest in talent programs. It will also need to invest in its most important asset—its people—by prioritizing management skills and experience in making national security appointments.

Modernizing our national security institutions will require dedicated focus over time, but important progress can be achieved within the first 100 days to set the next administration on a promising course for the future.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Direct a high-level review of the Department of Homeland Security's mission focused on reorienting the department to today's threats

Created after the 9/11 terrorist attacks, DHS is the result of the largest reorganization of government in more than half a century. Today, DHS has five main missions, but its overwhelming focus has been on two: preventing terrorism and immigration enforcement. The next administration should direct a high-level review of DHS's mission, focused on reorienting the department and reprioritizing its activities to better align with today's threats. This review should consider whether current circumstances warrant changing DHS's approach to homeland security, including how it is staffed and what it prioritizes in pursuit of its strategic goals and statutory responsibilities.



QUICK WIN: Issue an executive order on improving diversity in the national

security workforce. The diversity of the American people is one of our greatest assets as a nation, yet our national security agencies do not reflect this diversity and are even less diverse²⁴ than the rest of the federal government. The next administration should issue an executive order on improving diversity in the national security workforce. This executive order should:

- > Direct national security agencies to recruit and support strong candidates that reflect the breadth of talent, skill, and experience found in the diversity of the American people.
- **>** Commit to gender parity and racial equity in making national security appointments.
- Restore transgender individuals' eligibility for military service. Particularly in the wake of the U.S. Supreme Court's landmark case²⁵ Bostock v. Clayton County, the next administration's DOD should restore Obama administration guidelines²⁶ on the ability of LGBTQ people to serve in the U.S. military and commit to defending these policies in court.
- Revoke executive order (EO) 13782,²⁷ which reversed the Obama administration's federal contracting regulations that prevented discrimination against LGBTQ employees. These protections should be restored.
- ➤ Revoke EO 13950,²⁸ which the Trump administration used to prohibit workplace diversity, racial justice, and bias training for federal employees and contractors.

- Make the recruitment and retention of a diverse workforce its own Executive Core Qualification (ECQ) required for promotion to the Senior Executive Service. The Office of Personnel Management (OPM) should elevate the recruitment and retention of a diverse workforce by making the recruitment and retention of a diverse workforce a stand-alone ECQ rather than a subcomponent of the ECQ on leading people.
- > Require annual reporting on diversity statistics by department and agency, accompanied by explanations of programs designed to close diversity gaps.
- Address racism in military policy and in military and veterans communities. These issues need to be addressed head-on in the early days of the next administration.
 - Direct the secretary of defense to rename military bases, revise military branch policies, and eliminate insignia and memorials that are white-nationalist symbols or vestiges of the Confederacy.
 - Revoke EO 13933,²⁹ which the Trump administration issued to prosecute the vandalism of Confederate monuments and memorials; and review EO 13934,³⁰ which the Trump administration sought to use to set new standards on monuments and statues.
 - Task the secretaries of defense and veterans affairs to conduct a review to identify
 actions that can be taken to respond to white supremacy in the military and in
 veteran communities.



Direct the OPM to launch a human capital initiative aligned to current or emerging threats

Since 9/11, the U.S. government has made major investments³¹ in counterterrorism and in Middle East and South Asia expertise to address the security challenges that have dominated U.S. national security policy. It is imperative that U.S. departments and agencies now make strategic investments in developing deep expertise in other areas to ensure agencies and their functions are appropriately resourced with the skill sets needed to confront current strategic challenges, especially with great power competitors such as China, Russia, and other key regional powers. The COVID-19 pandemic also highlights the need to invest in expertise in nontraditional security threats such as global pandemics, climate change, and corruption. The next administration should launch a major human capital initiative that is aligned to current and emerging threats. This initiative should include a review of skill and expertise deficits identified during recent climate and global health emergencies and recommendations for hiring incentives and expedited clearances to close identified gaps.

• Establish a recurring, principals-level meeting focused solely on national security human capital and talent to provide a forcing mechanism for progress on the administration's goals. This quarterly, principals-level meeting should track progress and milestones related to the administration's human capital initiatives, including achieving gender parity in national security appointments, improving diversity in the national security workforce, and expanding the pipeline of qualified, diverse professional talent in national security recruitment and hiring.



QUICK WIN: Prioritize management skill and commitment to the federal workforce in hiring for senior political appointments. In recent years, U.S. national security institutions have been severely mismanaged. The next administration should prioritize management skill over other qualifications in making senior political appointments by asking standard questions about leveraging diversity and commitment to the federal workforce of all candidates for senior appointments.

• Appoint a chief technology officer in each national security department and agency. As technology increasingly shapes our threats as well as our defenses, it is time to rethink the role technology plays in our national security institutions. What was once an enabling tool is now a central focus of national security policymaking. That shift should be reflected in our organizational structures. The next administration should install senior executive-level chief technology officers to serve as part of the executive management teams at each national security department and agency. These officers, whose responsibilities should be separated from general IT support functions, should focus on innovation, policy, and digital delivery, cybersecurity, and evaluating the strategic risks and opportunities for technology to advance department and agency missions.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Improve the function of the National Security Council staff

The Trump administration's haphazard attempts³² to reshape the NSC staff under four national security advisers in as many years have had dismal results. Almost from the start, experienced career officials serving in NSC staff posts were branded as holdovers and excluded³³ from critical decisions. Many found their tours of duty abruptly ended, and several were expelled in retaliation³⁴ for complying with valid congressional subpoenas. The Trump administration's structural changes proved to be strategic errors, most notably its decision to disband³⁵ the Global Health Security and Biodefense Directorate and fold what remained of it into the Counterproliferation and Biodefense Directorate, also known as the WMD Directorate, that oversees man-made disasters.

That decision left the current White House without an obvious coordinating body for managing the response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The next administration should prioritize targeted changes to the structure and organization of the NSC staff to resolve legacy issues, reorient its focus toward modern national security threats, and set the NSC as an institution on a sustainable course for the future. Further, any right-sizing of the NSC should flow from an actual prioritization of our national security objectives and be relevant to the new challenges we face.



QUICK WIN: Reestablish the Global Health Security and Biodefense Directorate in the NSC staff. This position was eliminated³⁶ early in the Trump administration but will be critical to coordinating the U.S. response to the ongoing coronavirus pandemic.



QUICK WIN: Disband the Border and Transportation Security Directorate in the NSC staff. The Trump administration has used the Border and Transportation Security Directorate—previously known as the Transborder Directorate—to advance his Muslim ban, asylum restrictions, and other harmful immigration policies. The office should be disbanded and its responsibilities assumed by other regional and functional directorates.



QUICK WIN: Designate an Office of Security and Technology Policy (OSTP) liaison or task force within the NSC staff. Almost every national security department and agency is investing in technology tools and grappling with the policy implications of matters that cut across technology, national security, and the economy. Today, those efforts are disconnected from each other and from broader national policy objectives. To unify those efforts, the next administration should designate an OSTP liaison to the NSC staff to coordinate national security efforts in this critical area. This liaison or task force should lead on cross-cutting issues such as 5G, quantum computing, and artificial intelligence (AI). The goal of these efforts should be to leverage the government's significant purchasing power, efficiencies associated with shared services, and interoperability benefits and best practices.

Signaling a meaningful shift toward diplomacy-first foreign policy

U.S. national security is no longer guaranteed simply because we have the world's most powerful³⁷ military. Faced with a crippling global pandemic and the rise of great-power competition, the next administration will begin during the first and only global crisis bereft of American leadership. Diplomacy and development tools—maligned and severely underutilized during the past four years—will be critical to restoring, to the extent possible, America's leadership role in the world. At the same time, the strategic focus of the U.S. military will need to be reexamined and better aligned with U.S. national interests. Any serious effort to put diplomacy at the center of our foreign policy must address the enormous disparity³⁸ between our investments in the military and our investments in diplomacy. In the first 100 days, the next administration should signal a meaningful shift toward a diplomacy-first foreign policy. But far from merely pouring more resources into the State Department, the next administration will need to strategically reexamine how to strengthen, modernize, and realign our other national security tools, including by shifting defense resources toward today's threats and carefully narrowing the use of hard-power tools.

The Center for American Progress has long recommended³⁹ the creation of a unified national security budget to drive integrated thinking about the best application of our resources to address the threats we face. We renew that recommendation here, noting that the arguments in favor are even more compelling today than they were more than a decade ago when the recommendation was first made. Though it will not be easy, the time is right for the White House and Congress to work together to drive integrated thinking about the security challenges we face and the best application of our resources to address them. With emerging climate, cyber, and global health threats on the rise, and national security institutions poorly aligned to respond to them, it is now more important than ever that the administration and Congress consider the national security budget holistically if they want to start doing the rebalancing that policymakers have long said they want to do.

The most urgent and obvious imbalance is the chronic underinvestment in the State Department. Today's State Department is outflanked by the DOD by nearly every measure. The DOD has more resources, more capacity, and more influence within the national security bureaucracy than its diplomatic counterpart. This imbalance, which has been a feature of national security policymaking since the Cold War, has been dramatically accelerated in the past four years. Today, the military commands more than 15 times⁴⁰ the resources that are invested in the State Department—a fact that is increasingly difficult to justify in a world in which threats such as COVID-19 or climate change cannot be addressed with military strength. The next administration should try to fix this imbalance.

But investing resources alone will not be enough. The State Department and U.S. foreign aid organizations will also need to become more efficient and effective. They will need to fix their organizational weaknesses so that their success is enabled by, rather than hindered by, their systems and processes. The State Department will need to finally adapt to changes in technology, which have negated the department's traditional source of power: its control over the flow of information between foreign capitals and Washington. It will also need to make—and win—the argument that America is strongest when it is working in partnership with other nations. This will require the State Department to make serious changes, rethink its value proposition, and bring its structure and processes into alignment with its unique advantages.

Finally, a next administration would be wise to reassess the use of American hard-power tools. For too long, the executive branch has overrelied on hard security as a first impulse rather than a last resort. This has led to the misuse⁴¹ of these tools and contributed to claims that America is failing⁴² to live by its values. The next administration should independently review the use—and abuse—of hard-power tools and establish modern guideposts around the use of military and intelligence activities to ensure their future use is narrowly tailored to clear national policy goals and better aligned to today's threats.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Task the secretary of state to develop a National Diplomacy Strategy

As an initial step toward rebalancing defense and diplomacy, the next administration should task the secretary of state with developing a National Diplomacy Strategy. This strategy would establish clear, new priorities for the State Department, articulate a new role for the department in implementing the president's National Security Strategy,

and provide a defensible rationale for investments. The development and release of a National Diplomacy Strategy would send a signal to our allies and partners—and to the State Department workforce itself—that the department is on a trajectory to play a larger and more consequential role in U.S. foreign policymaking in the years ahead.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Signal meaningful resource shifts in the president's FY 2022 budget

As one of the first critical tasks in the first 100 days, the president's FY 2022 budget will provide an important signaling opportunity. The next administration should take advantage of this to signal a strategic shift in national security resourcing, proposing meaningful reductions in the defense budget and meaningful increases in State Department funding.

• Propose to fund 1,000 new State Department full-time equivalent (FTE) positions to rebuild U.S. diplomacy. The State Department has been gutted⁴³ over the past decade, first due to austerity and budget sequestration and more recently as the Trump administration sought to cut the department's budget and push out public servants en masse. A next administration should request an increase of 1,000 FTEs to grow America's diplomatic presence overseas and begin rebuilding a more diverse State Department workforce, aligned to emerging or underresourced threats as defined in the OPM human capital initiative, discussed above. Half of these slots should be reserved for climate-related positions, as discussed in the "Tackling Global Challenges" section of this report.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Propose a consolidated national security budget

Today, decisions about resourcing America's national security institutions are siloed. America's offensive, defensive, and preventive tools are all funded through separate and distinct appropriations processes with no opportunity to consider trade-offs or propose realignments strategically. The next administration could drive integrated thinking about the security challenges we face and the best application of our resources to address them by proposing a consolidated national security budget that is transparent about the trade-offs embedded in our current resource allocations. An integrated national security budget should call for serious realignments between the DOD and America's civilian institutions of diplomacy and development.

- Task the OMB director to propose a consolidated national security budget and establish
 a working group with Congress to develop it for FY 2023.
- Phase out the use of the Overseas Contingency Operations (OCO) account and propose targeted reductions to the Pentagon's budget. The OCO account has been used to fund operations addressing new contingencies. Yet, over time, these new contingencies have become⁴⁴ regular operations. The Pentagon and Congress have used this account to avoid making hard choices about the budget. The defense budget should prioritize investments in capabilities that are most likely to deter provocative action from China and Russia and reexamine its other investments.
- Reverse the militarization of foreign policy by transferring DOD security assistance programs back to the State Department. After the Vietnam War, the State Department was put in charge of security assistance, as providing military equipment to a foreign country is fundamentally a foreign policy decision. Over the past two decades, the DOD has developed its own duplicative⁴⁵ security assistance budget and bureaucracy. This effort now mirrors the State Department's long-running \$6 billion security assistance system. ⁴⁶ The dramatic growth and expansion of the DOD's aid programs has eroded the State Department's control and oversight of security assistance policy and therefore over U.S. foreign policy. A next administration should transfer the DOD's \$8 billion budget over to the State Department. The State Department's existing programs ensure hand-in-glove coordination with the DOD, as the DOD implements State Department's programs.
- Seek an increase to USAID's budget, with a significant focus on global health and climate change. The developing world has an urgent need for health care assistance, particularly related to the coronavirus response. China and Russia have used high-profile health assistance as a public diplomacy tool⁴⁷ to build better bilateral relations and to undermine the United States and Europe. There is both an urgent humanitarian and geopolitical need to provide greater assistance. Providing assistance to hard-hit countries and regions, such as sub-Saharan Africa, Central America, Southeast Asia, and the Balkans, can help these regions respond to the crisis and can help the United States build and strengthen diplomatic ties.



Restore the status and influence of the State Department in national security policymaking

The budget imbalance in national security leaves the State Department underresourced and badly positioned to lead an effective U.S. foreign policy. A next administration must seriously invest in rebuilding the State Department's resources, personnel, and status within U.S. national security and foreign policy.



QUICK WIN: Establish a presumption that the State Department chairs working group-level interagency meetings. Task the State Department to chair working group-level interagency meetings, with NSC staff as vice chairs, especially where meetings are focused on policy implementation. The State Department should also be tasked to lead the development of policy options papers and implementation plans.



QUICK WIN: Create a larger role for the State Department in setting national intelligence priorities. Prioritize setting new intelligence priorities within the first 100 days as an early signal of strategic realignment to elevate national security threats such as global health, migration, and climate change as tier-one presidential intelligence priorities. In doing so, create a larger role for the State Department in setting these priorities by requiring the concurrence of the secretary of state before revisions are presented to the president.

- Launch a review of personnel to strengthen the State Department. The Trump administration's efforts to gut the State Department have depleted its ranks. The next administration should launch a 100-day review to recommend immediate steps that the administration can take to strengthen the State Department. The review should be led by the undersecretary for management, who should be among the earliest appointees. The review should consider:
 - The department's structure and policymaking processes, including the undersecretary positions and which bureaus report to them.
 - Key talent acquisition priorities for the department, including how to improve the ability of mid-career professionals to enter the State Department at ranks commensurate with their abilities; how to give State Department officers the ability to take long leaves of absence to obtain an advanced degree, gain private sector experience, or work for nonprofit organizations; and how best to make the foreign and civil services complementary pillars to promote U.S. foreign policy.
 - How State Department and USAID leadership coordinate on foreign assistance as well as how to deliver such assistance most efficiently.
 - How to refine and strengthen the role of the Global Engagement Center.

- Launch an effort to immediately recruit high-quality State Department employees. Concurrently with the review of personnel, the secretary of state can direct some immediate changes to ensure a high-quality pipeline of talent to meet the talent acquisition priorities identified by the 100-day review. These immediate steps could include:
 - Leverage Section 308(a)⁴⁸ of the Foreign Service Act of 1980 or the OPM's pending rule⁴⁹ on promotion and internal placement to recall retired diplomats at the same rank they left with who were forced out in the past four years.
 - Fully utilize Schedule B⁵⁰ hiring authority to increase the number of technical and scientific specialists in the State Department. This will be essential to ensuring that the department has the expertise it needs in a variety of technical areas such as cyber, climate, tech, AI, health, biosecurity, and economics and finance.
 - Task the Bureau of Global Talent Management to develop a proposal to establish a
 national diplomatic corps in high schools and colleges, modeled after the ROTC,
 to develop a reliable pipeline of skilled and diverse foreign service officers.



Restore civilian control of the military

The secretary of defense needs to establish greater civilian control of the military by prioritizing the Title 10 authority⁵¹ of the Office of the Secretary of Defense on war planning, budget, policy, and capabilities. The next administration should restore civilian control by clearly establishing the direction and limits under which the armed forces should operate.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Signal a realignment of defense resources toward emerging threats

The secretary of defense should signal early and often an intent to realign defense resources and focus to combat rising competitiveness threats, both traditional and nontraditional, from China and Russia.



Narrow the use of hard-power tools

The Trump administration has taken advantage of a bloated DOD budget, often using military force to accomplish political aims such as in its use of the military at the U.S. southern border. A next administration must review U.S. hard-power tools and reassess where the military should be focused.



QUICK WIN: End military deployment to the southern U.S. border. President Trump's rare and controversial use of the military⁵² to support DHS missions was legally questionable, costly for taxpayers, and wholly unnecessary. The next administration should rescind EO 13919⁵³ ordering some reservists to active duty and immediately end military deployments to the southern U.S. border; it should also revoke EO 13767,⁵⁴ which the Trump administration used to strengthen enforcement at the border, increase deportations, and build the border wall.



QUICK WIN: End the 1033 program. The military surplus equipment transfer program, known as the 1033 program⁵⁵, established in 1997, has allowed the transfer of more than⁵⁶ \$7.4 billion in military equipment and goods, including armored vehicles, rifles, and aircraft, to state and local law enforcement agencies. This has led to no measurable reduction in crime or improvement in police safety. Weapons of war do not belong in American communities. A next administration should end the transfers of military equipment and vehicles under the 1033 program as a step toward reducing overly aggressive policing.

• Support legislation limiting the use of the Insurrection Act. The Insurrection Act⁵⁷ invests full authority in the president to determine that circumstances warrant its use, with no legislative, judicial, or executive branch checks on its use. As became clear during protests following the death of George Floyd, the lack of any limits on the use of the Insurrection Act allow it to be wielded for undemocratic and even unconstitutional purposes. The next administration should support legislative efforts⁵⁸ to put in place appropriate checks on abuse of this authority, including an explicit prohibition against invoking the act against peaceful assembly, and require congressional notification and authorization, court findings to invoke the act over the objection of governors, and certification by the attorney general and/or the secretary of defense that conditions necessitate its use.

- Announce an independent review of covert action and set modern limits on intelligence collection activities. Announce an independent review of covert action over the past three presidencies, exploring the policy goals, risks assumed, and policy gains achieved. The next administration should commit to reforms in the use of covert action and make some of the findings public. Relatedly, the next administration should set new boundaries around intelligence collection activities by adding a dimension to the National Intelligence Priorities Framework (NIPF) that indicates the level of invasiveness, or risk, that policymakers are willing to assume in the conduct of intelligence activity related to the priority.
- Establish new parameters and strategic objectives for arms sales. American weapons should not be used to commit human rights abuses at home or abroad. Today, U.S. arms sales support⁵⁹ illiberal and abusive regimes and flood⁶⁰ police departments in the United States with excess military-grade equipment. A next administration should conduct a review of U.S. arms sales policy and establish guidelines to halt and prevent further sales when a partner's behavior no longer serves U.S. national security interests. The new policy should embed higher human rights standards into sales decisions and significantly increase the training and doctrine development required in order to ensure that American equipment is used legally and effectively. Partners that violate American standards for use, including end-user license agreements, should be held accountable.

Conclusion

A next administration must begin its term prepared to rebuild—and improve—hollowed-out national security institutions. At the strategic level, doing so will require leaders to articulate a coherent rationale for U.S. engagement in the world—that America's security and prosperity is inextricably linked with the rest of the world and that the leadership role we play in global affairs offers clear dividends to the American people. To enlist congressional and public support for these efforts, the president will need to better connect the conduct and goals of foreign policy to the lived experience and domestic needs of the American people. National security experts have often remarked that the barriers between domestic and foreign policy have fallen, but our public discourse has not kept pace. Most Americans have an incomplete understanding, at best, of what the United States is trying to achieve in the world and how it affects them. This deficiency has allowed overly simplistic but easily digestible populist strategies—such as an America-first strategy—to take hold. A shared understanding about the aims of foreign policy that directly ties America's domestic strength to its strength abroad will be essential to making—and winning—the argument for meaningful institutional reform.

But restoring these institutions will not be enough; they must also adapt for the future. As the next administration rebuilds, it should prioritize efforts in the first 100 days that restore integrity to our national security institutions and workforce and modernize both for the future. It should also endeavor to signal a meaningful shift toward an economic and diplomacy-first foreign policy that is better aligned with today's national security challenges. Significant reforms to refine and reimagine how our national security tools are used to protect the nation will take time, but a president can make important strides in the first 100 days to set our national security institutions on a sustainable course for the future.

Prerequisites for a functional national security enterprise

The actions below are critical prerequisites for modernizing how our national security institutions do their work. They should be considered together with the broader initiatives undertaken by the next administration in the first 100 days.

- Prioritize the development of a unified system for security clearances. Backlogs and waiting times for security clearance applications create barriers to recruiting the best officials to serve in U.S. national security. Resolving this backlog and facilitating a unified system will be critical to rebuilding a hollowed-out national security workforce and bringing in new talent.
- Launch a unified national security directory for the executive branch. One of the simplest and most impactful things the next administration could do to improve interagency coordination is to make it easier for national security employees to connect with each other via a contact directory. This basic business requirement enables employees to identify who does what across the community. Yet the national security infrastructure does not have one. A unified national security directory would facilitate greater cooperation, even if it needs to be classified to mitigate the security risk.
- Simplify the White House visitor process for U.S. government employees attending NSC meetings. The current system for processing visitors into the White House is understandably complex, but USG employees attending NSC staff meetings should be able to be cleared and screened more efficiently than non-U.S. government visitors. Reforms to the White House visitor process could achieve significant time savings if senior officials no longer had to arrive up to an hour before each meeting. The next administration should immediately seek to improve the function and efficiency of the official visitor process.

- Announce an immediate initiative to modernize the USAJobs website. The government's online recruiting portal, USAJobs, is outdated and ineffective in recruiting top talent to U.S. government employment. A next administration should prioritize overhauling the application portal, making it a priority project for the U.S. Digital Service.
- Propose and support significant investments in State
 Department and USAID IT infrastructure. Outdated technology
 hampers modern, effective diplomatic capabilities. Modernizing
 the State Department and USAID's infrastructure will be essential
 to elevating these agencies' stature within the U.S. foreign policy
 decision-making process.
- Ensure Joint Worldwide Intelligence Communications
 System (JWICS) email access and Tandberg systems at every
 workstation for all cleared State Department personnel.
 One of the most consequential impediments to State Department
 leadership is its inability to easily and effectively access the IT
 systems in wide use by their defense and intelligence counterparts.
 The next administration should resolve this disparity by installing
 JWICS email access and Tandberg secure videoconferencing systems
 at the workstations of every cleared State Department official.



New executive orders or policies recommended in the first 100 days:

- Issue a presidential policy directive underscoring trust and integrity in our national security institutions.
- Create an executive order on improving diversity in the national security workforce.
- Task the secretary of state to develop a National Diplomacy Strategy.
- Create an executive order to reinstate reporting requirements on counterterrorism activities, increasing the transparency of U.S. operations.
- Issue a presidential policy directive to tighten the policy and legal boundaries for direct lethal action in U.S. counterterrorism operations.



Executive orders or policies recommended for recission or removal:

- Executive Order 13767: Used by the Trump administration to strengthen enforcement at the border, increase deportations, and build the border wall
- Executive Order 13782: Permits discrimination against LGBTQ employees by reversing the Obama administration's federal contracting regulations
- Executive Order 13919: Used by the Trump administration to send troops to the southern U.S. border
- Executive Orders 13933 and 13934: Deployed by the Trump administration to protect Confederate monuments and set new standards for monuments and statues

Endnotes

- 1 Eoin Higgins, "Limited Wars Are Forever Wars," Foreign Policy, July 17, 2019, available at https://foreignpolicy. com/2019/07/17/limited-wars-are-forever-wars/.
- 2 Mark Z. Barabak, "More U.S. deaths than World War 1: How does the COVID-19 toll compare with other deadly events?", The Los Angeles Times, May 1, 2020, available at https://www.latimes.com/world-nation/story/2020-05-01/ covid-19-death-toll-wars-disasters.
- 3 Office for Coastal Management, "Hurricane Costs," National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, available at https://coast.noaa.gov/states/fast-facts/hurricane-costs. html (last accessed September 2020).
- 4 Jeremi Suri, "The Long Rise and Sudden Fall of American Diplomacy," Foreign Policy, April 17, 2019, available at https://foreignpolicy.com/2019/04/17/the-long-rise-andsudden-fall-of-american-diplomacy/.
- 5 William D. Hartung and Mandy Smithberger, "America's Defense Budget Is Bigger Than You Think," The Nation, May 7, 2019, available at https://www.thenation.com/article/ archive/tom-dispatch-america-defense-budget-biggerthan-you-think/.
- 6 Loren DeJonge Schulman, "National Security Is Made of People," Defense One, November 7, 2019, available at https://www.defenseone.com/ideas/2019/11/nationalsecurity-made-people/161132/.
- 7 Dan Balz, "Crisis exposes how America has hollowed out its government," The Washington Post, May 16, 2020, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/graphics/2020/politics/government-hollowed-out-weaknesses/.
- 8 Evan Osnos, "Trump vs. the 'Deep State," The New Yorker, May 14, 2018, available at https://www.newyorker.com/ magazine/2018/05/21/trump-vs-the-deep-state.
- 9 Michael D. Shear and Maggie Haberman, "'Do Us a Favor': Call Shows Trump's Interest in Using U.S. Power for His Gain," The New York Times, September 25, 2019, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2019/09/25/us/politics/ukrainetranscript-trump.html.
- 10 Thomas Gibbons-Neff and others, "Former Commanders Fault Trump's Use of Troops Against Protestors," The New York Times, June 2, 2020, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2020/06/02/us/politics/military-national-guardtrump-protests.html.
- 11 Maggie Jo Buchanan, "Attorney General William Barr Is Willing to Destroy the Rule of Law for the Trump Administration," Center for American Progress, June 2, 2020, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/democracy/ news/2020/06/02/485702/attorney-general-william-barrwilling-destroy-rule-law-trump-administration/.
- 12 Matthew Callahan and Reuben Fischer-Baum, "Where the Trump administration is thwarting House oversight," The Washington Post, October 11, 2019, available at https:// www.washingtonpost.com/graphics/2019/politics/trumpblocking-congress/.
- 13 David E. Sanger and Charlie Savage, "Trump Takes Aim at a Watergate Reform: The Independent Inspector General," The New York Times, May 22, 2020, available at https:// www.nytimes.com/2020/05/22/us/politics/trump-inspectors-general.html.

- 14 Ronald Brownstein, "Trump's War On Expertise Is Only Intensifying," The Atlantic, November 21, 2019, available at https://www.theatlantic.com/politics/archive/2019/11/ trump-attack-vindman-yovanovitch-hill/602383/.
- 15 Colum Lynch and Robbie Gramer, "Trump Administration Targeted Career Diplomat, State Watchdog Says," Foreign Policy, November 14, 2019, available at https://foreignpolicy.com/2019/11/14/trump-state-department-targeted-career-diplomats-retaliation-reprisals-brian-hook-watchdog-
- 16 Uri Friedman, "Trump Thinks He's the Only One Who Can Fix North Korea," Foreign Policy, February 25, 2019, available at https://www.theatlantic.com/politics/ archive/2019/02/trump-undercuts-his-own-diplomatsnorth-korea/583471/.
- 17 Brett Bruen, "America's diplomatic core is being depleted under Trump, and that could cause serious problems for US foreign policy," Business Insider, February 18, 2020, available at https://www.businessinsider.com/decliningnumber-us-foreign-service-diplomats-trump-worryingamerica-security-2020-2.
- 18 Loren DeJonge Schulman, Alice Hunt Friend, and Mara E. Karlin, "Two Cheers for Esper's Plan to Reassert Civilian Control of the Pentagon," Defense One, September 9, 2019, available at https://www.defenseone.com/ideas/2019/09/ two-cheers-espers-plan-reassert-civilian-control-pentagon/159716/.
- 19 Jen Kirby, "Trump's purge of inspectors general, explained," Vox, May 28, 2020, available at https://www.vox. com/2020/5/28/21265799/inspectors-general-trump-
- 20 Barabak, "More U.S. deaths than World War 1."
- 21 Office for Coastal Management, "Hurricane Costs."
- 22 Schulman, "National Security Is Made of People."
- 23 Courtney Bublé, "Watchdog Finds, 'Uneven Progress' in State Department's Efforts to Improve Workforce Diversity," Government Executive, February 25, 2020, available at https://www.govexec.com/workforce/2020/02/watchdogfinds-uneven-progress-state-departments-effort-improveworkforce-diversity/163326/.
- 24 Ibid.
- 25 Bostock v. Clayton County, 50 U.S. __ (June 15, 2020), available at https://www.supremecourt.gov/ opinions/19pdf/17-1618_hfci.pdf.
- 26 Courtney Kube and Halimah Abdullah, "Pentagon Lifts Ban on Transgender Service Members Serving Openly," NBC News, June 30, 2016, available at https://www.nbcnews. com/feature/nbc-out/pentagon-lifts-ban-transgenderservice-members-serving-openly-n601816.
- 27 Executive Office of the President, "Presidential Executive Order on the Revocation of Federal Contracting Executive Orders," Press release, March 27, 2017, available at https:// www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/presidentialexecutive-order-revocation-federal-contracting-execu-

- 28 Executive Office of the President, "Executive Order on Combating Race and Sex Stereotyping," Press release, September 22, 2020, available at https://www.whitehouse. gov/presidential-actions/executive-order-combating-racesex-stereotyping/.
- 29 Executive Office of the President, "Executive Order 13933: Protecting American Monuments, Memorials, and Statues and Combating Recent Criminal Violence," Federal Register 85 (128) (2020): 40081-40084, available at https://www. federalregister.gov/documents/2020/07/02/2020-14509/ protecting-american-monuments-memorials-and-statuesand-combating-recent-criminal-violence; Executive Office of the President, "Executive Order 13934: Building and Rebuilding Monuments to American Heroes," Federal Register 85 (131) (2020): 41165-41168, available at https://www. federal register.gov/documents/2020/07/08/2020-14872/ building-and-rebuilding-monuments-to-american-heroes.
- 30 Executive Office of the President, "Executive Order 13934."
- 31 U.S. Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs, "A National Security Crisis: Foreign Language Capabilities in the Federal Government" (Washington: U.S. Government Publishing Office: 2012), available at https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CHRG-112shrg75214/html/CHRG-112shrg75214.htm.
- 32 Nahal Toosi, "Trump's plan to shrink NSC staff draws fire," Politico, November 11, 2019, available at https://www. politico.com/news/2019/11/11/trump-plan-shrink-nscstaff-069317.
- 33 Kelly Magsamen, "What Trump's Reshuffling of the National Security Council Means," The Atlantic, January 30, 2017, available at https://www.theatlantic.com/politics/ archive/2017/01/the-trump-national-security-council-ananalysis/514910/.
- 34 Peter Baker and others, "Trump Fires Impeachment Witness Gordon Sondland and Alexander Vindman in Post-Acquittal Purge," The New York Times, February 7, 2020, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2020/02/07/us/politics/ alexander-vindman-gordon-sondland-fired.html?action=cl ick&module=Latest&pgtype=Homepage.
- 35 Deb Reichmann, "Trump disbanded NSC pandemic unit that experts had praised," AP News, March 14, 2020, available at https://apnews.com/ce014d94b64e98b-7203b873e56f80e9a.
- 37 Global Firepower, "United States Military Strength (2020)," available at https://www.globalfirepower.com/countrymilitary-strength-detail.asp?country_id=united-states-ofamerica (last accessed September 2020).
- 38 Ilan Goldenberg, "The State Department Is Already Running on Fumes," Politico Magazine, February 28, 2017, available at https://www.politico.com/magazine/story/2017/02/state-department-diplomacy-budget-214841.
- 39 Task Force on a Unified Security Budget, "Rebalancing Our National Budget: The Benefits of Implementing a Unified Security Budget" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2012), available at https://www.americanprogress. org/issues/security/reports/2012/10/30/43074/rebalancing-our-national-security/.
- 40 Office of Management and Budget, "A Budget for America's Future" (Washington: 2020), available at, https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/budget_fy21.pdf.
- 41 Fareed Zakaria, "Trump is abusing America's foreign policy power," The Washington Post, March 29, 2018, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/trumpsis-abusing-americas-foreign-policy-power/2018/03/29/ c5172a06-338f-11e8-8abc-22a366b72f2d_story.html.

- 42 Michael Posner, "Trump Abandons the Human-Rights Agenda," The New Yorker, May 26, 2017, available at https:// www.newyorker.com/news/news-desk/trump-abandonsthe-human-rights-agenda.
- 43 Olivia Gazis, "Trump Administration has 'hollowed out' U.S. diplomacy former top U.S. envoy says," CBS News, March 13, 2019, available at https://www.cbsnews.com/news/ trump-administration-has-hollowed-out-u-s-diplomacyformer-top-u-s-envoy-says/.
- 44 Katherine Blakely and Lawrence J. Korb, "The War Chest: War Funding and the End of the War in Afghanistan" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2014), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/security/ reports/2014/10/16/99134/the-war-chest/.
- 45 Congressional Research Service, "DOD Security Cooperation: An Overview of Authorities and Issues" (Washington: 2016), available at https://www.everycrsreport.com/ files/20160823_R44602_e41f79489b9b3f8686a73d6ff65b-2dcb9b696ba2.pdf.
- 46 Office of Security Assistance, "Our Mission," U.S. Department of State, available at https://www.state.gov/bureaus-offices/ under-secretary-for-arms-control-and-internationalsecurity-affairs/bureau-of-political-military-affairs/office-ofsecurity-assistance/ (last accessed September 2020).
- 47 Julian E. Barnes, Matthew Rosenberg, and Edward Wong, "As Virus Spreads, China and Russia See Openings for Disinformation," The New York Times, March 28, 2020, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2020/03/28/us/politics/ china-russia-coronavirus-disinformation.html.
- 48 U.S. Department of State, "3 FAM 2130 Reemployment Under Section 308 of the Foreign Service Act," available at https://fam.state.gov/fam/03fam/03fam2130. html#:~:text=a.,of%20the%20Service%20so%20require (last accessed September 2020).
- 49 Office of Personnel Management, "Promotion and Internal Placement," Federal Register 84 (247) (2019): 70906-70908, available at https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2019-12-26/pdf/2019-27715.pdf.
- 50 Office of Personnel Management, "Excepted Service; Consolidated Listing of Schedules A, B, and C Exceptions," Federal Register 84 (138) (2019): 34412-34440, available at https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2019/07/18/2019-15247/excepted-service-consolidated-listing-of-schedules-a-b-and-c-exceptions.
- 51 U.S. House of Representatives, "Title 10, United States Code Armed Forces" (Washington: 2011), available at https:// www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/CPRT-112HPRT67342/pdf/ CPRT-112HPRT67342.pdf.
- 52 Leo Shane III, "Trump to boost deployments at U.S. southern border again," Military Times, April 10, 2019, available at https://www.militarytimes.com/news/pentagoncongress/2019/04/10/trump-again-looks-to-boost-troopdeployments-at-us-southern-border/.
- 53 Executive Office of the President, "Executive Order 13919: Ordering the Selected Reserve of the Armed Forces to Active Duty," Federal Register 85 (86) (2020): 26591-26592, available at https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2020/05/04/2020-09645/ordering-the-selectedreserve-of-the-armed-forces-to-active-duty.
- 54 Executive Office of the President, "Executive Order: Border Security and Immigration Enforcement Improvements," Press release, January 25, 2017, available at https://www. whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/executive-order-border-security-immigration-enforcement-improvements/.
- 55 Defense Logistics Agency, "1033 Program FAQ's," available at https://www.dla.mil/DispositionServices/Offers/Reutilization/LawEnforcement/ProgramFAQs.aspx (last accessed September 2020).

56 Ibid.

- 57 Domenico Montaro, "What Is The Insurrection Act That Trump Is Threatening To Invoke," NPR, June 1, 2020, available at https://www.npr.org/2020/06/01/867467714/ what-is-the-insurrection-act-that-trump-is-threatening-toinvoke.
- 58 Kelly Magsamen, "4 Ways Congress Can Amend the Insurrection Act," Center for American Progress, June 12, 2020, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ security/news/2020/06/12/486261/4-ways-congress-canamend-insurrection-act/.
- 59 A. Trevor Thrall and Caroline Dorminey, "Risky Business: The Role of Arms Sales in U.S. Foreign Policy," CATO Institute, March 13, 2018, available at https://www.cato.org/publications/policy-analysis/risky-business-role-arms-sales-usforeign-policy.

- 60 Catie Edmondson, "Lawmakers Begin Bipartisan Push to Cut Off Police Access to Military-Style Gear," The New York Times, June 1, 2020, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2020/06/01/us/politics/police-military-gear.html.
- 61 Council on Foreign Relations, "Excerpt: Foreign Policy Begins at Home," available at https://www.cfr.org/excerptforeign-policy-begins-home (last accessed September
- 62 John Halpin and others, "America Adrift: How the U.S. Foreign Policy Debate Misses What Voters Really Want" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/security/ reports/2019/05/05/469218/america-adrift/.



Living Our Democratic Values

Protecting human rights and upholding democratic values has been a perennial goal for presidents of both major political parties in the United States. Yet the current administration has abandoned our democratic allies and values by embracing authoritarian leaders, enabling corruption, and engaging in a transactional foreign policy. The next administration must take immediate steps to reverse harmful policies and halt human rights violations in U.S. domestic and foreign policy, demonstrating through words and deeds a renewed commitment to living our values.

Over successive administrations, the United States has strived—however imperfectly to uphold democratic values. Yet the current administration has actively undermined those values, damaging America's democratic institutions and attacking the very idea of universal human rights. President Donald Trump has coddled dictators and repudiated America's most reliable treaty allies.² In the process, his administration has hobbled America's ability to pursue its founding principles at home and abroad. Rebuilding America's support for democracy and respect for human rights will take serious time and energy, and the next administration must get started immediately in January 2021.

The damage that the next administration will need to repair is immense. It is hard to overestimate the harm that the current administration has inflicted. From daily attacks on the free press³ to intervening in Justice Department investigations⁴ to using the Oval Office to promote private business interests, 5 the Trump administration has assaulted fundamental norms that American presidents and leaders have long upheld. It has sought to disenfranchise voters and violate the basic human rights of minorities, women, immigrants, migrants, and LGBTQ individuals.⁶ The president has repeatedly fanned the flames of xenophobia and racism, and he has encouraged violence against people who were peacefully protesting against structural racism in America.8

At the same time, the current administration has pursued a transactional foreign policy bereft of values. This has severely weakened U.S. influence, undermined America's standing and credibility in the world, and hampered its capacity for doing good. Russian President Vladimir Putin intervened in the 2016 election to help Trump win,9 and later, Trump was impeached for attempting to extort Ukrainian President Volodymyr Zelensky to help him with his reelection campaign. 10 Trump has repeatedly praised and expressed an affinity for dictators—including Kim Jong Un, 11 Vladimir Putin, ¹² Abdel Fattah el-Sisi, ¹³ and Xi Jinping ¹⁴—while disparaging democratic allies. Moreover, Trump's administration has dismissed a wide range of international institutions and efforts designed to advance human rights, from withdrawing from the U.N. Human Rights Council¹⁵ to walking away from the Global Compact on Migration¹⁶ to bullying the International Criminal Court (ICC).¹⁷

This cumulative damage has only exacerbated the challenges faced by the United States and others around the world. Trump's rise to power is part of a broader wave of populism that swept across other countries. Meanwhile, authoritarian governments such as China, Russia, and Saudi Arabia have felt emboldened to assert their influence abroad and have increased their efforts to undermine democracies and liberal norms around the world. 18 As populist and authoritarian forces have grown, democracies have experienced setbacks.¹⁹ From Turkey to Hungary to Thailand, strongmen leaders have gutted democratic norms and institutions in countries that were once seen as ascendant democracies. While this downward trend existed before the Trump administration, it only accelerated once these backsliding democracies received a green light from the president of the United States.²⁰

Intensifying all of these challenges has been the inability of international institutions to adequately tackle the world's biggest challenges. From the coronavirus pandemic and climate change to the ongoing civil war in Syria and Russia's invasion of Ukraine, the U.N. Security Council and other international organizations, hamstrung by the loss of effective U.S. leadership, have been largely unable to forge solutions. While much of the fault lies with governments not empowering institutions and preventing them from acting, the failure of 20th century international institutions to effectively tackle the world's biggest problems, regardless of the reasons, has further sapped confidence in them.

While the longer-term consequences of the coronavirus pandemic remain unclear, authoritarian governments are already attempting to take advantage of the absence of U.S. leadership. China is trying to act like a leader in responding to the crisis through propaganda abroad and censorship at home.²¹ Russia and China are both aggressively advancing disinformation meant to undermine democratic governments.²² And leaders in dozens of countries are taking advantage of the crisis to tighten their grip on power.²³ Meanwhile, even in more advanced democracies—including the United States—minorities are under siege and people are continuing to lose faith in the ability of governments to solve today's biggest problems.²⁴ If democratic leaders do not get their acts together in tackling the pandemic, this global health crisis could also become a global democracy crisis.

It is as important as ever to remember why it is in America's interests that other countries uphold human rights and protect democratic institutions. Democracies are more likely to grow their economies sustainably over time, less likely to fight wars with one another, and more likely to protect human rights.²⁵ A world with more democracies is a safer, more just, and more prosperous world.

In its first 100 days, the next administration—whether under a President Donald Trump or a President Joe Biden—should therefore prioritize the following efforts to put the United States on a path to living its values at home and abroad:

- 1. Strengthen American democracy and protect human rights at home.
- 2. Defend our democracy from foreign interference.
- 3. Put democratic values and human rights at the center of U.S. foreign policy.
- 4. Leverage democratic allies and partners.
- 5. Tackle corruption around the world.

The recommendations that follow provide a range of options for advancing these efforts.

Strengthen American democracy and protect human rights at home

Structural problems with America's democracy have taken a steep toll in recent years, from police brutality, racism, and inequality to criminal justice practices to perceived and actual voter suppression—all of which undermine confidence in the fairness and justice of democratic institutions. Persistent and worsening political polarization has ground congressional cooperation to a halt and prevented even overwhelmingly popular legislation from passing. Americans are right to wonder whether their government can serve their interests. According to public polling, Americans' satisfaction in their style of government is at a record low, rising from less than 1 in 4 dissatisfied citizens in 1995 to more than half of the country today.²⁶

The next administration must be prepared to demonstrate to Americans that the government can once again work for them, beginning by launching an ambitious effort to strengthen democracy and human rights at home. It must pursue bold policies designed to address structural problems such as police brutality, racism, and inequality. It must take steps to make it easier for citizens to vote and clean up both legal and illegal corruption that drowns out the interests of ordinary Americans. And it must put forward a leadership team that reflects America in all its diversity and engages all citizens in tackling long unresolved injustice and achieving the nation's full potential.

Restoring confidence in U.S. democracy is inextricably linked with efforts to strengthen and restore America's role in the world. Structural racism and systemic police brutality, which were at the root of the mass protests that erupted in 2020 in response to the murder of George Floyd, not only violate people's human rights but also create weaknesses and divisions in democracy that can be exploited.²⁷ These violations are made worse when they are sanctioned by U.S. leaders, as they were when President Trump violently dispersed peaceful protesters in front of the White House who were exercising their right to freedom of speech. In recent years, this administration has also punished, rather than protected, those seeking safety from persecution, separating families in an ill-advised campaign to deter migrants from America's southern border and denying them lawful asylum. Closing America's doors to those seeking to flee persecution and poverty erodes the model that America has long striven to be.

Strengthening American democracy and respecting human rights at home will require reversing many of the current administration's policies and forging new large-scale initiatives to address the human rights violations that weaken American democracy. The United States must improve its own record on human rights if it intends to be a global leader—and it should want to do so. Democracies that respect human rights lead to a safer, more prosperous world. The next administration must therefore refine its focus on protecting the homeland to more fully account for the broader needs of human security, such as child care, health care, work, and education—which the coronavirus pandemic has demonstrated are essential to the nation's broader health and security.



QUICK WIN: Use the president's first address to Congress in January to call for strengthening democracy at home and defending democratic values abroad. The next administration will need to address the deep challenges it faces as a result of systemic racism, an economic downturn, and an ongoing global pandemic. The first speech before Congress will provide an ideal opportunity to make a powerful connection between what it will take to strengthen the union and improve America's global position in a more competitive world, where democracy is receding and authoritarianism is on the rise.

 Take action in the first 100 days to tackle multiple overlapping crises and challenges to U.S. democracy at home. Challenges such as the COVID-19 pandemic, a hard-hit economy, economic inequality and other systemic inequities, the climate crisis, and dangerous attacks to the U.S. democratic system by elected leaders all pose a threat to the stability of the United States. Early presidential and legislative initiatives on these issues in the first 100 days will reassure U.S. allies and partners and improve America's credibility abroad.



QUICK WIN: Immediately change existing U.S. policies that violate human rights. The next administration will need to demonstrate in actions and words a real commitment to protecting and promoting human rights at home, including by reversing problematic policies of the current administration. The Center for American Progress has written extensively on many of these topics, such as the need to end the domestic gag rule;²⁸ rescind the illegal "Muslim travel ban" restrictions (executive orders 13769 and 13780);²⁹ halt family separation and other abusive tactics at U.S. borders and end attacks on asylum-seekers, including Executive Order 13841;³⁰ and restore protections for LGBTQ patients in health care settings.³¹

Defend our democracy from foreign interference

Foreign interference in U.S. elections continues to be a serious threat to the integrity of America's democratic process.³² In attacking elections, America's adversaries are seeking to diminish the confidence of U.S. citizens in the processes that are at the very core of U.S. democracy. In 2016, election interference was not only tolerated but also invited by then-candidate Trump.³³ In 2020, any election interference by foreign actors should be met with a decisive response.

The next administration should draw a sharp contrast between the passive response to election interference in 2016 and an active response to any interference in 2020. Doing so will require the next administration to be prepared not only to investigate any foreign interference but also to advise the public about it and respond. Careful plans and principled frameworks for publicly disclosing foreign interference efforts and deterring future actions should be developed in advance to aid decision-making. Above all, the next administration should stay laser-focused on restoring Americans' faith in the electoral process.



QUICK WIN: Convene the National Security Council (NSC) to address foreign interference. Pursuant to Executive Order 13848, the director of national intelligence will need to offer an assessment on foreign interference within 45 days of the election.³⁴ The president should convene the National Security Council—possibly as the first NSC meeting—to consider intelligence and response options for any interference that the Office of the Director of National Intelligence (ODNI) identifies.



QUICK WIN: Issue a declaratory statement on foreign interference and outline consequences for it. The next administration should issue an early statement that condemns any foreign interference in U.S. elections and explains that the administration will treat it as an adversarial act that significantly affects the relationship between the United States and the interfering nation's government. The statement should outline how the administration will leverage all appropriate instruments of national power to impose substantial and lasting costs on state perpetrators.



QUICK WIN: Express support for bipartisan legislation on election interference. Smart, bipartisan bills that would strengthen deterrence and provide funds to prevent election interference have languished in Congress.³⁵ The next administration should express sup-

port for bipartisan legislation on election interference and tell the next Congress to pass these bills and send them to the president for signature.

- Announce a regulatory agenda to address the harms created by new technologies and large technology companies. In the first 100 days, the next administration should develop a broad domestic agenda to address and regulate the harms created by new technologies and large technology companies, with a focus on privacy, disinformation, competition, and new regulatory models. This new domestic technology agenda should be developed in conjunction with a new international agenda in order to ensure an aligned approach to technology at home and abroad.
- Implement National Defense Authorization Act (NDAA) provisions to: 1) create a counter-malign influence center at ODNI; 2) create a social media data center; and 3) appoint a counter-foreign interference coordinator. These provisions represent a significant step toward addressing key vulnerabilities in U.S. democracy and countering interference from an increasing number of state actors. The next administration should take immediate steps to implement these efforts as part of broader efforts to prevent and deter future election interference.
- Establish a clear mission for the Global Engagement Center and mobilize it for action. While the Global Engagement Center has had a rocky start, it still has great potential to lead U.S. interagency efforts to proactively address foreign adversaries' attempts to use disinformation and propaganda to undermine U.S. democracy and interests.³⁶ Poor leadership and high turnover have hampered the effectiveness of this promising center. The next administration should establish a clear mission for the Global Engagement Center and mobilize it to focus not only on identifying foreign interference but also on coordinating efforts to expose adversarial false narratives publicly, helping Americans and other audiences understand the need to be vigilant about the threat of disinformation.
- · Convene a high-level meeting with tech companies on ways to enhance cooperation while protecting privacy and free speech. Technology companies clearly play an important role in today's political environment. The next administration should convene an early meeting with relevant companies to discuss opportunities to enhance cooperation and protect privacy and free speech. This meeting could be timed to coincide with the opening of ODNI's Social Media Data and Threat Analysis Center established by the 2020 NDAA.

• Announce a public-private partnership on digital literacy and civic education. Simple policy solutions that would increase digital literacy and civic education among the American population could help weaken attempts by U.S. adversaries to sow discord in U.S. democracy.³⁷ The administration should announce a public-private partnership to kick-start these programs, with the goal of increasing awareness of gaps in digital media literacy and protecting future elections.

Put democratic values and human rights at the center of U.S. foreign policy

As the next administration works to address challenges to democracy at home, it will also need to dramatically reset its approach abroad. Past debates on U.S. foreign policy have centered on a false competition between values and interests, but they are mutually reinforcing. Indeed, democratic values should be a primary driver of U.S. national security strategy in a century that could largely be defined by a contest between democratic and authoritarian systems.

Unfortunately, the current administration has failed to grasp the competitive power of American values. Instead, the Trump administration has cozied up to dictators and autocrats and pursued purely transactional relationships with America's democratic allies.³⁸ Moreover, it has questioned the very idea of universal human rights³⁹ and abandoned vulnerable groups while they were under threat.⁴⁰ The Trump administration has walked away from multilateral forums such as the U.N. Human Rights Council,⁴¹ all while gutting funding for global health, development, and human rights bodies that sought to help vulnerable communities.⁴²

Putting democratic values and human rights back at the center of U.S. foreign policy should not be confused with discredited notions of regime change or of America seeking to reshape the world in its image. Humility will be essential to a renewed U.S. approach. In fact, it will be important to acknowledge that while the United States can still serve as an important catalyst for action, other allies and partners may be able to more effectively lead on many of these issues.

In the first 100 days of the next administration, there are some key steps that can be taken to center U.S. foreign policy around democratic values in order to secure a more democratic and just world.⁴³



QUICK WIN: Use the occasion of Human Rights Day on December 10, 2020, to issue a statement to signal a new approach to human rights. This statement from the president or president-elect should include an affirmation of the U.S. commitment to international organizations and agreements that promote human rights, including an announcement of intent to rejoin the U.N. Human Rights Council, sign the migration and refugee compacts, reengage with the U.N. LGBTI Core Group⁴⁴ and the Equal Rights Coalition,⁴⁵ and bring U.S. advocacy in line with promoting these rights in all international forums.

 Prioritize defending democracy as a vital national interest in the next administration's **National Security Strategy.** The National Security Strategy (NSS) is the key mechanism for outlining the president's top national security priorities. The next administration should prioritize defending democracy and pushing back on authoritarian competitors as a vital national interest and a strategic priority worthy of serious effort and investment. Doing so will signal a strategic shift from the 2017 NSS, which did not prioritize defending democracy, and will send a strong message to the American people, to Congress, and to foreign constituencies.



QUICK WIN: Disavow the approach outlined by the final report of the State Department's Commission on Unalienable Rights. Secretary of State Mike Pompeo used the commission's report to wrongly suggest that prioritizing certain human rights, namely freedom of religion and property rights, over others is "desirable" in U.S. foreign policy. 46 This is a profound and dangerous misunderstanding of the interconnected nature of universal human rights and their role in U.S. foreign policy. The next administration should disavow Pompeo's current approach, emphasize that it is not intended to guide future U.S. policy, and reaffirm the commitment of the United States to the interconnected and interrelated understanding of universal human rights. The next administration should also review and consider rescinding Executive Order 13926, which calls for the State Department and the U.S. Agency for International Development to prioritize international religious freedom in diplomacy and programming.⁴⁷

• Take immediate action to support the forcibly displaced. Worldwide, some 79 million people are currently displaced because of conflict or persecution—marking the highest total since World War II.⁴⁸ Rather than lead the world in responding to this need, President Trump has used statutory authority to unilaterally ban broad categories of people from entering the United States, targeting individuals from Muslim-majority countries, 49 asylum-seekers, 50 large classes of immigrants and nonimmigrants, 51 and others. Each year, the Trump administration has also allowed fewer and fewer refugees to be admitted into the United States by setting record-low targets in the annual presidential determination process.⁵² Addressing the worst refugee crisis of this century will require a comprehensive response that extends well beyond the first 100 days; however, to signal an immediate policy shift, the next administration should take the following actions:



QUICK WIN: Sign the migration and refugee compacts. Although the Trump administration has not done so, 180 countries signed the agreement on migration and 181 countries signed the agreement on refugees, pledging to support efforts to reduce the causes of migration and reaffirming the rights of asylum-seekers.⁵³ Signing these compacts would send an important signal that the United States intends to support international efforts to protect the forcibly displaced during a time of unprecedented global need.

- · Rescind entry bans and revise Section 212(f) of the Immigration and Nationality **Act.** The president should rescind existing entry bans imposed by presidential proclamation and work with Congress to rewrite Section 212(f) of the Immigration and Nationality Act—8 U.S.C. 1182(f)—to provide important substantive, procedural, and temporal checks against future presidential abuses such as those contained in the National Origin-Based Antidiscrimination for Nonimmigrants (NO BAN) Act. 54
- Protect and promote women's rights. The next administration must prioritize women's health and rights at home and abroad, including by rolling back the current administration's attacks on reproductive health and committing the United States to fully protect and uphold sexual and reproductive health and rights—such as abortion, contraception, and breastfeeding—in international treaties and documents, funding, and policy statements.



QUICK WIN: End the Global Gag Rule (also known as the Mexico City policy). This rule restricts U.S. global health funding from organizations who work on reproductive rights.⁵⁵ The Trump administration adopted an expansive Global Gag Rule that covered all U.S. health funds, affecting billions in foreign aid and preventing millions of women and families from accessing critical health services. The next administration should stand up for women's health and rights by rescinding the rule. Moreover, it should support the Global Health, Empowerment, and Rights (HER) Act, which would permanently ban the Global Gag Rule.



QUICK WIN: Clarify the Siljander Amendment. The administration should issue a presidential memorandum or executive order clarifying the Siljander Amendment (1981) and defining what qualifies as lobbying for or against abortion. ⁵⁶ The amendment can bar U.S. foreign aid from any activity that could be constituted as lobbying. The executive order should clarify that interpretation should be extremely narrow in order to allow for greater access to abortion and reproductive health across all U.S. assistance.

 Support and defend democratic voices. The United States should work together with international partners to strengthen international norms regarding the rights of citizens to mobilize peacefully for greater human rights and engage in nonviolent protest against their respective governments. Specifically, the next administration should 1) include in its first budget a request that Congress expand funding for the National Endowment for Democracy, the National Democratic Institute, and the International Republican Institute, all of which invest in and work to strengthen democracy worldwide; and 2) work with international partners to launch an effort to develop principles for supporting peaceful protest movements, which would include efforts to deter and punish states that violently crack down on their own people.



QUICK WIN: Encourage the secretary of state to meet with civil society nongovernmental organizations on all trips. Civil society is under threat in countries around the world, from autocracies to backsliding democracies.⁵⁷ In addition to providing robust assistance to civil society organizations abroad, the next administration should immediately announce a commitment that all senior officials—including the president, vice president, and secretary of state—will meet with civil society organizations and representatives on foreign trips, whenever possible. This would send an important signal that the United States supports civil society everywhere and that America's relationships with the people of each country are just as important as its relationships with the governments.



QUICK WIN: Lift sanctions on the International Criminal Court. While the United States has always had a fraught relationship with the ICC, the Trump administration has treated the court like an enemy, authorizing sanctions against ICC personnel involved in cases against Americans.⁵⁸ As a first step toward engaging constructively with the ICC, the next administration should immediately revoke Executive Order 13928.59

Build a stronger bureaucratic infrastructure to elevate democracy and human rights concerns across the government. To elevate the importance of democracy and human rights in U.S. foreign policy, the next administration will need to establish a strong infrastructure to ensure that these issues remain elevated in the interagency policy process.



QUICK WIN: Reestablish a democracy and human rights directorate within the NSC staff. The next administration should restore the directorate on democracy, human rights, and development in the National Security Council. The NSC staffs of the Obama, Bush, and Clinton administrations had directorates explicitly tasked to cover human rights and democracy to ensure that they remained a focus at the White House. This directorate should cover a broad mandate including human rights, democracy, development, and foreign assistance issues.



QUICK WIN: Make the assistant secretary for democracy, human rights, and labor an

early appointment. After Cabinet-level positions are announced, the next administration should quickly announce the nominee for assistant secretary of the Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights, and Labor. Announcing this position immediately would signify the importance of human rights in U.S. foreign policy. President Trump did not announce a nominee for the office until June 2019, 2 1/2 years into his administration.

Leverage democratic allies and partners

The president must immediately begin working closely with democratic allies and partners. Whether with treaty allies in Europe and Asia, democracies in Africa and Latin America, or multilateral organizations such as the Community of Democracies, the more the United States engages with its democratic friends around the world including by showing tough love when these countries or organizations fall short of upholding democratic principles—the more effective the United States will be in ensuring that it addresses global challenges in ways that uphold core values.

The Trump administration has abandoned one of America's strongest assets in foreign policy: its democratic allies. From criticizing these allies⁶⁰ to shunning multilateralism,⁶¹ the current administration has unilaterally undermined America's ability to pursue foreign policy goals alongside the world's most capable partners. The next U.S. president will need democratic allies, whether to respond to the global economic devastation of the pandemic or to confront China's destabilizing behavior.

The next administration will have to move quickly. Some actions in its first 100 days must aim to prove to democratic allies that America will once again respect its partnerships with democracies, whether by prioritizing democracies in meetings and travel, reaching out to them to chart new directions on key issues, or just saying the right things in speeches.

The president will also have to move quickly to establish new patterns of cooperation with democracies in order to adapt to a world that is rapidly changing. As populism erodes democratic institutions and norms toward majoritarianism and as authoritarians push their influence abroad, America must pursue a new level of cooperation with the world's democracies with the goal of both bolstering the strength of individual democratic systems and strengthening alignment among democracies on key global challenges.

In addition, the next administration will have to look for new ways to strengthen America's capacity to help its democratic allies by working with Congress to prioritize foreign assistance and other support to democracies.

- Host a global summit of democracies. In the first 100 days, the president should announce that the United States will convene a first summit of democracies in 2021 to signal solidarity with the world's democracies and the key role that the United States intends to play in prioritizing its relationships with democracies. The Community of Democracies can provide the main vehicle through which to organize this summit, which will have the added effect of bolstering a key institution for democracies to coordinate and address key challenges. 62 Civil society organizations from around the world—which participate in the Community of Democracies processes—should be invited to join this summit. The agenda for this first meeting should be focused on protecting democratic elections and systems from outside influence, sharing lessons learned, and developing common policy ideas to prevent future interference. To avoid giving elected authoritarians a free pass, it may also be worth considering excluding democratic countries, such as Hungary and Poland, that are slipping with respect to protection of minorities, judicial independence, or press freedom.
- Launch a Democratic Strategic Advantage Initiative. The president should announce his intention to create a Democratic Strategic Advantage Initiative to prioritize and organize U.S. foreign assistance to support democracies, and he should include the proposal in the next budget. This initiative would authorize the U.S. government to amplify and better synchronize U.S. economic and security assistance and commercial investment packages. For example, in addition to increased economic assistance, the United States should coordinate its current tools for security assistance—from arms sales or grants to military training to technology transfers in order to give democracies a strategic edge over authoritarian adversaries. And in addition to supporting democracies with packages that include all relevant tools of U.S. statecraft, the administration should request that Congress include as part of the initiative a separate set of foreign assistance funds for democracies—like Congress does for the Millennium Challenge Corporation—in part to resist the need for trade-offs in the budget process with assistance to other, nondemocratic countries. While it will take time to work with Congress and relevant agencies to establish the details, the administration should begin that process immediately and signal that the United States will prioritize countries that are transitioning to democracy—or have recently done so—for special support from the United States.

- Prioritize principal-level trips to democracies. The president, vice president, and secretary of state should make their first trips of 2021 to democratic allies. This will send the right message about the values and partners that the next administration prioritizes.
 - Prioritize early engagement with Mexico, Canada, and Europe. Traditionally, a president's first meeting with a foreign leader in Washington, D.C., is with the leader of Mexico, and the first foreign trip is to Canada. The next president or presidentelect should flip this script, underscoring the importance of America's partnerships with its closest neighbors by hosting the Canadian leader in D.C. and taking a daytrip to meet with his Mexican counterpart before inauguration if possible to do so safely with COVID-19 restrictions. Post-inauguration, the president's first international trip should be to Europe, and in the first 100 days pending public health guidelines, the president should announce that he will attend the annual East Asia and Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation summits in the fall.
 - The Cabinet should prioritize engagement with democracies in the first 100 days. To emphasize the importance of America's democratic alliances, the vice president and secretary of state should take trips to Asia and Europe in the first 100 days, with one going to each region. Specific recommendations can be found in a later section of this report on "Recalibrating U.S. Global Relationships."

Tackle corruption around the world

For more than four decades, the United States has been perhaps the most prominent advocate for and enforcer of anti-corruption norms and transparency standards in the international system. Under the current administration, however, the United States has ceded its leadership position and moral authority in the global fight against graft.⁶³ Since the beginning, the Trump administration has slashed funding for vital anti-corruption programs, 64 rolled back key regulations and initiatives related to political and corporate transparency,65 and allowed governments in places such as Guatemala and Honduras to quash popular anti-corruption initiatives in the name of security cooperation. 66 Most egregiously, the president sought to extort the leader of Ukraine—a country that has long struggled with entrenched corruption—into conducting a politicized investigation into former Vice President Joe Biden, in effect exporting his own corruption to a vulnerable geopolitical partner.⁶⁷ New revelations suggest that the president also appealed to Chinese President Xi for trade concessions to advance his personal political agenda. 68 All of this has occurred against the backdrop of the president's unprecedented use of his official position to enrich himself, his family, and his friends.

To reverse this damage to the global fight against graft, the next administration will need to act decisively and innovatively to make anti-corruption a major foreign policy priority, one that draws on the full suite of U.S. capabilities—diplomacy, foreign assistance, financial regulation, intelligence, and law enforcement—in order to meet the myriad threats that corruption poses to U.S. interests at home and abroad.

• Champion new anti-corruption legislation. The United States should act forcefully to clean up its own act and ensure that American entities and assets do not become a sink for the proceeds of foreign corruption. To that end, the next administration should push new anti-corruption legislation that creates a federal beneficial ownership registry, requires more detailed reporting of cross-border transactions, extends the federal bribery statute to foreign officials who receive bribes from U.S. persons and firms, and closes gaps in the Bank Secrecy Act and related anti-money laundering legislation that exempt certain transactions, such as real estate, from scrutiny.⁶⁹

Importantly, the next administration should also strongly advocate for legislation to ban political spending by U.S. corporations that have an appreciable amount of foreign ownership and/or control, as detailed in a prior CAP publication.⁷⁰

- **Stand up an interagency task force on corruption.** The next administration should stand up an interagency task force on corruption within the first 100 days, co-led by the U.S. departments of State and Treasury, and task it to 1) assess how corruption by authoritarian competitors is being used to undermine U.S. interests and subvert democracy; and 2) develop a strategy to combat those activities. This global anticorruption strategy should:
 - Use U.S. financial power to promote global transparency. Signal a more aggressive use of the "special measures" of Section 311 of the Patriot Act to target jurisdictions and entities that serve as major centers of illicit finance despite being formally compliant with global anti-money laundering standards⁷¹ and expand use of the Global Magnitsky Act to sanction corrupt actors in alignment with broader, strategic anti-corruption objectives.⁷²
 - Create a rapid-response action fund for anti-corruption. U.S. foreign assistance related to anti-corruption is both too small and too inflexible to meet the rapidly evolving threats that corruption poses to global peace and security. To that end, the next administration should work with Congress to create a rapid-response action fund to support overseas anti-corruption efforts, either by passing the Countering Russian and Other Overseas Kleptocracy (CROOK) Act currently before Congress or through stand-alone legislation.⁷³



QUICK WIN: Establish an anti-corruption coordinator at the State Department. This office could be modeled after the sanctions coordination office under the Obama administration, led by a senior ambassador-level coordinator. The office would be charged with coordinating and advancing U.S. anti-corruption policies as well as working with allies and partners around the world.

Conclusion

Living our democratic values at home and abroad is crucial to demonstrating movement toward a more progressive national security. In order to signal a meaningful shift in U.S. foreign policy, the next administration should use its first 100 days to restore human rights protections, rebuild democratic norms, and root out corruption.



New executive orders or policies recommended in the first 100 days:

- Issue a declaratory statement on foreign interference and outline consequences for it.
- Revise Section 212(f) of the Immigration and Nationality Act to prohibit discrimination in immigration and entry into the United States.
- Clarify the Siljander Amendment (1981) to narrowly interpret what qualifies as lobbying for or against abortion.
- Launch a Democratic Strategic Advantage Initiative to prioritize and organize U.S. foreign assistance to support democracies.



Executive orders or policies recommended $\langle \hat{|} \rangle$ for recission or removal:

- Executive Orders 13769 and 13780: Impose illegal "Muslim travel ban" restrictions
- Executive Order 13841: Justifies the separation of families in immigration detention
- Executive Order 13926: Prioritizes religious freedom in diplomacy and foreign assistance programming
- Executive Order 13928: Imposes sanctions on the International Criminal Court
- · Global Gag Rule (also known as the Mexico City policy): Restricts reproductive rights in U.S. foreign assistance

Endnotes

- 1 Alexandra Schmitt, "President Trump's Alarming Human Rights Agenda at Home and Abroad" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/security/ reports/2019/12/10/478458/president-trumps-alarminghuman-rights-agenda-home-abroad/.
- 2 Chris Cillizza and Brenna Williams, "15 times Donald Trump praised authoritarian rulers," CNN, July 2, 2019, available at https://www.cnn.com/2019/07/02/politics/donaldtrump-dictators-kim-jong-un-vladimir-putin/index.html; Tal Axelrod, "Here are the US allies that have been caught in Trump's crosshairs," The Hill, August 24, 2019, available at https://thehill.com/policy/international/458455-here-arethe-us-allies-that-have-been-in-trumps-crosshairs.
- 3 Pete Cobus, "Trump Attacks on Press Effective, New Study Finds," Voice of America, April 17, 2020, available at https:// www.voanews.com/press-freedom/trump-attacks-presseffective-new-study-finds.
- 4 Noah Bierman and Del Quentin Wilber, "Trump claims 'legal right' to intervene in Justice Department cases," Los Angeles Times, February 14, 2020, available at https://www.latimes. com/politics/story/2020-02-14/trump-claims-legal-rightto-intervene-in-justice-department-cases.
- 5 Reuters, "Trump Tweets Promo for His LA Golf Course as U.S. Death Toll Passed 80,000; Pence Not in Quarantine," Haaretz, May 12, 2020, available at https://www.haaretz. com/science-and-health/trump-tweets-promo-for-his-lagolf-course-as-u-s-death-toll-passes-80-000-1.8837932.
- 6 Jelani Cobb, "Voter-Suppression Tactics in the Age of Trump," The New Yorker, October 21, 2018, available at https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2018/10/29/votersuppression-tactics-in-the-age-of-trump.
- 7 Jordyn Phelps, "Trump defends 2017 'very fine people' comments, calls Robert E. Lee 'a great general," ABC News, April 26, 2019, available at https://abcnews.go.com/ Politics/trump-defends-2017-fine-people-comments-callsrobert/story?id=62653478.
- 8 Michael Wines, "Looting' Comment from Trump Dates Back to Racial Unrest of the 1960s," The New York Times, May 29, 2020, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/29/ us/looting-starts-shooting-starts.html.
- 9 Martin Matishak and Andrew Desiderio, "Senate Intel report confirms Russia aimed to help Trump in 2016," Politico, April 21, 2020, available at https://www.politico.com/ news/2020/04/21/senate-intel-report-confirms-russiaaimed-to-help-trump-in-2016-198171.
- 10 Kyle Cheney, Andrew Desiderio, John Bresnahan, "Trump acquitted on impeachment charges, ending gravest threat to his presidency," Politico, February 5, 2020, available at https://www.politico.com/news/2020/02/05/trumpimpeachment-vote-110805.
- 11 Philip Rucker and Josh Dawsey, "'We fell in love': Trump and Kim shower praise, stroke egos on path to nuclear negotiations," The Washington Post, February 25, 2019, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/ we-fell-in-love-trump-and-kim-shower-praise-stroke-egoson-path-to-nuclear-negotiations/2019/02/24/46875188-3777-11e9-854a-7a14d7fec96a_story.html.
- 12 Chris Cillizza, "Donald Trump just can't stop saying nice things about Vladimir Putin," CNN, July 16, 2018, available at https://www.cnn.com/2018/07/16/politics/donaldtrump-vladimir-putin-summit/index.html.

- 13 Jeff Mason and Roberta Rampton, "Trump praises Egypt's Sisi despite concerns about human rights, Russian arms," Reuters, April 9, 2019, available at https://www.reuters. com/article/us-usa-egypt/trump-praises-egypts-sisidespite-concerns-about-human-rights-russian-armsidUSKCN1RL27S.
- 14 David Shepardson, "Trump praises Chinese president extending tenure 'for life'," Reuters, March 3, 2018, available at https://www.reuters.com/article/us-trump-china/ trump-praises-chinese-president-extending-tenure-forlife-idUSKCN1GG015.
- 15 Colin Dwyer, "U.S. Announces Its Withdrawal From UN Human Rights Council," NPR, June 19, 2018, available at https://www.npr.org/2018/06/19/621435225/u-s-announces-its-with drawal-from-u-n-s-human-rights-council.
- 16 Patrick Wintour, "Donald Trump pulls US out of UN global compact on migration," The Guardian, December 3, 2017, available at https://www.theguardian.com/world/2017/ dec/03/donald-trump-pulls-us-out-of-un-global-compacton-migration.
- 17 Jennifer Hansler, "Trump authorizes sanctions against International Criminal Court officials," CNN, June 14, 2020, available at https://www.cnn.com/2020/06/11/politics/iccexecutive-order/index.html.
- 18 Associated Press and Bloomberg, "Stronger, unchallenged, emboldened: what to expect from Vladimir Putin after his crushing election win in Russia," South China Morning Post, March 19, 2018, available at https://www.scmp.com/ news/world/russia-central-asia/article/2137854/strongerunchallenged-emboldened-what-expect-putin.
- 19 Laura Rosenberger, "Authoritarian Advantage: How Authoritarian Regimes Upended Assumptions about Democratic Expansion,"The German Marshall Fund of the United States, September 13, 2019, available at https:// www.gmfus.org/publications/authoritarian-advancehow-authoritarian-regimes-upended-assumptions-aboutdemocratic.
- 20 Sarah Repucci, "A Leaderless Struggle for Democracy" (Washington: Freedom House, 2020), available at https:// freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-world/2020/leaderlessstruggle-democracy.
- 21 Annabelle Timsit, "A Chinese propaganda video mocks America's response to the coronavirus crisis," Quartz, May 2, 2020, available at https://qz.com/1850097/chinesepropaganda-video-mocks-us-response-to-coronaviruscrisis/; Paul Mozur, "China Post-Coronavirus: Signs of Life, Censorship and Paranoia," The New York Times, April 16, 2020, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2020/04/16/ business/china-coronavirus-censorship.html.
- 22 Deutsche Welle, "EU says China, Russia behind coronavirus 'disinformation campaigns," June 10, 2020, available at https://www.dw.com/en/eu-says-china-russia-behindcoronavirus-disinformation-campaigns/a-53762806.
- 23 International Center for Not-for-Profit Law, "COVID-19 Civic Freedom Tracker," available at https://www.icnl.org/ covid19tracker/ (last accessed September 2020).
- 24 Anna Purna Kambhampaty, "I Will Not Stand Silent.' 10 Asian Americans Reflect on Racism During the Pandemic and the Need for Equality," Time, June 25, 2020, available at https://time.com/5858649/racism-coronavirus/.

- 25 Pete Dizikes, "Study: Democracy fosters economic growth," MIT News, March 7, 2019, available at http://news.mit. edu/2019/study-democracy-fosters-economic-growthacemoglu-0307; Dan Reiter, "Democratic Peace Theory," Oxford Bibliographies, October 25, 2012, available at https://www.oxfordbibliographies.com/view/document/ obo-9780199756223/obo-9780199756223-0014.xml.
- 26 Yascha Mounk and Roberto Stefan Foa, "This Is How Democracy Dies," The Atlantic, January 29, 2020, available at https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/archive/2020/01/ confidence-democracy-lowest-point-record/605686/.
- 27 CNN, "Protests across the globe after George Floyd's death," June 13, 2020, available at https://www.cnn. com/2020/06/06/world/gallery/intl-george-floyd-protests/ index.html.
- 28 Osub Ahmed, "What the Domestic Gag Rule Means for Title X Providers," Center for American Progress, July 20, 2018, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ women/news/2018/07/20/453831/domestic-gag-rulemeans-title-x-providers/.
- 29 CAP Immigration Team, "Expansion of Trump's Illegal Muslim Ban Demonstrates Policy Guided by Personal Prejudice," Center for American Progress, January 31, 2020, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/drumbeats/ expansion-trumps-illegal-muslim-ban-demonstratespolicy-guided-personal-prejudice/; Executive Office of the President, "Executive Order 13769: Executive Order Protecting the Nation from Foreign Terrorist Entry into the United States," Press release, January 27, 2017, available at https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/ executive-order-protecting-nation-foreign-terrorist-entryunited-states/; Executive Office of the President, "Executive Order 13769: Protecting the Nation from Foreign Terrorist Entry Into the United States," Federal Register 82 (20) (2017): 8977-8982, available at https://www.federalregister.gov/ documents/2017/02/01/2017-02281/protecting-the-nationfrom-foreign-terrorist-entry-into-the-united-states.
- 30 Tom Jawetz, "Restoring the Rule of Law Through a Fair, Humane, and Workable Immigration System" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/immigration/ reports/2019/07/22/472378/restoring-rule-law-fairhumane-workable-immigration-system/. Executive Office of the President, "Executive Order 13841: Affording Congress an Opportunity To Address Family Separation," Federal Register 83 (122) (2018): 29435-29436, available at https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2018/06/25/2018-13696/affording-congress-anopportunity-to-address-family-separation.
- 31 Sharita Gruberg, "Attack on the ACA: Undermining Protections for LGBTQ Patients and Language Accessibility Requirements" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress. org/issues/lgbtq-rights/news/2019/07/19/472332/attackon-the-aca/. Other policies that should be reversed include the sustained attacks on Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals (DACA) recipients and Temporary Protected Status (TPS) holders; the "deter by cruelty" policies in immigration detention centers; the ban on transgender Americans serving in the U.S. military; and the resumption of the federal death penalty.
- 32 Young Mie Kim, "New Evidence Shows How Russia's Election Interference Has Gotten More Brazen," Brennan Center for Justice, March 5, 2020, available at https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/analysis-opinion/new-evidence-showshow-russias-election-interference-has-gotten-more
- 33 Michael Crowley, "Trump urges Russia to hack Clinton's email," Politico, July 27, 2016, available at https://www. politico.com/story/2016/07/trump-putin-no-relationship-226282.

- 34 Executive Office of the President, "Executive Order 13848: Imposing Certain Sanctions in the Event of Foreign Interference in a United States Election," Federal Register 83 (179) (2018): 46843-46848, available at https://www. federal register.gov/documents/2018/09/14/2018-20203/ imposing-certain-sanctions-in-the-event-of-foreign-interference-in-a-united-states-election.
- 35 Jordain Carney, "Senate GOP blocks three election security bills," The Hill, February 11, 2020, available at https://thehill. com/homenews/house/482569-senate-gop-blocks-threeelection-security-bills.
- 36 U.S. Department of State, "Global Engagement Center," available at https://www.state.gov/bureaus-offices/undersecretary-for-public-diplomacy-and-public-affairs/globalengagement-center/ (last accessed September 2020).
- 37 Margaret L. Taylor, "Combating disinformation and foreign interference in democracies: Lessons from Europe," Brookings Institution, July 31, 2019, available at https://www. brookings.edu/blog/techtank/2019/07/31/combatingdisinformation-and-foreign-interference-in-democracieslessons-from-europe/; Ashley Jeffrey and Scott Sargrad, "Strengthening Democracy With a Modern Civics Education" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ education-k-12/reports/2019/12/14/478750/strengthening-democracy-modern-civics-education/.
- 38 Cillizza and Williams, "15 times Donald Trump praised authoritarian rulers."
- 39 Alexandra Schmitt, "5 Questions About the Commission on Unalienable Rights," Center for American Progress, October 31, 2019, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/security/news/2019/10/31/476632/5-questionscommission-unalienable-rights/.
- 40 Julie Hirschfield Davis and Michael D. Shear, "Trump Administration Considers a Drastic Cut in Refugees Allowed to Enter U.S." The New York Times, September 6, 2019, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2019/09/06/us/politics/ trump-refugees-united-states.html.
- 41 Gardiner Harris, "Trump Administration Withdraws U.S. from U.N. Human Rights Council," The New York Times, June 19, 2018, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2018/06/19/us/politics/trump-israel-palestinianshuman-rights.html.
- 42 Jeff Mason, "Trump slashes foreign aid, cuts safety net programs in new budget proposal," Reuters, February 9, 2020, available at https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usatrump-budget/trump-slashes-foreign-aid-cuts-safety-netprograms-in-new-budget-proposal-idUSKBN2030PV.
- 43 Kelly Magsamen and others, "Securing a Democratic World: The Case for a Democratic Values-Based U.S. Foreign Policy" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ security/reports/2018/09/05/457451/securing-democraticworld/.
- 44 UN LGBTI Core Group, available at https://unlgbticoregroup.org/.
- 45 GOV.UK, "Equal Rights Coalition," available at https://www. gov.uk/government/collections/equal-rights-coalition (last accessed September 2020).
- 46 U.S. Department of State, "Draft Report of the Commission on Unalienable Rights" (Washington: 2020), available at https://www.state.gov/draft-report-of-the-commissionon-unalienable-rights/.
- 47 Federal Register, "Executive Order 13926: Advancing International Religious Freedom," Federal Register 85 (109) (2020): 34951-34953, available at https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2020/06/05/2020-12430/advancinginternational-religious-freedom.

- 48 U.N. Refugee Agency, "Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2019," available at https://www.unhcr.org/globaltrends2019/ (last accessed September 2020).
- 49 Executive Office of the President, "Executive Order 13769: Executive Order Protecting the Nation from Foreign Terrorist Entry into the United States."
- 50 Executive Office of the President, "Presidential Proclamation Addressing Mass Migration Through the Southern Border of the United States," Press release, November 9, 2018, available at https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/presidential-proclamation-addressing-massmigration-southern-border-united-states/.
- 51 Executive Office of the President, "Proclamation Suspending Entry of Immigrants Who Present Risk to the U.S. Labor Market During the Economic Recovery Following the COVID-19 Outbreak," Press release, April 22, 2020, available at https:// www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/proclamationsuspending-entry-immigrants-present-risk-u-s-labormarket-economic-recovery-following-covid-19-outbreak/; Executive Office of the President, "Proclamation Suspending Entry of Aliens Who Present a Risk to the U.S. Labor Market Following the Coronavirus Outbreak," Press release, June 22, 2020, available at https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/proclamation-suspending-entry-aliens-presentrisk-u-s-labor-market-following-coronavirus-outbreak/.
- 52 Silva Mathema, "Refugees Thrive in America: Trump Cuts the Number of New Arrivals Despite Advancements and Success Stories" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www.americanprogress. org/issues/immigration/reports/2018/11/19/461147/ refugees-thrive-america/.
- 53 Joshua Keating, "The Nonbinding Migration Pact That Was Too Much for Trump," Slate, December 7, 2018, available at https://slate.com/news-and-politics/2018/12/ global-compact-on-migration-u-s-and-several-europeancountries-skip-out-on-migrant-pact.html; Margaret Besheer, "UN States Adopt Global Compact on Refugees," Voice of America, December 17, 2018, available at https:// www.voanews.com/europe/un-states-adopt-globalcompact-refugees.
- 54 National Origin-Based Antidiscrimination for Nonimmigrants (NO BAN) Act, H.R. 2214, 116th Cong., 2nd sess. (March 5, 2020), available at https://www.congress.gov/ bill/116th-congress/house-bill/2214?q=%7B%22search%2 2%3A%5B%22National+Origin-Based+Antidiscrimination +for+Nonimmigrants%22%5D%7D&r=1&s=1.
- 55 Open Society Foundations, "What Is the Global Gag Rule?", available at https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/explainers/what-global-gag-rule (last accessed September 2020).
- 56 Luisa Blanchfield, "Abortion and Family Planning-Related Provisions in U.S. Foreign Assistance Law and Policy" (Washington: Congressional Research Service, 2020), available at https://fas.org/sgp/crs/row/R41360.pdf.
- 57 Sarah E. Mendelson, "Why Governments Target Civil Society and What Can Be Done in Response: A New Agenda" (Washington: Center for Strategic and International Studies, 2015), available at https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ AboutUs/CivilSociety/ReportHC/67_CSIS-MendelsonGov-TargetCivilSocietyNewAgenda-2.pdf.
- 58 Hansler, "Trump authorizes sanctions against International Criminal Court officials."
- 59 Executive Office of the President, "Executive Order 13928: Executive Order on Blocking Property Of Certain Persons Associated With The International Criminal Court," Press release, June 11, 2020, available at https://www.whitehouse. gov/presidential-actions/executive-order-blocking-property-certain-persons-associated-international-criminal-court/.

- 60 Axelrod, "Here are the US allies that have been caught in Trump's crosshairs."
- 61 Zachary B. Wolf and JoElla Carman, "Here are all the treaties and agreements Trump has abandoned," CNN, February 1, 2019, available at https://www.cnn.com/2019/02/01/ politics/nuclear-treaty-trump/index.html.
- 62 Community of Democracies, "Home," available at https:// community-democracies.org/ (last accessed September
- 63 Trevor Sutton and Alexandra Schmitt, "Donald Trump's Gift to Kleptocrats" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/security/reports/2019/10/21/476140/donald-trumpsgift-kleptocrats/.
- 64 Devan Cole, "Washington Post: Trump administration has tried to cut billions in foreign aid to fight corruption despite calling it a priority," CNN, December 25, 2019, available at https://www.cnn.com/2019/10/23/politics/ trump-administration-cutting-anti-corruption-ukraine/ index.html.
- 65 Jenna Smialek, "Trump Tried to Kill Anti-Bribery Rule He Deemed 'Unfair,' New Book Alleges," The New York Times, January 15, 2020, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2020/01/15/business/economy/trump-bribery-law. html
- 66 Mary Beth Sheridan, "How U.S. apathy helped kill a pioneering anti-corruption campaign in Guatemala," The Washington Post, June 14, 2019, available at https:// www.washingtonpost.com/world/the_americas/how-usapathy-helped-kill-a-pioneering-anticorruption-campaignin-guatemala/2019/06/14/cc4f464a-1e5e-11e9-a759-2b8541bbbe20_story.html; Peter J. Meyer, "Corruption in Honduras: End of the Mission to Support the Fight Against Corruption and Impunity in Honduras (MACCIH)" (Washington: Congressional Research Service, 2020), available at https://www.everycrsreport.com/reports/IN11211.html.
- 67 Zachary B. Wolf and Sean O'Key, "The Trump-Ukraine impeachment inquiry report, annotated," CNN, December 3, 2019, available at https://www.cnn.com/interactive/2019/12/politics/trump-ukraine-impeachment-inquiry-report-annotated/.
- 68 John Bolton, "The Scandal of Trump's China Policy," The Wall Street Journal, June 17, 2020, available at https://www.wsj. com/articles/john-bolton-the-scandal-of-trumps-chinapolicy-11592419564.
- 69 Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, "Bank Secrecy Act (BSA)," available at https://www.occ.treas.gov/topics/ supervision-and-examination/bsa/index-bsa.html (last accessed September 2020).
- 70 Michael Sozan, "Ending Foreign-Influenced Corporate Spending in U.S. Elections" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/democracy/reports/2019/11/21/477466/ending-foreign-influencedcorporate-spending-u-s-elections/.
- 71 Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, "USA PATRIOT Act," available at https://www.fincen.gov/resources/statutesregulations/usa-patriot-act (last accessed September 2020).
- 72 U.S. Department of State, "Global Magnitsky Act," available at https://www.state.gov/global-magnitsky-act/ (last accessed September 2020).
- 73 Countering Russian and Other Overseas Kleptocracy (CROOK) Act, H.R. 3843, 116th Cong., 1st sess. (July 18, 2019), available at https://www.congress.gov/bill/116thcongress/house-bill/3843/text.



Ending the Wars Responsibly

The president who takes office in January 2021 will face ongoing U.S. military involvement and humanitarian crises around the world, particularly in Afghanistan and Iraq but also in armed conflicts across the Middle East. Despite conflict fatigue at home, ending direct U.S. military involvement will not "end the wars" and will lead to profound consequences for innocent civilians. A more responsible approach will require a commitment to lead with diplomacy, enhance transparency, and develop a more sustainable and resilient approach to ongoing threats, including terrorism.

In the nearly two decades since the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks, the United States military has been involved in constant combat operations across the Middle East. The 2003 invasion of Iraq, the nearly constant regional turmoil, and ongoing missions in Afghanistan and Syria have all contributed to a sense that the United States is now engaged in "forever wars" and there appears to be no end or "victory" in sight.

There are very real consequences to this continuous engagement. Next year will mark two full decades of the U.S.-led wars—conflicts that have cost nearly 8,500 American and coalition lives and led to hundreds of thousands of civilian deaths in the broader Middle East and South Asia. More than \$1.9 trillion of American taxpayer money has been spent fighting in Afghanistan, Iraq, Libya, and Syria over the past 20 years.² Moreover, the United States will spend up to \$1 trillion more providing medical care and other benefits to those who have borne the burden of these wars.³

Beyond the human and financial costs of these conflicts, there continue to be serious questions about the effectiveness of U.S. strategy—especially with respect to U.S. counterterrorism efforts. Terrorist threats have endured and evolved over the past two decades despite massive U.S. investment and prioritization. While the United States obliterated the core al-Qaida organization that attacked the United States on September 11, new threats sharing the same ideology emerged in Yemen, 4 West Africa,⁵ Iraq, and Syria.⁶ Even more notable, violent white supremacist terrorism has killed as many Americans in the United States since 9/11 as has Salafi-jihadi terrorism. Nonetheless, the shadow of 9/11 still looms large for many Americans, as do terrorist attacks by Islamic State (IS) and al-Qaida-linked terrorists in places such as France and Germany.8 Like the United States, many of these countries also struggle to counter violence perpetrated by far-right extremists.9

President Barack Obama attempted to turn the page on the "war on terror" during his presidency, arguing that the United States had to "define the nature and scope of this struggle, or else it will define us."10 But the rise of new terrorist threats such as the Islamic State group in Iraq and Syria, as well as the persistence of existing ones such as al-Qaida in the Arabian Peninsula, obstructed this goal. While the Obama administration ultimately surged and then withdrew most U.S. troops from Afghanistan, a persistent Taliban threat and a fractured Afghan government prevented the complete drawdown of U.S. military forces. At the same time, wars, conflicts, and crises impinging on U.S. interests continued or erupted in places such as Syria, Ukraine, and Venezuela.

The Trump administration has done little to resolve these conflicts or responsibly end direct U.S. military involvement in places such as Afghanistan, Iraq, and Syria. Instead, the administration has come perilously close to embroiling the United States in another war thanks to its "maximum pressure" campaign against Iran and its strike on Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps (IRGC) Quds Force commander Qasem Soleimani. Civil wars in Syria and Yemen continue, while Iraq struggles to find stability nearly three years after the conventional military defeat of the Islamic State group. Even the administration's Afghanistan agreement appears fragile, with implementation stalled amid a surge in Taliban attacks.¹¹

The next administration will face a number of ongoing or potential conflicts, including:

- Ongoing direct U.S. military involvement in Afghanistan, Syria, and Iraq: When the next administration begins, tens of thousands of American military personnel will likely remain in or near these active combat zones. Even if the Trump administration's withdrawal agreement with the Taliban were to proceed as planned, the United States would likely still have thousands of troops deployed in Afghanistan in January 2021. Likewise, thousands of U.S. troops will likely remain deployed in Iraq and Syria to continue the fight against the remnants of the Islamic State group and to assist local forces.
- Continued confrontation with Iran: As a result of the Trump administration's withdrawal from the 2015 Iran nuclear agreement, Tehran is now closer to a nuclear weapon than it was just a few short years ago. Moreover, Iran remains a destabilizing force across the Middle East, supporting proxies and prolonging conflicts in Syria, Iraq, Lebanon, and Yemen.
- Ongoing conflicts and humanitarian crises in Libya, Yemen, and Syria: Barring unexpected diplomatic breakthroughs, conflicts in Libya, Yemen, and Syria will almost certainly continue into January 2021. Though U.S. involvement remains indirect, these conflicts implicate U.S. national interests and reflect wider geopolitical challenges involving Russia, Turkey, and, in the cases of Yemen and Syria, Iran.
- A persistent and evolving terror threat: The threat of terrorism from groups such as the Islamic State and al-Qaida in the Arabian Peninsula remains a significant security challenge for the United States, its allies, and its partners around the world. Though these two particular groups have seen their power decline substantially over the past several years, they remain able to take advantage of conflicts in Iraq, Syria, Afghanistan, and Yemen—and the pandemic could present greater threats moving forward. Meanwhile, the threat of violent white supremacy is on the rise in the United States and around the world.

The overmilitarization of U.S. foreign policy over the past two decades has failed to end these conflicts. The next administration will confront all of these enduring challenges and conflicts, except in an even more unfavorable geopolitical environment. The current administration's actions have fractured U.S. alliances, damaged its diplomatic capacity, and left American credibility in tatters. Making matters worse, the United States and the world will still be in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic and face deep economic challenges when the next administration begins in 2021.

It is important to acknowledge that it will not be possible to "end the wars" in the first 100 days of the next administration. The national security team, whether new or incumbent, will also need to recognize that ending direct U.S. military involvement will not end these conflicts. Even if American troops were to leave Iraq, Syria, and Afghanistan on the first day of the next administration's term in office, these conflicts would continue to rage with profound consequences for innocent civilians. However, the next administration can begin to set the conditions necessary to resolve these conflicts and put U.S. strategy on a more balanced and sustainable footing. This will need to take place in the context of a dramatic reorientation of U.S. foreign policy toward addressing modern challenges—including climate change, China, and the resurgence of authoritarianism.

To reorient American foreign policy and set the conditions necessary to resolve these legacy conflicts successfully, the next administration should start work immediately on four main lines of effort:

- 1. Lead with diplomacy to resolve legacy conflicts and avoid new wars.
- 2. Implement a more sustainable and resilient counterterrorism approach.
- 3. Ensure that all U.S. military operations are transparent and accountable to the American people.
- 4. Take better care of the generations that served in our wars.

The recommendations that follow provide a range of options for advancing these goals.

Lead with diplomacy to resolve legacy conflicts and avoid new wars

Wars will not end or be prevented without smart, principled diplomacy as the leading edge of U.S. foreign policy and national security strategy. In recent years, U.S. national security decision-making and public discourse on conflicts has been overly framed around troop levels and American involvement rather than what the United States should or should not do to help bring these conflicts to sustainable conclusions. 12 Those serving in uniform need to have confidence in their purpose, as well as a clear understanding of their mission and what diplomatic ends they are working toward.

Real diplomacy has largely taken a back seat in the Trump administration. Pragmatic diplomacy with Iran has been abandoned for an ineffective and dangerous "maximum pressure" campaign that has not worked. 13 Instead, it has damaged U.S. interests, left key international allies caught in the crossfire, failed to address Iran's destabilizing behavior, and increased the chances for yet another major military conflict in the Middle East. 14 Even with respect to Afghanistan, where the administration seems intent on ending U.S. military engagement largely for political purposes, 15 it has been inconsistent in its support for peace efforts, with the president himself often undercutting his own negotiators and sending counterproductive signals to the Taliban and the Afghan government. 16 Meanwhile, U.S. policy on Syria remains a confused muddle of objectives and mismatched means, 17 and the administration is missing a huge opportunity to recalibrate the U.S. relationship with Iraq in the wake of the defeat of IS, instead subjugating Iraq policy to Iran policy.

To make matters worse on the diplomatic front, the Trump administration has spent the past four years actively dismantling the U.S. Department of State and reducing America's diplomatic capacity to its lowest point in generations. ¹⁸ Senior foreign and civil service officers have departed, often after being pushed out or sidelined. The next administration will be faced with the challenge of restoring international faith in U.S. diplomacy while, at the same time, confronting a massive human capital deficit to execute that diplomacy. Recalibrating the United States' approach will take longer than 100 days, but the next administration can take some definitive early steps to chart a new course.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Task the secretary of state to lead a rapid and wide-ranging 90-day interagency policy review of U.S. involvement in existing conflicts

The goal of this review should be to examine policy where the United States is either militarily involved or where instability affects U.S. national security interests. Putting the secretary of state in the lead, rather than the White House, would empower the State Department and ensure that U.S. interagency efforts are aligned with, and support, diplomatic goals. The broad goal of this review would be to examine how to rebalance U.S. strategy across these conflict areas. This review should include the following:

- A careful examination of long-term U.S. national interests and policy objectives in these conflict areas in the context of broader U.S. domestic and national security challenges
- An evaluation of the effectiveness of current national security tools and resources being used—or not used—to advance those interests
- A U.S. diplomatic game plan to advance long-term, peace-building efforts in key areas of conflict—such as Yemen, Syria, Iraq, Afghanistan, and Libya—with an eye toward what is realistic and sustainable
- High-level outreach to the country's closest allies and partners for insight into U.S. policy successes and failures, expectations, and burden-sharing
- Engagement with on-the-ground stakeholders in countries where conflicts persist for example, nongovernmental organizations, U.N. agencies, and local civil society organizations



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Launch a comprehensive review of U.S. foreign and security assistance in key conflict areas

This review would be led by the secretary of state and U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) administrator, in coordination with the secretary of defense. Its goal would be to produce a long-term U.S. assistance strategy that better supports peace-building and civil society, rather than prioritizing arms sales or legacy security assistance programs that have done little to stabilize or resolve the underlying causes of these conflicts. This should be done in tandem with the policy review outlined above

as well as efforts to ultimately design and release a National Diplomatic Strategy in 2022. (see the section on "Rebuilding and Rebalancing Our National Security Tools and Institutions" in this report) This review should provide the next administration with concrete options to shift U.S. foreign and security assistance toward more effective, sustainable objectives that better reflect U.S. values and long-term interests.

 Work with Congress to prioritize passing a State Department authorization bill. Congress has not passed State Department authorization legislation since 2002.¹⁹ New authorizing legislation would offer both the next administration and the next Congress an important opportunity to reexamine and prioritize the role of the State Department in U.S. foreign policy. The next administration should work directly with Congress to design and pass such a bill. The development of a National Diplomatic Strategy that outlines U.S. diplomatic priorities would be helpful in promoting a coherent narrative to congressional authorizers.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Issue a presidential policy directive in the first 100 days outlining a new U.S. policy toward Iran that de-escalates tensions and generates better conditions to advance U.S. interests through diplomacy

The next administration will need to take early tangible steps to accomplish this goal. This effort must include unilateral steps, but more importantly, it should involve direct coordination with allies and partners around the world. Leading up to this new directive, the administration should undertake the following steps:

- Revoke the Trump administration's National Security Policy Memorandum (NSPM) 11 on day one of the next administration.²⁰ The next administration should signal an immediate shift in its approach toward Iran by revoking the policy withdrawing the United States from the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA) on Iran's nuclear program.
- Task the director of national intelligence with an assessment on the current status of Iran's nuclear and ballistic missile programs and its compliance with the JCPOA. It will be essential to have an accurate picture on the status of Iran's nuclear and ballistic missile programs to inform its strategy on reentering the JCPOA. The United States should also engage the International Atomic Energy Agency on the status of Iran's compliance.

- Launch immediate secretary of state consultations with the five permanent members of the U.N. Security Council plus Germany (P5+1) to craft a way forward for the United States to reenter the JCPOA and to bring Iran back into compliance. The goal of this effort should be to leverage U.S. reentry into the deal within a broader negotiating agenda, including extending some nuclear constraints under the JCPOA as well as imposing limitations on Iran's ballistic missile capability. As part of an agreement by Iran to return to compliance with the JCPOA, the United States should consider sanctions waivers, including on oil.
- The secretary of defense should undertake a regional posture review with the objective of right-sizing U.S. military presence in the Middle East. The Trump administration's decision to augment the U.S. military presence in the Middle East has been relatively ineffective in deterring Iran. Rather, Iran and its regional proxies have actually increased the scope of attacks by targeting oil tankers in the Gulf and Saudi oil facilities.²¹ While the United States should ensure that it is capable of defending its allies and interests in the region, a reduced and more sustainable U.S. force posture is both necessary and achievable, especially in light of other competing national security priorities.²² Any reduction in U.S. forces should be paired with a more focused investment in Gulf defense, in line with the 2015 U.S.-Gulf Cooperation Council summit declaration.²³
- Explore and support nascent dialogue between Iran and the Gulf. The next administration should send early signals to U.S. Gulf partners that it supports their stated desire to de-escalate tensions with Iran. While the United States playing a public role in dialogue may not be desirable, the next administration should conduct quiet outreach to establish a shared understanding of the situation in the Gulf, chart a path forward for de-escalation, and ensure effective diplomatic coordination of these efforts—perhaps supported by the P5+1 mechanism.
- Appoint a U.S. special envoy for Yemen. In recent months, key U.S. partners in the Gulf have signaled their desire to de-escalate tensions with Iran and wind down their direct military involvement in Yemen.²⁴ However, these partners lack the capacity necessary to coordinate the unwieldy diplomacy among the various players involved in Yemen's internal conflict. The next administration should take advantage of these favorable conditions and make an early push for a coordinated diplomatic strategy to bring about a sustainable end to the fighting in Yemen. It should choose a high-level envoy—or, alternatively, select a senior diplomat with regional experience—to serve as the assistant secretary for Near Eastern affairs. The president and secretary of state should empower this envoy to engage with the various parties involved in Yemen,

ranging from the United Nations' own special envoy and various U.S. regional partners such as Oman, the United Arab Emirates (UAE), and Saudi Arabia to the multiple internal factions vying for power in Yemen.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Reach a new strategic understanding with Iraq

U.S.-Iraq relations have suffered from a U.S. strategy that has treated the partnership and Iraq's own stability as subordinate concerns to its pressure campaign against Iran.²⁵ This strategy distracts from the fight against IS, risks the expulsion of U.S. forces, neglects civilian aspects of U.S. policy, and badly damages ties. This, along with the advent of a favorably disposed new Iraqi prime minister, presents the opportunity to reset ties. The next administration should articulate that America's mission in Iraq is centered around fighting IS and helping Iraqis achieve stability and sovereignty—not to "watch Iran" or "take the oil." The next administration should put the U.S.-Iraq relationship on a new footing by undertaking the following actions in its first 100 days:



QUICK WIN: Invite Iraqi leaders to Washington. The next U.S. administration should make a point to welcome key Iraqi leaders and work with Congress on a strategy to leverage U.S. nonmilitary assistance to push the Iraqi government to help resettle the hundreds of thousands of Iraqis who remain displaced and provide stability in formerly IS-held areas to help prevent a resurgence.

- Renegotiate a smaller, more sustainable U.S. troop presence in Iraq and multilateralize the security mission. The United States should seek to reach a new understanding directly or indirectly via Iraqi politicians—with Tehran and Iranian-backed Iraqi militias regarding the U.S. troop presence in the country. While missions such as support for the elite Counter-Terrorism Service should remain U.S.-led, the United States should work with NATO allies and partners to multilateralize other elements of the security mission, including the training of Iraqi army and police units. This could allow for a smaller troop presence reached in agreement with Iraqi officials, while also lowering tensions with Iran.
- Expedite special immigrant visas for Iraqi and Afghan translators. The United States should immediately announce this priority effort. This early move would demonstrate a commitment to reversing anti-Muslim policies and would also signal that America is not abandoning the Iraqi and Afghan people.

 Incentivize Iraq-Saudi rapprochement. Diplomatically, the United States should also seek to deliver on the promise of recent Saudi rapprochement with Iraqi national leaders, completing the transition from promising diplomacy to delivering on the pledge to help Iraq's young and fast-growing population find opportunity.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Implement a responsible strategy on Afghanistan that prioritizes long-term support for the Afghan people

The next administration will likely see a peace process in midstream, with early decision points on the deadline for withdrawal of all U.S. forces by May 2021. The national security team will need to assess a range of factors when deciding how to best proceed regarding U.S. military presence as well as U.S. financial support for the Afghan government. Bringing U.S. military involvement in Afghanistan to a close should be a priority, but any strategy will also need to adequately address the risks to the Afghan people as well as long-term stability in the region. While progress will take longer than 100 days, there are some key early steps that the next administration should take, including the following actions:



QUICK WIN: Host a leader-level secure video conference with the Afghan government. The goal of this initial summit would be to reinforce a long-term U.S. commitment to the Afghan people and communicate expectations for continued diplomatic progress on power-sharing.

- Consider keeping in place the U.S. special envoy for Afghanistan and announce the administration's intent to remain committed to the February 2020 U.S.-Taliban **agreement.** This could allow for greater continuity in peace negotiations.
- Plan to end significant U.S. military presence in May 2021 in accordance with existing U.S.-Taliban peace agreements, continued review of the threat environment, and other pressing national priorities. The next administration should plan to continue reductions to the U.S. military presence pursuant to existing U.S.-Taliban peace agreements, provided that conditions allow it.
- Commit to a multiyear U.S. foreign and security assistance package for Afghanistan beginning in the FY 2022 presidential budget submission to Congress in February 2021. The FY 2022 presidential budget submission should demonstrate a clear commitment to U.S. foreign and security assistance for Afghanistan.

 Use the G-7 summit in summer 2021 to announce a major international compact to provide long-term support to Afghan women. The United States has historically played an important role in protecting and supporting rights for Afghan women and girls since the beginning of the conflict in 2001. But recent U.S. actions and policy have failed to prioritize their concerns or guarantee women's rights during peace negotiations.²⁷ The next administration should use the next G-7 summit to pledge to protect gains made for women and girls in the country, ensure that women are meaningfully represented in future talks, and announce a plan for long-term support to Afghan women.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Reset on Israel-Palestine issues

The unresolved conflict between Israelis and Palestinians presents an insurmountable obstacle to Middle East stability—and stabilizing the Middle East could allow the United States to responsibly reduce its own direct military commitments to the region. While progress on Middle East peace is unlikely in the first 100 days, the next administration should take immediate steps to reset U.S. policy on Israel-Palestine with the goal of generating better conditions for peace negotiations, ensuring that U.S. policy is aligned toward advancing long-term U.S. interests, and promoting the security, prosperity, and dignity of the Israeli and Palestinian peoples. Improving the lives of Israelis and Palestinians on the way to resolving the broader conflict between the two peoples would go a long way toward stabilizing the wider Middle East and North Africa. Moreover, it would help America better calibrate its engagement with a focus on diplomacy.

- Act to immediately restore U.S. assistance to the Palestinian Authority. The next administration should reverse the current administration's cuts to funding for the Palestinian Authority and programs designed to help the Palestinian people. In addition, it should work with Congress to ease or lift existing legislative restrictions on this assistance and create positive incentives for diplomatic progress. As it restores bilateral aid to Palestinians, it should do so in a way that avoids reinforcing anti-democratic tendencies among some Palestinian leaders and addresses the concerns expressed by the Palestinian leadership about corruption.
- Reopen the U.S. mission to the Palestinian Authority and appoint a senior foreign service officer to head it. After President Donald Trump moved the U.S. embassy in Israel to Jerusalem, the State Department shuttered the consulate in East Jerusalem that for decades served as the United States' main point of contact with the Palestinians.

The next administration should reestablish a diplomatic mission to the Palestinian Authority and appoint a senior diplomat to lead it. At the same time, it should work with Congress to build bipartisan support for steps to allow the Palestine Liberation Organization to reopen the diplomatic mission in Washington that was closed by the current administration.

- Ensure that regional diplomatic progress does not leave the Israeli-Palestinian conflict behind. The next administration should use American leverage with all parties to create positive incentives that help make resolving the Israeli-Palestinian conflict in a just and equitable manner a key factor in U.S. diplomacy with countries in the region. Stepped-up regional diplomacy should seek to improve the lives of Israelis and Palestinians alike, while also keeping open the path toward a negotiated agreement.
- Work with Congress to fully resource the Global Fragility Act. As it copes with multiple crises demanding high-level attention, the next administration should fully fund the Global Fragility Act passed by Congress in December 2019. The legislation authorizes \$1.15 billion in funding over five years, dedicated to supporting programs to prevent conflicts before they start and the United States and others feel compelled to intervene.²⁸

Implement a more sustainable and resilient counterterrorism approach

For the United States to move effectively beyond "forever wars," the next administration will have to wrestle with how best to confront and manage a persistent and evolving terrorism threat. The Obama administration made important gains by wiping out core al-Qaida structures and by imposing greater transparency, stricter decision-making processes around direct action, and accountability—even when controversially seeking congressional authorization to strike chemical weapons in Syria. Over time, the Obama administration also implemented a more targeted approach, building the capacity of partner countries around the world to take on terrorism threats as they emerged, rather than through large U.S. military ground operations.²⁹

Unfortunately, much of this progress with regard to decision-making on use of force, transparency, and accountability has been reversed under the Trump administration.³⁰ Despite its stated desire to get the United States out of endless wars, the Trump administration has set the political and security conditions for greater conflict by expanding the authority of the military to conduct increased operational targeting against a broader range of terrorist groups. At the same time, the administration's decisions have made the country less safe—decisions such as demoting the homeland security adviser position at the White House and leaving the U.S. Department of Homeland Security without several rungs of permanent leadership.

The next administration will be confronted with an exhausted counterterrorism strategy. After more than two decades of counterterrorism operations worldwide across three administrations, the metrics for success remain unclear and the strategic impact has been uneven. Incidents of terrorism remain high for a few countries, mostly those with active hostilities, but have decreased substantially in Western countries. Yet the conditions that give rise to terrorism persist across the globe, especially in the Middle East, South Asia, and Africa. The next administration will need to examine whether the threat justifies the scale of U.S. counterterrorism infrastructure, resources, and operations that has dominated U.S. national security strategy since 9/11.

Meanwhile, the devastating human consequences inflicted by both terrorists and ongoing counterterrorism operations continue to mount. Although the Trump administration has reduced its transparency in reporting civilian harm, casualties have likely gone up.³¹ While the Pentagon admitted to killing 132 civilians last year in U.S. operations,³² estimates from independent watchdog groups were much higher. For example, when airstrikes in Somalia tripled from 14 in 2016 to 45 in 2018,³³ the Pentagon claimed no civilians were killed, while Amnesty International documented at least 17 deaths.³⁴ And in Afghanistan, the United States and its allies killed more civilians than the Taliban in the first half of 2019,35 while overall civilian casualties remained above 10,000 for the sixth year in a row.³⁶ Meanwhile, U.S. support for security partners that use American weapons and equipment to enable civilian harm is not even officially counted—such as in Yemen, where the civilian death toll surpassed 1,100 last year.³⁷



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Announce a high-level policy review, led by the vice president, on the future U.S. counterterrorism strategy, with the goal of generating options for a more sustainable and resilient approach

This policy review should assess the terrorism threat in the context of other pressing national security challenges. In addition, it should seek to right-size U.S. strategy, resource allocation, and decision-making processes while still preserving adequate capacity to defend the homeland from attacks.

- Task the secretary of state, the director of national intelligence (DNI), the secretary of homeland security, and the secretary of defense with a U.S. Counterterrorism Structure and Posture Review to streamline U.S. counterterrorism efforts. This review would examine ways to streamline U.S. counterterrorism infrastructure across the U.S. government and present options to the president within 90 days. There are currently multiple overlapping counterterrorism missions and infrastructure across the U.S. government that not only produce duplicative efforts but also generate incentive structures to sustain this overweighted effort in comparison to other national security challenges.
- Launch a presidential study directive (PSD) to develop options to improve U.S. resilience to terrorism. This PSD should explore how to improve crisis communications, increase civic engagement in the aftermath of terror attacks, harden critical infrastructure, reform the Department of Homeland Security's mission, and strengthen local law enforcement capabilities.

- Use a presidential speech on the 20th anniversary of 9/11 to announce a new U.S. counterterrorism strategy that prioritizes sustainability and resilience. This speech could coincide with a leaders' summit in New York that would announce a new global compact on counterterrorism prioritizing intelligence, law enforcement, international cooperation, and resilience over military action. The policy reviews above would inform this speech.
- Stand up a White House-led task force to develop a U.S. government (USG)-wide policy blueprint in the first 100 days for countering violent white supremacy at home and abroad. Attacks by violent white supremacists are on the rise at home and abroad.³⁸ The next administration must examine the threat and determine a USG-wide strategy for countering this challenge that would involve elements of law enforcement, intelligence, civil liberty protections, education, and international diplomacy. This review should include members of the National Security Council (NSC), Domestic Policy Council, and other White House offices in order to ensure a broad U.S. policy approach.

Ensure that all U.S. military operations are transparent and accountable to the American people

From Vietnam to Libya to Yemen, successive administrations have struggled to provide adequate transparency to the American people about the ways in which the United States uses military force.³⁹ This lack of transparency inhibits accountability, as reflected in the existing legal frameworks that justify the use of force. When America uses force in a way that is not transparent and accountable, it undermines U.S. national security.

These problems predated the Trump administration, but the Trump administration has made them worse. From pardoning convicted war criminal Eddie Gallagher and changing authorities for counterterrorism operations to an overall lack of transparency on the part of the U.S. Department of Defense, the Trump administration has made it much more difficult for Americans and the world to trust that the U.S. government is executing the use of force responsibly and in accordance with the rule of law and international norms.⁴⁰

Acting transparently, legally, and with express congressional authorization is a critical predicate for the development of policies that are sustainable, effective, and garner the widest possible support from the American people and the international community. When administrations disregard these guardrails, they risk drifting into and failing to extract the United States from imprudent wars, while also undermining constitutional design in ways that erode the legitimacy of U.S. foreign policy at home and abroad. Abu Ghraib, Guantanamo Bay, undisclosed drone strikes, and the assassination of Gen. Soleimani all seed deep suspicion about U.S. activities, fuel anti-Americanism, and isolate America from the rest of the world.

The next administration will have much work to do to reestablish confidence that the United States will exercise use of force in accountable and transparent ways. It will have to move quickly to restore trust with the American people and foreign partners, reassuring them of America's ability to lawfully and transparently employ its military for essential operations. This effort will require working closely with Congress and publicly announcing new initiatives in the first 100 days.



QUICK WIN: Reinstate reporting requirements on counterterrorism activities

(Executive Order 13732). The next administration should immediately reinstate the part of Executive Order 13732—issued by President Obama and revoked by President Trump through Executive Order 13862—that requires public reporting on the casualties caused by counterterrorism strikes. 41 This information is important for transparency and ensures that all U.S. agencies involved in counterterrorism have visibility into the effects of their actions.



QUICK WIN: Appoint a senior civilian reporting directly to the secretary of defense to conduct investigations into civilian deaths as a result of U.S. military operations. This official would be responsible for oversight of U.S. policy on civilian casualties and would provide the mandate to improve the standards for investigations into these incidents.



QUICK WIN: Standardize the Defense Department's monthly publication of U.S. casualties in named military operations. Transparency in U.S. operations and resulting civilian harm is critical to helping the United States and the public learn from mistakes and improve U.S. practice. Regular publication would demonstrate the next administration's commitment to transparency and taking civilian harm seriously.

- Work with Congress to repeal and replace the 2001 Authorization for Use of Military **Force.** Any authorization should seek to impose strict geographical and targeting limits with clear sunset and renewal provisions. The goal should be to more tightly bind use of force to regular affirmations of public consensus via congressional debate and votes. The next administration should send a strong signal by expressing its willingness to be more bound by Congress on use of force. It should pursue this legislative push in tandem with its diplomatic strategy reviews in order to reinforce a shift in U.S. strategy toward diplomacy.
- · Tighten the policy and legal boundaries for direct lethal action in U.S. counterterrorism operations. During the Obama administration, the Presidential Policy Guidance served as a set of procedures and guidelines for approving use of direct force—both lethal and nonlethal—against terrorist targets. 42 In 2017, however, the Trump administration took steps to loosen many of these procedures and guidelines.⁴³ The next administration should review the status of current procedures and set out strict policy criteria for use of lethal direct action against designated terrorist targets, ensuring that nonlethal direct action is prioritized, that the authorities for direct action are not designated at any level below the secretary of defense, that there is an extensive policy review and accountability process, and that any lethal action meets the highest possible standards.

- Launch an NSC-led review of civilian harm in U.S. military operations and security partnerships. The review should include procedures to mandate assessments of a security partner's capacity, capability, and political will to protect civilians in military operations before providing U.S. security assistance. It should also consider what conditions on training, equipment, and other support can be put in place based on partner forces' commitment to and performance on key civilian protection indicators. In addition, the review should explore the use of "positive conditionality" with partners in order to incentivize better civilian protection behavior.⁴⁴
- Review the current administration's rewriting of the U.S. Conventional Arms Transfer **Policy.** The next administration should review NSPM 10 to ensure that it prioritizes human rights protections and provides guidance against transferring weapons to states with concerning human rights records.⁴⁵

Take better care of the generations that served in our wars

Since September 11, 2001, more than 3 million men and women in uniform have deployed overseas in support of the wars in Iraq, Afghanistan, and Syria. 46 According to official Department of Defense statistics, more than 53,000 members of the U.S. Armed Forces have been wounded in action in these conflicts, 47 with more than 1.2 million post-9/11 veterans now receiving service-connected disability payments.⁴⁸

As a result, the annual budget of the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) has risen from \$48 billion in FY 2001 to \$243 billion in FY 2021—the second-largest budget of any federal agency, greater than the combined budgets for the State Department, the USAID, the Justice Department, and the entire U.S. intelligence community.⁴⁹ This rapid increase in VA funding can be attributed to a number of factors, including the aging of a large cohort of Vietnam War veterans, increasing use of the VA by all generations for health care, increased general health care costs, new programs such as the post-9/11 GI Bill, and vastly increased use of VA health and benefits programs by post-9/11 veterans as compared with their predecessors.

Mandatory benefits payments required by law, such as disability and the GI Bill, comprise nearly half the VA's budget. The cost of running the VA's massive health care system of 150 hospitals and more than 800 clinics dominates the other half of the budget.⁵⁰ Due to past commitments and policy decisions—and a national obligation to fulfill these commitments—the VA's budget will likely continue to expand. Although the total national veteran population continues to shrink as a consequence of the move to a smaller all-volunteer force, the proportion of veterans using the VA for health care or benefits continues to increase. As a result, future administrations will likely need to continue increasing the size of the VA budget for the foreseeable future.



QUICK WIN: The president should consider appointing a female combat veteran to be the secretary of the Veterans Administration. Since the VA was elevated to Cabinet status in 1989, the post has been held by 10 men. Once confirmed, the new VA secretary should prioritize issues of health and access for women veterans, who make up the fastest-growing segment of the veteran population.

- Take VA privatization off the table. Once confirmed, the next VA secretary should make a public statement—whether in a major speech, policy directive, or other appropriate vehicle—that privatization of the VA is no longer under any sort of consideration by the department or its leadership. This determination should be appropriately reflected in the new VA secretary's budget proposals and documents, which should seek a more appropriate balance between direct care and purchased care.
- Immediately begin filling the 50,000 positions that are currently empty in the VA and develop a plan for rebuilding the VA's aging infrastructure. At the end of 2019, the VA had 50,000 empty positions, leaving VA facilities understaffed.⁵¹ Moreover, much of the VA's infrastructure needs to be rebuilt; as of 2018, for instance, the average VA building was 55 years old. 52 Filling these slots and renewing the VA's infrastructure will enable it not only to expand veterans' care but also to better fulfill its congressionally mandated fourth mission of contributing to national preparedness.
- Continue increased remote mental health care, with a focus on suicide prevention and improving access to underserved populations. The VA has been a leader in telehealth technology and use for years, making it well-positioned to leverage such technology for treatment of patients during the COVID-19 pandemic. Due to the pandemic, the VA and many other mental health providers have moved to remote care via videoconference services.⁵³ These remote services should be continued when the pandemic subsides and should be leveraged to more fully reach those veterans that the VA does not serve adequately today, including rural veterans or veterans who live far from VA facilities. According to the most recent VA statistics, on average, more than 16 veterans committed suicide every day in 2017—and the suicide rate for veterans was 1.5 times the rate for nonveterans that year.⁵⁴ To help combat mental health challenges among veterans and military personnel more broadly, the next administration should also expand mental health coverage to cover National Guard and Reserve military personnel even if they have not served on active duty.
- Better serve veterans with "bad paper" and reform the process. Veterans with "bad paper"—some form of discharge other than an honorable discharge—are disproportionately at risk for unemployment, suicide, and homelessness, among other issues. 55 The next VA secretary should continue to expand VA health care and crisis support for these veterans, recognizing that many of these discharges were likely affected by underlying causes such as PTSD or military sexual trauma. 56 A new VA secretary should affirm that the government's obligations to these veterans does not stop because of these actions.

Conclusion

The next administration will not be able to responsibly end direct U.S. military involvement in conflicts in Afghanistan, Iraq, and Syria in its first 100 days in office. With or without direct U.S. military involvement, many of these conflicts will almost certainly persist for some time. But with these initial steps, the next administration can signal its intent to privilege diplomacy and conflict resolution in U.S. policy and put American strategy on a more sustainable global footing.



New executive orders or policies recommended in the first 100 days:

- Task the secretary of state with leading an interagency policy review of U.S. involvement in existing conflicts.
- Launch a comprehensive review of U.S. foreign and security assistance in key conflict areas.
- Launch a high-level policy review, led by the vice president, on a future U.S. counterterrorism strategy that prioritizes sustainability and resilience.
- Issue a presidential policy directive outlining a new U.S. policy toward Iran that de-escalates tensions.
- Reinstate reporting requirements on civilian casualties resulting from counterterrorism activities—formerly Executive Order 13732.
- Issue new Presidential Policy Guidance to tighten policy and legal boundaries for direct lethal action in U.S. counterterrorism operations.



Executive orders or policies recommended for recission or removal:

- 2001 Authorization for Use of Military Force should be repealed and replaced to more tightly bind use of force to regular affirmations of public consensus via congressional debates and votes.
- National Security Policy Memorandum 10 ("Regarding U.S. Conventional Arms Transfer Policy") should be reviewed and rewritten to ensure that U.S. arms transfer policy prioritizes human rights concerns effectively.
- National Security Policy Memorandum 11 ("Ceasing United States Participation in the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action") should be rescinded to signal an immediate shift in U.S. policy toward Iran.
- Executive Order 13862: Revokes certain reporting requirements on U.S. counterterrorism activities. These requirements should be reinstated.

Endnotes

- 1 iCasualties, "Home," available at http://icasualties.org/ (last accessed September 2020); Iraq Body Count, "Home," available at https://www.iraqbodycount.org/ (last accessed September 2020); U.N. Assistance Mission in Afghanistan, "Afghanistan: Protection of Civilians in Armed Conflict, 2019" (Kabul: 2019), available at https://unama.unmissions. org/sites/default/files/afghanistan_protection_of_civilians_annual_report_2019_-_22_february.pdf.
- 2 Amy Belasco, "The Cost of Iraq, Afghanistan, and Other Global War on Terror Operations Since 9/11" (Washington: Congressional Research Service, 2014), available at https:// fas.org/sgp/crs/natsec/RL33110.pdf; U.S. Department of Defense, "Defense Budget Overview" (Washington: 2020), available at https://comptroller.defense.gov/Portals/45/ Documents/defbudget/fy2021/fy2021_Budget_Request_ Overview_Book.pdf.
- 3 Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs at Brown University, "Caring for US Veterans," available at https://watson.brown.edu/costsofwar/costs/economic/ budget/veterans (last accessed September 2020).
- 4 Counter Terrorism Guide, "Al-Qa'ida In the Arabian Peninsula (AQAP)," available at https://www.dni.gov/nctc/ groups/aqap.html (last accessed September 2020).
- 5 Counter Terrorism Guide, "Boko Haram," available at https://www.dni.gov/nctc/groups/boko_haram.html (last accessed September 2020).
- 6 Counter Terrorism Guide, "Islamic State of Iraq and the Levant (ISIL)," available at https://www.dni.gov/nctc/groups/ isil.html (last accessed September 2020).
- 7 Peter Bergen and others, "What is the Threat to the United States Today," New America, available at https://www. newamerica.org/in-depth/terrorism-in-america/whatthreat-united-states-today/ (last accessed September 2020).
- 8 The New York Times, "Three Hours of Terror in Paris, Moment by Moment," available at https://www.nytimes.com/ interactive/2015/11/13/world/europe/paris-shootingattacks.html (last accessed September 2020); Guy Chazan, "Germany: A nation 'looks over its shoulder", Financial Times, December 23, 2016, available at https://www. ft.com/content/57d98086-c8fd-11e6-8f29-9445cac8966f.
- 9 David Bond and Guy Chazan, "Rightwing terror in Europe draws fuel from populism and xenophobia," Financial Times, October 9, 2018, available at https://www.ft.com/ content/86f2645a-c7a2-11e8-ba8f-ee390057b8c9.
- 10 Executive Office of the President, "Remarks by the President at the National Defense University," Press release, May 23, 2013, available at https://obamawhitehouse.archives. gov/the-press-office/2013/05/23/remarks-presidentnational-defense-university.
- 11 Sharif Hassan and Susannah George, "Taliban attacks in Afghanistan surge after U.S. peace deal, inflicting heavy casualties," The Washington Post, May 1, 2020, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/asia_pacific/ taliban-attacks-in-afghanistan-surge-after-us-peace-dealinflicting-heavy-casualties/2020/04/30/1362fb40-88c0-11ea-80df-d24b35a568ae_story.html.
- 12 Alex Ward, "2020 Democrats finally got specific on foreign policy in the Iowa debate," Vox, January 16, 2020, available at https://www.vox.com/2020/1/14/21066533/2020-iowadebate-iran-war-trade-usmca-china.

- 13 Richard Goldberg, "Trump Has an Iran Strategy. This Is It.", The New York Times, January 24, 2020, available at https:// www.nytimes.com/2020/01/24/opinion/trump-iran.html.
- 14 Sina Toossi, "Iran Is Becoming Immune to U.S. Pressure," Foreign Policy, July 2, 2020, available at https://foreignpolicy. com/2020/07/02/iran-united-states-maximum-pressure/.
- 15 Thomas Gibbons-Neff and Julian E. Barnes, "Trump Wants Troops in Afghanistan Home by Election Day. The Pentagon Is Drawing Up Plans.", The New York Times, May 26, 2020, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/26/world/ asia/afghanistan-troop-withdrawal-election-day.html.
- 16 Karen DeYoung and Susannah George, "Trump's talk of Afghanistan cease-fire appears to surprise the Taliban, Afghan government," The Washington Post, November 29, 2019, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/nationalsecurity/trumps-talk-of-afghanistan-cease-fire-appears-tosurprise-the-taliban-afghan-government/2019/11/29/3a661 a34-12d1-11ea-b0fc-62cc38411ebb_story.html.
- 17 John Cassidy, "Trump's Syria Policy Is a Strategic and Political Disaster," The New Yorker, October 15, 2019, https:// www.newyorker.com/news/our-columnists/trumps-syriapolicy-is-a-strategic-and-political-disaster.
- 18 Robbie Gramer, Dan de Luce, and Colum Lynch, "How the Trump Administration Broke the State Department," Foreign Policy, July 31, 2017, available at https://foreignpolicy.com/2017/07/31/how-the-trump-administrationbroke-the-state-department/; Barbara Stephenson, "Time to Ask Why," American Foreign Service Association, December 2017, available at https://afsa-nfe2015.informz. net/informzdataservice/onlineversion/ind/bWFpbGluZ2luc3RhbmNlaWQ9NzEwMTE2MyZzdWJzY3JpYmVyaWQ9M-TA4MzgxMjY1MA==.
- 19 Danny Vinik, "The State Department hasn't been authorized in 13 Years," Politico, September 4, 2015, available at https://www.politico.com/agenda/story/2015/09/ the-state-department-hasnt-been-authorized-in-13-years-000219/.
- 20 Executive Office of the President, "National Security Presidential Memorandum/NSPM-11" (Washington: 2018), available at https://fas.org/irp/offdocs/nspm/nspm-11.pdf.
- 21 Erin Cunningham, Anne Gearan, and Carol Morello, "U.S. blames Iran for attack on oil tankers, releases video purporting to show Iranians removing mine," The Wash ington Post, June 13, 2019, available at https://www. washingtonpost.com/world/oil-tankers-attacked-in-gulfof-oman-us-navy-says/2019/06/13/d59b784c-8db0-11e9b162-8f6f41ec3c04_story.html; Ben Hubbard, Palko Karasz, and Stanley Reed, "Tow Major Saudi Oil Installations Hit by Drone Strike, and U.S. Blames Iran," The New York Times, September 14, 2019, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2019/09/14/world/middleeast/saudi-arabia-refineries-drone-attack.html.
- 22 Mara Karlin and Tamara Cofman Wittes, "America's Middle East Purgatory," Foreign Affairs, January/February 2019, available at https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/ middle-east/2018-12-11/americas-middle-east-purgatory.
- 23 Executive Office of the President, "U.S.-Gulf Cooperation Council Camp David Joint Statement," Press release, May 14, 2015, available at https://obamawhitehouse.archives. gov/the-press-office/2015/05/14/us-gulf-cooperationcouncil-camp-david-joint-statement.

- 24 Margaret Besheer, "In Yemen, Signs of De-escalation in Fighting," Voice of America, November 22, 2019, available at https://www.voanews.com/middle-east/yemen-signsde-escalation-fighting.
- 25 Michael E. O'Hanlon and Sara Allawi, "The relationship between Iraq and the US is in danger of collapse. That can't happen.", Brookings Institution, March 20, 2020, available at https://www.brookings.edu/blog/order-fromchaos/2020/03/20/the-relationship-between-iraq-and-theus-is-in-danger-of-collapse-that-cant-happen/.
- 26 CBS News, "Transcript: President Trump on 'Face the Nation,' February 3, 2019," February 3, 2019, available at https://www.cbsnews.com/news/transcript-presidenttrump-on-face-the-nation-february-3-2019/; Ryan Teague Beckwith, "Read Hillary Clinton and Donald Trump's Remarks at a Military Forum," Time, September 7, 2016, available at https://time.com/4483355/commander-chiefforum-clinton-trump-intrepid/.
- 27 Dan De Luce, "No guarantees for Afghan women in draft U.S.-Taliban deal," NBC News, February 23, 2020, available at https://www.nbcnews.com/politics/national-security/ no-guarantees-afghan-women-draft-u-s-taliban-dealn1140471.
- 28 Alliance for Peacebuilding, "Global Fragility Act," available at https://www.allianceforpeacebuilding.org/globalfragilityact/ (last accessed September 2020).
- 29 Kathleen J. McInnis and Nathan J. Lucas, "What is 'Building Partner Capacity?' Issues for Congress" (Washington: Congressional Research Service, 2015), available at https:// fas.org/sgp/crs/natsec/R44313.pdf.
- 30 Loren DeJonge Schulman and Alice Friend, "The Pentagon's Transparency Problem: Why Accurate Troop Levels Are So Hard to Find," Foreign Affairs, May 2, 2018, available at https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/unitedstates/2018-05-02/pentagons-transparency-problem.
- 31 Stephen Tankel, "Donald Trump's Shadow War," Politico, May 9, 2018, available at https://www.politico.com/magazine/ story/2018/05/09/donald-trumps-shadow-war-218327.
- 32 Thomas Gibbons-Neff, "U.S. Military Killed 132 Civilians in Wars Last Year, Pentagon Says," The New York Times, May 7, 2020, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/07/ world/middleeast/pentagon-civilian-deaths-afghanistaniraq-syria.html.
- 33 The Economist, "How many civilians does America kill in air strikes?", April 4, 2019, available at https://www.economist. com/united-states/2019/04/04/how-many-civilians-doesamerica-kill-in-air-strikes.
- 34 Helene Cooper, "In Rare Admission, U.S. Military Says Strikes Killed 2 Civilian in Somalia," The New York Times, April 27, 2020, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2020/04/27/world/africa/africa-command-civiliancasualties-somalia.html.
- 35 Mujib Mashal, "Afghan and U.S. Forces Blamed for Killing More Civilians This Year Than Taliban Have," The New York Times, July 30, 2019, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2019/07/30/world/asia/afghanistan-civilian-casualties.html.
- 36 U.N. News, "Afghanistan: Civilian casualties exceed 10,000 for sixth straight year," February 22, 2020, available at https://news.un.org/en/story/2020/02/1057921.

- 37 Declan Walsh, "Saudi Warplanes, Most Made in America, Still Bomb Civilians in Yemen," The New York Times, May 22, 2019, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2019/05/22/ world/middleeast/saudi-yemen-airstrikes-civilians. html; Samy Magdy, "Report: Death toll from Yemen's war hit 100,000 since 2015," Associated Press, October 31, 2019, available at https://apnews.com/b7f039269a-394b7aa2b46430e3d9b6bc.
- 38 U.N. Security Council Counter-Terrorism Committee, "Member States Concerned by the Growing and Increasingly Transnational Threat of Extreme Right-Wing Terrorism" (New York: 2020), available at https://www.un.org/sc/ctc/ wp-content/uploads/2020/04/CTED_Trends_Alert_Extreme_Right-Wing_Terrorism.pdf.
- 39 Jason Paladino, "The Pentagon's War on Transparency," Project on Government Oversight, December 5, 2019, available at https://www.pogo.org/analysis/2019/12/thepentagon-war-on-transparency/.
- 40 Dave Phillips, "Anguish and Anger From the Navy SEALs Who Turned In Edward Gallagher," The New York Times, December 27, 2019, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2019/12/27/us/navy-seals-edward-gallagher-video. html; Katherine Gypson, "Trump, Congress Spar Over Iran War Powers," Voice of America, January 7, 2020, available at https://www.voanews.com/usa/trump-congress-sparover-iran-war-powers#https%3A%2F%2Fwww.voanews. com%2Fusa%2Ftrump-congress-spar-over-iran-war-powers; National Security Archive, "How Transparent is President Trump? Audit Shows Three-Quarters of His Decisions Have Been Bad for Openness," March 12, 2020, available at https://nsarchive.gwu.edu/foia-audit/foia/2020-03-13.
- 41 Executive Office of the President, "United States Policy on Pre- and Post-Strike Measures To Address Civilian Casualties in U.S. Operations Involving the Use of Force," Federal Register 81 (130) (2016): 44485-44487, available at https://fas.org/irp/offdocs/eo/eo-13732.pdf; Executive Office of the President, "Revocation of Reporting Requirement," Federal Register 84 (47) (2019): 8789-8790, available at https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2019-03-11/pdf/2019-04595.pdf.
- 42 U.S. Department of Justice, "Procedures for Approving Direct Action Against Terrorist Targets Located Outside the United States and Areas of Active Hostilities" (Washington: 2013), available at https://www.justice.gov/oip/foialibrary/procedures_for_approving_direct_action_against_ terrorist_targets/download.
- 43 Robert Chesney, "President Trump Ponders Changes to the Lethal Force Policy Constraints: What You Need to Know," Lawfare, September 22, 2017, available at https://www. lawfareblog.com/president-trump-ponders-changeslethal-force-policy-constraints-what-you-need-know.
- 44 Tommy Ross and Melissa Dalton, "A Roadmap for Better Choices From Security Partners," War on the Rocks, January 17, 2020, available at https://warontherocks. com/2020/01/a-roadmap-for-better-choices-from-securitypartners/.
- 45 Executive Office of the President, "National Security Presidential Memorandum Regarding U.S. Conventional Arms Transfer Policy," Press release, April 19, 2018, available at https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/ national-security-presidential-memorandum-regarding-us-conventional-arms-transfer-policy/.
- 46 Jennie W. Wenger, Caolionn O'Connell, and Linda Cottrell, "Examination of Recent Deployment Experience Across the Services and Components" (Santa Monica, CA: Rand Corporation, 2018), available at https://www.rand.org/ pubs/research_reports/RR1928.html?adbsc=social_20180 320_2212921&adbid=975928167633334272&adbpl=tw&a dbpr=22545453.

- 47 U.S. Department of Defense, "Casualty Status," Press release, September 8, 2020, available at https://www. defense.gov/casualty.pdf.
- 48 U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, "Veterans Benefits Administration Reports" (Washington: 2020), available at https://www.benefits.va.gov/REPORTS/abr/.
- 49 Christine Scott, "Veterans Affairs: Historical Budget Authority, FY1940-FY2012" (Washington: Congressional Research Service, 2012), available at https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/ RS22897.pdf; U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, "FY 2021 Budget Submission" (Washington: 2020), available at https://www.va.gov/budget/products.asp#:~:text=VA%20 is%20requesting%20a%20total,above%20fiscal%20 2020%20enacted%20levels.
- 50 U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, "Veterans Health Administration," available at https://www.va.gov/health/ (last accessed September 2020).
- 51 Leo Shane III, "As staff vacancies at VA rise, lawmaker wants answers why," Military Times, December 19, 2019, available at https://www.militarytimes.com/news/pentagon-congress/2019/12/19/as-staff-vacancies-at-va-rise-lawmakerwants-answers-why/.

- 52 U.S. Government Accountability Office, "VA Should Establish Goals and Measures to Enable Improved Oversight of Facilities' Conditions" (Washington: 2018), available at https://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-19-21.
- 53 Leo Shane III, "Veterans' remote mental health appointments skyrocket amid coronavirus outbreak," Military Times, April 13, 2020, available at https://www. militarytimes.com/news/2020/04/13/veterans-remotemental-health-appointments-skyrocket-amid-coronavirusoutbreak/.
- 54 U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, "2019 National Veteran Suicide Prevention Annual Report" (Washington: 2019), available at https://www.mentalhealth.va.gov/docs/datasheets/2019/2019_National_Veteran_Suicide_Prevention_Annual_Report_508.pdf.
- 55 Philip Carter, "The Vets We Reject and Ignore," The New York Times, November 10, 2013, available at https://www. nytimes.com/2013/11/11/opinion/the-vets-we-reject-andignore.html.
- 56 U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, "Military Sexual Trauma," available at https://www.mentalhealth.va.gov/ mentalhealth/msthome/index.asp (last accessed Septem-



Recalibrating U.S. Global Relationships

America's international reputation has suffered greatly from the current administration's abandonment of alliances, disregard of democratic values, and mishandling of the COVID-19 pandemic. The next administration will need to make a concerted effort to rebuild relationships with democratic allies and partners, offering a new vision for global engagement with democratic values at its core. The following chapter provides recommendations to restore democratic partnerships, compete more effectively with adversaries, and recalibrate relationships to fit today's challenges.

America's global position is no longer unrivaled. Democracy is under siege, international institutions are under strain, rapid technological transformation has unintentionally benefited autocrats, and America's image has been greatly tarnished. Over the past four years, the world has not stood still and waited for America to sort out its own dysfunction. The next administration will represent an America whose reputation and alliances have been badly battered.

Since 2017, the United States has regularly been absent on the world stage, skipping important international meetings and ignoring key global efforts. When the Trump administration has been engaged, it has mostly sought to obstruct progress. Instead of leading, America has become a country that others have to manage or work around, while authoritarian and illiberal regimes leverage America's absence to their benefit.¹ As a result, the international community has grown increasingly accustomed to a world without U.S. leadership.

America's abdication of global leadership has led to little progress in addressing major global challenges, most notably the COVID-19 pandemic. As the pandemic worsened, no cohesive global policy was put forth—in part because of a lack of U.S. leadership and an incompetent response by the Trump administration. While the United States has struggled with its own mistakes, much of the world—in particular long-standing U.S. allies—has struggled without America's ability to build coalitions to galvanize action and organize global responses.²

America's competitors and adversaries will not be eager to see the United States try to lead again. China and Russia have sought to expand their influence and fill some of the gaps that America's retreat has left. These rivals seek a less-liberal world in which they lead—not one in which America, in partnership with democratic allies, drives global action.³ The United States should demonstrate that a liberal democratic system is the best form of government. While the emergence of this renewed competition has brought comparisons to the Cold War, proving the efficacy of liberal democracies requires neither a dangerous arms race nor constant military interventions.

Ultimately, the next administration cannot pretend the past four years never happened. The world has dramatically changed, and a broad recalibration of U.S. foreign policy must take place. There is no way to return to the status quo of a few years ago, nor should the next administration embrace such an effort. The United States needs to look at its global relationships—with democratic allies, adversaries, or even morechallenging partners—in an entirely new way.

This recalibration must entail rebuilding relations with democratic allies and partners, recommitting to America's liberal democratic principles, and offering a positive global vision that seeks bold action to address the world's most pressing challenges. First and foremost, this recalibration will also require emphasizing U.S. global relationships that align more directly with our democratic values. It will require action to position the United States to compete internationally and deliver results for the American people. And finally, it will require bold shifts on legacy relationships that no longer serve U.S. interests.

In addition to the long-term repairs the next administration will need to undertake, prioritizing action in the first 100 days is critical. Where the next administration spends its time and focus—whether on presidential trips, meetings, or initiatives, virtual or otherwise—will signal its priorities to the world. The recommendations that follow do not cover every corner of the globe, and certainly not every important relationship. Rather, they are an attempt to strategically recalibrate U.S. efforts overall. To support long-term U.S. national security interests and better align U.S. foreign policy in support of democratic values, in its first 100 days, the next administration should:

- 1. Prioritize democratic allies and partners.
- 2. Compete more effectively with China.
- 3. Stand up to Russia.
- 4. Recalibrate relations with backsliding allies, toxic partners, and long-standing adversaries.

The recommendations that follow offer a wide array of options and approaches for advancing these goals.

Prioritize democratic allies and partners

The next administration must first embrace a bold approach and vision that puts democratic values at the forefront of U.S. foreign policy.⁴ To do this, the United States should seek to rebuild and revive existing relationships with its traditional democratic allies as well as build stronger ties with other democracies around the world.

America must reengage its allies and partners with humility while leading by example. The next administration will have to earn the trust of the world, which will require acknowledging the United States' democratic shortcomings and human rights failures at home. Instead of dictating to allies or immediately making new demands, the next administration will need to listen and strive to build more durable partnerships, including restoring trust with the United States' closest friends. The administration will also need to humbly reengage with multilateral institutions.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Reimagine the trans-Atlantic relationship

The trans-Atlantic relationship is in crisis, and it is largely America's own doing. The Trump administration has essentially abandoned Europe, taking an overtly hostile approach to NATO and the European Union.⁵ This abandonment has left some of America's key allies shaken, looking for ways to move forward without the United States. A fundamentally new approach is needed to revive the trans-Atlantic relationship. The United States will need to do more than just recommit to the NATO alliance. It should seek to build a new strategic partnership with the EU.6 As a part of this reimagining of the trans-Atlantic relationship, the next administration should take the following steps in the first 100 days:

 Plan for the president's first overseas trip to be to Europe, when safe to do so, with a first stop in Brussels to visit the EU and NATO headquarters. This trip would signal the importance of democratic allies and values. The president should give a speech before the European Parliament to lay out a bold new vision for trans-Atlantic

relations, expressing a desire to launch a new U.S.-EU partnership. The speech should announce U.S. support for European integration and call for the United States and Europe to forge common approaches to key global issues such as climate, pandemic response, China, and the shared threats of rising authoritarianism and democratic backsliding. A president's declaration to collaborate with Europe to lead on climate action, in particular, would reinforce the administration's message of returning to global leadership and repairing trans-Atlantic relations.

- **Develop a new trans-Atlantic agenda.** The president should announce the establishment of new joint U.S.-EU working groups on climate, post-COVID-19 economic recovery, China, election interference, technology, and digital trade, with the goal of issuing a new trans-Atlantic agenda at the next U.S.-EU Summit.
- Send a high-profile delegation, led by the U.S. vice president, to the Munich Security Conference to announce a new set of U.S.-NATO initiatives. The annual Munich Security Conference in February will be an early chance for the next administration to signal its commitment to the NATO alliance as well as launch a series of new U.S. initiatives to strengthen and modernize the alliance. This could include launching a NATO investment initiative—a mixture of grants and loans that would incentivize former Warsaw Pact NATO members to retire their aging and decrepit Soviet/ Russian equipment and would bring these countries into compliance with U.S. sanctions against Russia's defense industry.



QUICK WIN: Announce an end to the trade war with the EU. On day one, the next administration should announce they will work to end the trade war with the EU.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Embrace Mexico early and often

Mexico is a critical, strategic, and longtime U.S. partner and needs to be treated as such, especially following the contentious and nativist rhetoric of recent years. Mexico is also the United States' top trading partner. North American supply chains are key to U.S. manufacturing and resilience. The integration of U.S. and Mexican energy supply chains has critical implications for energy security and climate change, and Mexican agriculture and agricultural workers are critical to U.S. food security. Although the southwest U.S. border is temporarily closed for nonessential travel, in normal times, more people legally enter the United States from Mexico than from any other country, making it a key de facto partner on COVID-19 resilience. It is also a critical partner for managing migration—from the Americas as well as from around the world—into the United States.⁷

Helping Mexico build up its capacity to manage this migration and to provide asylum and host refugees in a fair and humane manner will be critical in the coming years. To do so, in its first 100 days, the next administration should:



QUICK WIN: Meet with the president of Mexico before Inauguration Day. The president should then also make an official trip to Mexico in the early months of the administration.



QUICK WIN: Prioritize the nomination of a U.S. ambassador to Mexico as part of the first slate of nominations in the early days of the administration. The appointee should also be immensely qualified and an expert on the country with strong ties to the U.S. president.

- Ensure that the secretaries of state, homeland security, energy, and commerce each visit Mexico within the administration's first 100 days or convene virtually if health restrictions prevent travel. The secretaries should coordinate their visits to pursue a productive and forward-looking policy agenda.
- Announce a set of joint U.S.-Mexico initiatives on migration and COVID-19 response. To ensure public safety and maintain the flow of commerce and people that supports both economies, the United States and Mexico will need to follow the advice of public health experts, closely coordinate with each other, and make sure that long-established cross-border lifestyles are not affected or become a factor in contributing to the spread of the virus. The United States should also announce a new set of assistance—financial, logistical, and more—to help Mexico manage its migration in a humane way. This would include building up Mexico's internal asylum system, building up capacity on the Mexican side of the U.S. border, and encouraging a humanitarian rather than a solely enforcement-based response on Mexico's southern border.



Place U.S. alliances in the Asia-Pacific on a stronger foundation for the future

The Trump administration's approach to America's allies in Asia has been upside down; the administration has treated our democratic allies with disdain while embracing authoritarian leaders who are working to erode their countries' democratic institutions. President Trump's approach to South Korea has bordered on hostile, with repeated attempts to extort our ally for more money, ridicule the importance of the alliances and the U.S. troop presence, and often cut Seoul out of diplomacy with North Korea.8

Australia and Japan, while not suffering nearly as badly as other U.S. allies around the world, have had dustups with the current Trump administration and been the targets of tariffs. To facilitate putting U.S. alliances on a stronger footing for the future, the next administration should prioritize the following steps in the first 100 days:

 Plan a joint visit of the secretaries of state and defense, when safe to do so, to top U.S. democratic allies in the Asia-Pacific: Japan, the Republic of Korea, Australia, and **New Zealand.** The primary goal of the trip will be to reassure these core allies and listen to their concerns about the trajectory of key challenges facing the region. It will be a chance for the next administration to move away from the transactional approach of the current administration.



QUICK WIN: Immediately suspend cost-sharing negotiations with Japan and the Republic of Korea until after an assessment can be made on the future of U.S. defense strategy. While burdensharing is important for the sustainability of our alliances, the Trump administration has attempted to use these negotiations to extort U.S. allies for political purposes. The next administration will need to reexamine its defense strategy in the region, prioritize long-term cost-sharing agreements that are fair, and address the concerns of Japan and Korea, as well as the United States.

 Announce support for fully funding the Pacific Deterrence Initiative in the FY 2022 budget submission.9 Earlier this year, the U.S. Senate passed the bipartisan Pacific Deterrence Initiative—a multibillion-dollar, multiyear fund to improve U.S. deterrence against China. The administration should demonstrate support for this effort by including funding for this initiative in its FY 2022 budget request.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Actively engage with African nations

The African continent has historically been a low priority for U.S. foreign policy. Yet the continent is home to about half of the world's fastest-growing economies, with 20 African economies expected to expand at an average rate of 5 percent or more over the next five years. Also expanding is Africa's population, which is expected to double from 1.2 billion to 2.4 billion by 2050. 10 From climate change and pandemic responses to cybergovernance, African countries will play a significant role in the future of global affairs. What happens in Africa does not stop at the water's edge, as recent examples with piracy, migration, and Ebola demonstrate. In a crowded policy landscape, Africa offers both opportunities and challenges. The United States would be wise to partner with African nations on trade, investment, and innovation and should prioritize support to African democracies. The United States should also work bilaterally and multilaterally with African nations to prevent and mitigate threats from terrorism, criminality, epidemics, and mass migration. The next administration must engage with African countries and people in productive partnerships that are based on mutual respect for democratic principles and inclusive growth. To advance such a vision, in the first 100 days, the next administration should:

- Release a presidential policy directive on U.S. policy toward Africa. This policy directive should outline a new U.S. diplomatic, security, and economic approach to the African continent that prioritizes sustainable development, including a focus on clean energy development and support for countries to adapt to climate change impacts.
- Send a high-level U.S. delegation to visit key democratic African countries. The next administration needs to send a strong signal after the current administration's neglect. Once travel is permitted, the vice president should lead a high-level U.S. delegation to visit key democratic African countries to signal a new era in productive relations as well as signal America's renewed commitment to democracy.
- Announce that the White House will host the U.S.-Africa Leaders Summit in 2022 and regularize every four years. A U.S.-Africa Leaders Summit has not been held since 2014. Announcing the intention to restart these summits will demonstrate a highlevel commitment to furthering ties between Washington and African capitals. The priorities for the summit should include trade, investment, and innovation and should underscore America's commitment to the continent's people, democracy, and security.

Compete more effectively with China

The next administration will confront not only an extraordinarily contentious U.S.-China relationship but also a largely ineffective national strategy when it comes to delivering results for the American people. The next administration should take stock of the U.S. approach, engage with allies and partners, and fashion a more collective approach to dealing with the challenges that China presents. The Trump administration's approach to China has made American prosperity and security contingent on Beijing's willingness to change its behavior; has failed to work with allies and partners to form a common cause; and has failed to make much-needed investments at home that would enable the United States to compete over the long term. To recalibrate this dynamic, the next administration must signal a complete shift to a more effective U.S. strategy. To implement such a shift in the first 100 days, the next administration should:



QUICK WIN: Prioritize nominating a U.S. ambassador to China in the first slate of ambassadorial nominations. A trusted adviser to the president who is in full agreement with the next administration's approach to China policy should be among the early slate of ambassadorial nominations.

- Engage key U.S. allies on China to solicit their input on a new U.S. strategy and begin laying the groundwork for a more collective approach. The president should also send a top U.S. national security team—including senior directors for Asia and China from the National Security Council, U.S. Department of State, and U.S. Department of Defense—to Europe, Japan, South Korea, Australia, New Zealand, and Canada in the first month of the next administration—or, pending health restrictions, convene virtually. The goal of these meetings should be to seek allied input and alignment before any new U.S. China strategy is released.
- Develop and roll out a new U.S. strategy on China. Given the scale of the challenges presented by China, the United States should launch a White House-led policy review on China beginning on day one. At the 100-day mark, this group should present the outline of the new China policy to the president, with buy-in from allies and key stakeholder groups.

- Stand up a new White House-led Task Force on American Competitiveness to design and implement a National Competitiveness Initiative. The objective of the task force should be to design a multiyear plan to improve U.S. economic competitiveness in order to better compete with China and other economies that are engaged in advanced manufacturing, including action to direct and fund basic research, bridge the gap between research and industrial applications, transfer new technology to small and medium enterprises, and support workforce development for noncollege workers. The restoration of manufacturing jobs as a good source of middle-class incomes—and development of the green technology that will be needed to deal with climate change—should be central goals. This task force should be led by domestic staff but cut across the Executive Office of the President and include representatives from the Domestic Policy Council, the National Climate Council, 11 the National Security Council, the Council of Economic Advisers, the National Economic Council, the U.S. Trade Representative, and other relevant departments and agencies. This task force should work in close cooperation with the U.S. Congress, labor groups, the business community, and the academic community.
- Launch a new, more multilateral trade approach on China. The next administration should seek to break from the unilateral trade war launched by the current Trump administration and instead design and implement a more multilateral approach to more effectively address China's egregious economic and trade behavior. This could include taking collective action at the World Trade Organization, including by filing a nullification and impairment case against China. It could also include launching a reconsideration of multilateral and bilateral trade agreements to make them consistent with domestic steps needed to restore U.S. manufacturing competitiveness and to incorporate labor and environmental standards in an effective manner. The next administration should carefully consider how to leverage any reduction in U.S. trade tariffs against China to support this more collective approach.



QUICK WIN: Send an early, supportive U.S. signal to both Hong Kong and Taiwan. The next administration should consider some early policy moves in support of Hong Kong and Taiwan. Examples of the moves could include high-level U.S. official engagements with Taiwanese officials, the granting of Temporary Protected Status and special immigration status to the people of Hong Kong, presidential-level statements of support for democratic rights, and other diplomatic initiatives.



QUICK WIN: Invite Chinese human rights advocates to the White House for a meeting with the president. This meeting should address ways to pressure China on its atrocious treatment of millions of Uighur Muslims currently in concentration camps. This meeting should also serve as a vehicle for the next administration to announce U.S. sanctions against individuals and entities that contribute to the repression of Uighurs in China.



QUICK WIN: Rejoin the World Health Organization, the U.N. Human Rights Council, and the Paris Climate Agreement and engage more actively in these and other international forums. China is currently taking advantage of the U.S. absence and lack of initiative in multilateral institutions. The next administration should immediately reengage and seek to rejoin international forums in order to counter China's influence.

• Raise the bar on China's climate change commitments. U.S. withdrawal from the Paris agreement and backtracking on climate change action has ceded reputational and substantive leadership on climate to China. The next administration should pair ambitious domestic policies with coordinated international initiatives to raise the standards for China to achieve on its own actions. As part of their domestic climate policies, for example, the United States and the EU could both agree to adopt a carbon border adjustment tax, which would increase the import price of Chinese goods produced using high-emission processes. Early action in the first 100 days on both domestic and international coordination on climate change would help shift the dynamic toward greater U.S. leadership.

Stand up to Russia

Russia is actively seeking to undermine the United States and its democratic allies, especially in Europe, and there are few boundaries Russia is not willing to cross. Under President Vladimir Putin, Russia has declared itself an adversary of the United States and should be treated as such. The Trump administration has spent the past four years enabling Putin to advance his international agenda, sowing discord and division among democracies and international institutions. The next administration will need to end that pattern and establish new redlines in the relationship. To deter Russia, costs need to be imposed for its belligerent behavior and gross violations of international law. While there will be little room to reset relations or remove sanctions, that does not mean the United States should not engage with Russia, particularly on areas of potential cooperation, including arms control and extending the New START Treaty. However, there will need to be a dramatic shift in the U.S. posture toward Russia. The next administration will have to engage democratic allies to jointly protect against destabilizing acts and interference, including illicit financial flows emanating from Russia. (see the "Living Our Democratic Values" section of this report) In the first 100 days, the next administration should:

- Announce new sanctions against key Kremlin backers and pledge to fully implement U.S. sanctions laws. The Trump administration has failed to adequately implement the 2017 sanctions legislation against Russia. Instead, the administration has rolled back sanctions against key Russian oligarchs. The next administration should send an immediate message to the Kremlin's oligarch backers, many of whom keep their funds in the West, that doing so has a price. The administration should also review and assess past sanctions and make recommendations for additional action. Existing illicit finance tools at the U.S. Department of the Treasury could also be used to expose kleptocrats who pursue the Kremlin's agenda in democracies.
- Directly engage the Russian people with a presidential video address. While taking a harder line against President Putin's government, it will be important to continue to try to engage and enable people-to-people contacts with the Russian people and avoid xenophobic treatment of Russians in the United States and around the world.

• Send a show of support to the intelligence community by visiting the CIA's Russia **House.** The Trump administration has attacked the intelligence community and frequently dismissed its work related to Russia. Once such a visit is possible, or virtually, the president should meet with CIA staff and the National Intelligence Council and thank them for their efforts, making it clear that the next administration highly values their work.



QUICK WIN: Announce U.S. opposition to Russia returning to the Group of Eight (G8). The next administration should make an early announcement that it will oppose any Russian reentry into the G8.

 Call for Russia to be suspended from Interpol. The United States should work to suspend Russia from Interpol for abusing the organization for political purposes.



QUICK WIN: Send a presidential letter to Putin that reestablishes redlines. The president should send a letter to President Putin to lay out U.S. concerns with respect to Russia's destabilizing and illegal behavior, including its interference in the U.S. presidential elections, its ongoing foreign election interference, as well as its destabilizing actions in places such as Ukraine, Syria, Afghanistan, and Libya. The letter should also signal that the U.S. vice president will be the designated point person for managing the U.S. relationship with Russia, distancing it from the president.



QUICK WIN: Execute a major U.S. military exercise on the Russian periphery. The U.S. Department of Defense should conduct a major military exercise in the first 100 days to underscore U.S. resolve to defend U.S. allies and deter Russian aggression.

 Work with Congress to make Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty an independent **nongovernmental organization.** This would allow for it to receive a direct appropriation from Congress that will ensure its integrity and independence. It would also enable it to deliver truthful information to the Russian people—and others on the continent on their government's policies and conduct.

Recalibrate relations with backsliding allies, toxic partners, and longstanding adversaries

The next administration should signal to adversaries that it is open to dialogue—but not at a cost to U.S. values or national security interests. U.S. engagement should be strategic and purpose driven, whether on relations with North Korea and Iran or on other issues such as arms control negotiations with Russia. Ultimately, engagement cannot be an end in and of itself or driven by narrow domestic political purposes. It must be targeted toward a tangible goal of advancing U.S. national security. Instead of engaging adversaries right away, the next administration should seek to strengthen its global position, increase its leverage, and coordinate with allies before offering abrupt and ill-thought-out diplomatic overtures.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Deleverage the United States from Turkey

The next administration should work to actively deleverage itself from its relationship with Turkey, especially on security matters. While Turkey will remain a major player in both the Middle East and Europe, the next administration should send early signals that it will be taking a new approach. In the first 100 days, the next administration should:

 Remove U.S. nuclear weapons from Turkey. President Recep Tayyip Erdoğan has sought to chart a more independent course with less deference to traditional Western security partners. He has adopted a transactional approach toward relations with the United States and Europe and deepened ties with Iran, China, and Russia. Turkey is choosing a more independent, assertive path. The next administration should recognize this reality and adapt. That does not mean lurching to a purely punitive approach—but given the depth of corruption and autocracy in Turkey, it does mean the United States should work to reduce its reliance on Ankara. As a first step, the next administration should work to quietly remove all nuclear weapons from Incirlik Air Base. And it should be done immediately, without a lengthy interagency review, to allow the administration to attempt to rebuild relations from a more realistic foundation.

 Launch a broad U.S. policy review on Turkey. This review should address all dimensions of the relationship, including security, economic, and diplomatic relations. The goal should be to craft a more realistic and updated strategy for dealing with a more assertive Turkey that is willing to take unilateral action and defy alliance norms.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Reset U.S. relationships with Gulf partners

The United States has had long and complicated relationships with many of its Gulf partners, especially Saudi Arabia, the United Arab Emirates (UAE), and Qatar. The Trump administration has essentially written a blank check to some of these partners, resulting in disastrous consequences for U.S. interests, deepened humanitarian crises, and long-term moral implications for U.S. policy. 13 While practical cooperation will be necessary to deal with everything from Iran's destabilizing behavior to Arab-Israeli peace, and even COVID-19, the next administration should take stock of whether U.S. interests are being well served by the status quo and take some early steps to signal a new approach. In the first 100 days, the next administration should:



QUICK WIN: Suspend U.S. military assistance and arms sales to Saudi Arabia related to the war in Yemen. The next administration should immediately suspend arms sale and U.S. military assistance, in line with bipartisan congressional legislation, to countries engaged in the destructive war in Yemen that has resulted in untold devastation and civilian atrocities. It should also suspend U.S. operational and targeting support to the Saudi-led coalition in Yemen.



QUICK WIN: Dispatch the secretary of state to visit key Gulf partners. The next administration should task the secretary of state with engaging on a new regional diplomatic strategy, including expressions of U.S. support for emerging Gulf-Iran diplomatic channels, conflict resolution and humanitarian relief in Yemen, efforts to mend the rift within the Gulf Cooperation Council, and expanded Iraq-Gulf ties.

 Launch a review of U.S. military posture in the Gulf region to consider how to more effectively and sustainably deter Iran in the context of other global priorities. It is increasingly clear that more U.S. military presence in the region is not necessarily deterring Iran. This review should assess the U.S. military footprint with an eye toward a more defensive posture that provides necessary core deterrence but that relies more heavily on Gulf partners' self-defense.

 Convene deputies to recommend options for holding Saudi Arabia responsible for the death of lawful U.S. resident Jamal Khashoggi. The next administration should hold a deputies-level meeting to consider U.S. government intelligence and other information regarding the 2018 death of U.S. permanent resident and journalist Jamal Khashoggi and recommend options for taking punitive steps to hold responsible Saudi leadership accountable.

New U.S. policy principles for North Korea and Iran

In addition to the actions described in this section, the next administration should strive for greater stability in its relationships with North Korea and Iran. The following principles should guide the next administration's efforts.

North Korea

- Signal a willingness to engage North Korea diplomatically, but don't agree to a summit absent meaningful diplomatic progress.
- Engage Seoul on new diplomatic way forward.
- Support North-South diplomacy.
- · Jump-start trilateral coordination between the United States, Japan, and South Korea.

Iran

- Prioritize principled diplomacy.
- Leverage U.S. reentry to the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action.
- · Deescalate tensions.
- Support Gulf-Iran rapprochement.

Conclusion

At the start of this new decade, the United States will need to restore, reset, and reexamine its relationships with its democratic allies and partners, with authoritarian challengers, and with toxic partners and long-standing adversaries. A new, principled approach will require better alignment with democratic values, partnerships to halt aggression from U.S. adversaries, and relationships that prioritize shared values rather than shared interests.



New executive orders or policies recommended in the first 100 days:

- Launch a policy review and develop a new U.S. strategy on China.
- · Create a Task Force on American Competitiveness to design and implement a National Competitiveness Initiative.
- Release a presidential policy directive on U.S. policy toward Africa that prioritizes sustainable development and a focus on adapting to climate change.
- Launch a broad policy review on Turkey.

Endnotes

- 1 Carl Bernstein, "From pandering to Putin to abusing allies and ignoring his own advisers, Trump's phone calls alarm US officials", CNN, June 30, 2020, available at https://www. cnn.com/2020/06/29/politics/trump-phone-calls-nationalsecurity-concerns/index.html.
- 2 Katrin Bennhold, "Sadness' and Disbelief From a World Missing American Leadership," The New York Times, April 23, 2020, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2020/04/23/ world/europe/coronavirus-american-exceptionalism.html.
- 3 Arch Puddington and Tyler Roylance, "Populists and Autocrats: The Dual Threat to Global Democracy" (Washington: Freedom House, 2017), available at https://freedomhouse. org/report/freedom-world/2017/populists-and-autocratsdual-threat-global-democracy.
- 4 Kelly Magsamen and others, "Securing a Democratic World: The Case for a Democratic Values-Based U.S. Foreign Policy" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2018), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ security/reports/2018/09/05/457451/securing-democraticworld/.
- 5 Constanze Stelzenmuller, "Hostile ally: The Trump challenge and Europe's inadequate response," Brookings, August 2019, available at https://www.brookings.edu/ research/hostile-ally-the-trump-challenge-and-europesinadequate-response/.
- 6 Max Bergmann, "Embrace the Union: A New Progressive Approach for Reviving the Trans-Atlantic Alliance" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/security/ reports/2019/10/31/476483/embrace-the-union/.
- 7 Dan Restrepo, Trevor Sutton, and Joel Martinez, "Getting Migration in the Americas Right: A National Interest-Driven Approach" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/security/reports/2019/06/24/471322/getting-migration-americas-right/.

- 8 Sue Mi Terry, "The Unraveling of the U.S.-South Korean Alliance," Foreign Affairs, July 3, 2020, available at https:// www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/north-korea/2020-07-03/ unraveling-us-south-korean-alliance.
- 9 Sen. Jim Inhofe and Sen. Jack Reed, "The Pacific Deterrence Initiative: Peace Through Strength in the Indo-Pacific," War on the Rocks, May 28, 2020, available at https://warontherocks.com/2020/05/the-pacific-deterrence-initiativepeace-through-strength-in-the-indo-pacific/.
- 10 United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, "World Population Prospects: The 2015 Revision, Key Findings and Advance Tables" (New York: 2015), available at https://population.un.org/wpp/Publications/Files/ Key_Findings_WPP_2015.pdf.
- 11 John Podesta and others, "A 100 Percent Clean Future" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/green/ reports/2019/10/10/475605/100-percent-clean-future/.
- 12 Freeman Spogli Institute for International Studies, "Michael McFaul Testifies on Russian Threat to the U.S. Before House Committee on Foreign Affairs," July 7, 2020, available at https://fsi.stanford.edu/news/michael-mcfaul-testifiesrussian-threat-us-house-committee-foreign-affairs.
- 13 Brian Katulis, "Trump's Blank Check Diplomacy is Remaking the U.S.-Saudi Relationship," Foreign Policy, October 23, 2018, available at https://foreignpolicy.com/2018/10/23/ trumps-blank-check-diplomacy-is-remaking-the-u-s-saudirelationship/.



Tackling Global Challenges

unprecedented Climate change, human migration, new technologies, and an ongoing pandemic are just some of the issues the next administration will face from its first day in office. Working with international partners to tackle these problems will be essential to achieving meaningful progress. The next administration will need to return to multilateralism—with renewed commitments to rebuild the trust that was lost over the past four years—to tackle this growing list of global challenges.

The Trump administration has shredded the idea that the United States is willing to work with others to address shared challenges. This abandonment of international collaboration could not have come at a worse time, with the world confronting a series of pressing, era-defining challenges that demand cooperative responses. The pandemic has starkly illustrated the need for multilateral cooperation and reminded the world of the importance of international institutions. Unfortunately, the global response has too often been hamstrung by U.S. intransigence—it is the first global crisis in a century in which the United States has failed to play a leadership role. Beyond the pandemic, the next administration must recognize that long-term, transnational trends will severely stress governments and societies in the decades to come and focus on addressing the root causes of these stressors. Rather than retreat to our respective national corners, the United States needs to humbly recommit to international cooperation.

Climate change represents the greatest threat to humanity, bringing sweeping changes to our world and our societies and threatening security and stability in a range of ways. The interaction of the damage wrought by the effects of climate change with demographic trends and resource scarcity poses direct threats to U.S. national security and will undermine countries' capacity to maintain stability. Countries will face shortages of food and water and struggle to protect the basic livelihoods of vulnerable citizens, with the crisis disproportionately affecting the poor, women, children, and Indigenous communities. Changing environmental conditions will continue to disrupt rural livelihoods, contributing to decisions to migrate and further stressing overcrowded urban areas that are themselves being affected by climate change. More frequent and severe natural disasters will spark acute crises and displacement, straining governments' ability to respond. The worse this disruption becomes, the greater the risk of state collapse or violent conflict within and between states.

Along with a changing climate, unprecedented human migration will define the global landscape for the next U.S. administration and in the decades to come. While most people move in search of better economic opportunities, the United Nations reported that more than 79 million people are forcibly displaced worldwide today. Nationalist governments and xenophobic leaders around the world routinely flout the international system set up to support refugees and asylum-seekers. Whatever moral suasion the United States once wielded as a major receiver of refugees has been lost as the Trump administration has vilified refugees and migrants, dramatically reduced refugee resettlement, and enacted policies that systematically violate human rights.

The challenge is acute and close to home. For example, more than 5 million Venezuelans have fled their country since 2015, with some 2 million more expected to flee in 2020.² Endemic violence, corruption, and poverty—exacerbated by climate change—in the Northern Triangle of Central America continue to drive out-migration from El Salvador, Guatemala, and Honduras. The next U.S. administration will have to address migration in the Americas, including any increase that may occur at the U.S.-Mexico border, with humane policies that allow people to exercise the right to seek asylum. These policies must also promote safe, legal, and orderly paths for those who wish to reunite with family abroad or seek out greater opportunity. Further afield, the Syrian refugee crisis continues to outstrip the international response, with some 6.7 million Syrians forced to flee the country and another 6 million internally displaced.³ This displacement has caused untold human suffering, placed severe strain on neighboring countries, and fed xenophobic right-wing populism across Europe. In South Asia, 900,000 Rohingya remain stateless and stranded in camps in southern Bangladesh. The United States has not mobilized sufficient resources to address these problems; it can and should do much more. Refugees comprise just one-tenth of 1 percent of the U.S. population; Germany, meanwhile, comfortably accommodates a refugee population more than 10 times greater as a share of population. As it addresses potential acute migration in the Americas, the next administration should also take early steps to begin rebuilding the international system in a way that protects the rights of the forcibly displaced.

Meanwhile, the United States has abandoned other long-term, bipartisan priorities such as arms control and nonproliferation. Under the Trump administration, the United States has plunged headlong into a new arms race with both Russia and China, directing billions to new strategic weapons, ending several arms control agreements, refusing to negotiate new controls, and contemplating resuming nuclear weapons testing. The Trump administration abandoned the Iran nuclear agreement with no plan for what followed. As a result, at the start of the next presidential term, Iran will be closer to a nuclear weapon than it was four years ago. In North Korea, too, the Trump administration has provided repeated propaganda victories to Kim Jong Un but has done nothing to slow or stop the North Korean nuclear and missile programs. The next administration—whether under former Vice President Joe Biden or a secondterm Donald Trump—should cancel the most inflammatory of these new weapons programs and return to the path of negotiation to reduce the nuclear threat.

At a time when technological advances are outpacing legal regulation and social adaptation, the Trump administration has given up any pretense of coordinating international standards for emerging lethal and disruptive technologies. The proliferation of unmanned aerial vehicle technology in the past 20 years and the rapid spread of cyberwarfare offer two cautionary examples of what can happen when governments ignore

these emerging technological disruptors. Today, rapid advances in artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning offer authoritarian regimes the ability to synthesize massive stores of data to manipulate the truth and monitor dissent. These governments are aggressively pushing these tools of control to other would-be autocrats, while the United States has largely left the European Union alone in its effort to stand up for democratic regulation of these tools. The use of robotics and autonomous weapons will transform warfare, which could dramatically increase risks to civilian populations and fundamentally change the U.S. force structure. The militarization of space continues, threatening critical systems on which the entire world relies and, if left unchecked, threatening our very ability to explore the cosmos. The United States is doing too little to both secure its own technological security and establish humane, multilateral norms around the use of emerging technologies.

Far from taking up the mantle of American leadership to marshal international responses to these challenges—much less reform the international institutions designed to tackle them—the current administration has worked to undermine international institutions, reject multilateralism, and repeatedly attack long-standing norms of international behavior. The next administration must seek to outline collective responses, strengthen and renew international institutions, and reverse the retreat to nationalism that has characterized the Trump administration to date. At the heart of this rebirth must be an effort to define a new multilateralism, one that fulfills its obligations to established institutions but works with ad hoc groups of willing countries when older structures remain gridlocked. This effort will take time and require a difficult balance; U.S. officials will need to display humility to a world that has grown used to lies and bombast from the highest levels of the U.S. government while using power to advance collective solutions to the urgent problems confronting the country and the world. This return to multilateralism will require patience, accommodation, and cooperation to begin to earn back the trust of some of America's closest partners.

This new, collaborative U.S. approach to addressing global challenges should be built around five broad efforts to begin in the first 100 days of the next administration:

- 1. Put climate change at the center of U.S. foreign policy.
- 2. Implement a fair, humane, and workable approach to migration.
- 3. Make a new generational push on arms control, nonproliferation, and disarmament.
- 4. Protect our values on technology.
- Reinvigorate multilateralism.

The recommendations that follow provide a range of options for advancing these efforts.

Put climate change at the center of U.S. foreign policy

Accelerating climate change has the potential to catalyze a wide range of national security threats to the United States in the coming decades: plummeting U.S. and global prosperity; countries weakened by shortages of food and water; overturned livelihoods and accompanying displacement; increasing vulnerability to pandemic health risks; and governments destabilized by such crises. Immediate, aggressive global action will be needed to hold the global temperature increase to the 1.5 degrees Celsius limit identified by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). CAP has outlined a strategy to limit U.S. CO2 emissions to net zero by 2050 and return to international leadership on combating climate change.⁵ It is vital to the U.S. national interest that the next administration help coordinate global action to achieve urgently needed economic and social transformations at a massive scale in order not to surpass the IPCC's 1.5 C limit.

To do this, the next administration needs to put climate change and the effort to decarbonize the world by 2050 at the center of U.S. foreign policy.⁶ This reorientation will require a transformation in strategy, culture, and the budgets of the foreign policy and national security apparatus. Only the president can drive this transformation, and it will take years. As part of an initial push, in the first 100 days, the next administration should take the following steps.

• **Rejoin the Paris Agreement.** At the top of the list, of course, is the urgent need to rejoin the Paris Agreement. The Trump administration has promised to withdraw the United States from the Paris Agreement on November 4—the day after the 2020 election. While rejoining the agreement is not a panacea, it is an essential first step and an important signaling opportunity. The president should immediately declare his intent for the United States to rejoin. The formal return to the agreement could be achieved as soon as 30 days after inauguration but will require an updated climate commitment, or nationally determined contribution (NDC). Setting an appropriate NDC will require a complex policy, political, and technical process, but the president could commit to a science-based process to determine an NDC and promise its delivery by a date certain in 2021 such as Earth Day in April.



QUICK WIN: Issue a presidential policy directive declaring climate change a U.S. national

security priority. This policy directive would outline a sweeping new U.S. diplomatic approach on climate change that treats it as a national security priority with the associated diplomatic focus and resourcing. This policy directive should include an explicit articulation of climate change as a leaders-level issue in all U.S. bilateral relationships and at all multilateral forums, including the UN, Group of Seven, Group of 20, NATO, East Asia Summit, Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), and Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) meetings.

- Create a leaders-level climate forum, with a pledge to convene the first meeting at the U.N. General Assembly (UNGA) in September 2021. The United States should propose that the existing Major Economies Forum (MEF) process—encompassing ministers from countries responsible for 75 percent of global emissions—be elevated to the leader level and commit to chair the first meeting during UNGA. At that meeting, the president should declare a U.S. commitment to the goal of global net-zero emissions by 2050 and seek each MEF leader's commitment to the target. The meeting should also set a concrete action agenda for the MEF to include a strategy to promote the development and dissemination of sustainable technology, setting the MEF out as a venue to share policy ideas and best practices on decarbonization and a partner to support the clean energy efforts of multinational businesses.
- Use trade and finance policy tools to drive climate action. This could include implementing border adjustment mechanisms for imports from countries with inadequate climate policy as well as enforcement to advance global climate action and protect U.S. economic competitiveness.



QUICK WIN: Declare that the U.S. International Development Finance Corporation (DFC) and Export-Import Bank will immediately end U.S. financing for overseas fossil fuel projects and redirect their energy financing to fully clean energy-focused projects. The administration should then press other Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development governments and other donors such as China to do the same.

 Stand up a new review process to prohibit foreign investment in climate-damaging projects or acquisitions in the United States, using a mechanism similar to the **Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States.** The next administration should work with Congress to provide new authorities to condition U.S. approval of potential foreign direct investment transactions into a given country against the investing party's climate performance in its broader business activities. In addition, these authorities should allow the United States to prohibit foreign investments in climate-damaging projects in the country. These limitations would be controversial but would send a powerful signal of the need for immediate emission reductions and likely prompt changes in investor behavior.8

- Push for regional transparency platforms. The State Department should work with international groups and institutions such as the ASEAN, the European Commission, the Inter-American Development Bank, the African Development Bank, the International Monetary Fund, and the World Bank to set up regional infrastructure investment transparency platforms to gather and publicize information on projects with major climate and environmental impacts such as investments made under the Belt and Road Initiative.9
- Task all foreign affairs departments and agencies with generating new domestic and overseas positions dedicated to tackling climate change and declare the intent to seek necessary appropriations to fulfill the objective. As a first step, the president should call for the creation of 500 new full-time employee slots at the U.S. Agency for International Development and the departments of State, Commerce, and Agriculture to build a cadre of officials engaged on international climate both overseas and in Washington.
- Create a National Climate Council in the White House to spearhead executive action and champion legislation. Overseen by an assistant to the president, the climate council should have a specialized support staff capable of directing action across the federal government and coordinating between state and local actors. The council should be comprised of Cabinet-level leadership and should work in conjunction with the National Security Council (NSC), the Defense Pricing and Contracting organization, and the Council on Environmental Quality to develop a strategy to propel rapid clean energy deployment, build resilience against climate changeinduced disasters, and pressure reluctant actors to achieve the net-zero goal. The climate council should work to ensure there are strong links between domestic and foreign policy on climate change and aim to coordinate and guide the work of the executive agencies, not supplant them. More information on the need for a National Climate Council can be found in CAP's report, "A 100 Percent Clean Future." 10
- Seek funding from Congress to honor the \$2 billion U.S. pledge to the Green Climate **Fund.** President Trump reneged on this pledge. As CAP has written previously, a \$6 billion pledge over three years would fund 100 new projects and catalyze nearly \$15 billion in co-financing. 11 This step should be framed as a minimum first step and paired with a declaration of the United States' intent to dramatically increase climate-related bilateral foreign assistance programs on both the mitigation and adaptation fronts.

Implement a fair, humane, and workable approach to migration

The international system meant to deal with migration and forced displacement has been completely overwhelmed. Refugees and asylum-seekers face increasing statesponsored refoulement, long-term detention and abuse, and xenophobic attacks. Extreme poverty and environmental degradation has sharply increased migration in the Americas and Africa, and the international community has done little to mitigate the root causes of these migration flows or adapt to their reality. Finally, the ongoing effects of COVID-19 bring significant new challenges, with intermittent border closures and other restrictions likely to persist well into the next presidential term.

As armed conflict, violent crime, and human rights abuses fuel forced displacement around the globe, intolerable economic conditions force people to flee their homes in search of better livelihoods and opportunities. Climate change is compounding these migratory pressures, contributing to more extreme and less predictable environmental conditions such as rainfall patterns and temperatures, more frequent natural disasters, and the wider spread of infectious diseases. These challenges will only get worse without serious global cooperation; some predict that as many as 320 million people could be forcibly displaced by 2030 without concerted global efforts.¹²

Meanwhile, the Trump administration has undertaken the worst possible response. It has adopted a punitive and counterproductive approach to deterring asylum-seekers and other vulnerable populations from seeking entry at the U.S. southern border and has sought to use coercion, rather than cooperation, to persuade regional partners to curb out-migration from their territories. Most recently, the Trump administration has used the coronavirus emergency as an opportunity to fully implement the kind of restrictive border policies it pursued long before the pandemic such as turning away all asylum-seekers and closing the southern border to nonessential travel.

Addressing the worst refugee crisis since World War II will require a comprehensive response that rethinks global protection for the forcibly displaced and combines traditional foreign policy tools such as humanitarian assistance, development aid, investment support, diplomacy, and climate change adaptation. While the United States is still the largest contributor to the U.N. High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR),

its contribution remains less than \$2 billion, a paltry sum in view of the scope of the crisis and the agency's requirements. 13 To have credibility and any hope of mobilizing collective action, these efforts will need to be matched with domestic policy changes such as ending the de facto asylum ban and reforming asylum and refugee policy. And, given the scope of the challenge, the next administration must also dedicate serious efforts to rally partners in the international community to increase their own financial support and commitments to support the forcibly displaced. This effort will, of course, extend beyond the first 100 days, but the next administration could immediately set into motion a new U.S. approach by taking the following steps.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Take immediate action to bring U.S. immigration policy in line with international law and human rights.

Specifically, the next administration should:

- Resume the processing of asylum claims with proper testing and precautions and rescind the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) coronavirus order at the U.S. northern and southern borders. The CDC's COVID-19 order should be replaced with measures narrowly tailored to promote public health and preserve the legal right to fair and humane processing of requests for asylum.
- Unwind the Migrant Protection Protocols with Mexico, which has left some 50,000 asylum-seekers in often desperate circumstances on the Mexican side of the border, and begin transferring these cases to the United States for proper adjudication.
- End the Humanitarian Asylum Review Process for Mexican nationals and the use of the Prompt Asylum Claim Review for non-Mexican nationals. These programs deny asylum-seekers due process and restrict their ability to obtain necessary legal assistance before they undergo initial credible-fear screenings, resulting in faster deportation to potentially dangerous circumstances, in violation of U.S. and international law.
- Tear up the asylum cooperative agreements with Guatemala, El Salvador, and Honduras—and perhaps others in the Americas as the Trump administration continues to pursue such agreements. These agreements violate international law and have allowed the U.S. authorities under the Trump administration to deport asylumseekers to third countries regardless of ties to that country and absent any thorough assessment of the safety of the person upon arrival.

• Work to reestablish U.S. moral leadership on refugees and asylum-seekers. The next administration should take concrete steps in the first 100 days to demonstrate a renewed commitment to protecting the rights of the forcibly displaced. The next administration should expand the processing of asylum and refugee claims, double the annual U.S. contribution to the UNHCR, and coordinate internationally to drive increased global refugee resettlement and assistance. The next administration should also review and consider revoking Executive Order 13888, which devolved significant power to state and local authorities over refugee resettlement decisions. 14



QUICK WIN: Immediately raise the annual U.S. refugee admission cap to 125,000.

The next administration should immediately raise the annual admission cap to the level it was in 1990—and ask Congress to mandate a minimum requirement to be phased in over the following four years as the pipeline for resettlement is replenished with fully vetted candidates.



QUICK WIN: Protect longtime U.S. residents from deportation. The Trump administration announced the termination of Temporary Protected Status (TPS) for 7 of the 10 designated countries; those terminations are on hold due to court orders pending legal challenges. The hundreds of thousands of longtime residents protected by the TPS designations should be granted permission to remain in the country, either through the extension of their countries' TPS designations or through the president's authority to grant Deferred Enforced Departure.

Generate an action plan on the Northern Triangle in the first 100 days and work toward a leaders-level summit in Mexico in the first year. The action plan should be built on the principle of addressing the root causes of out-migration and forced displacement from the Northern Triangle rather than further securitizing the border. It should combine humanitarian assistance, development aid, investment support, diplomacy, and climate change adaptation with traditional national security tools, while prioritizing executive action that can be taken immediately. In addition, the next administration should build toward co-convening a summit with the president of Mexico and the presidents of the Northern Triangle of Central America—El Salvador, Guatemala, and Honduras—as part of a Mexico visit to launch a robust, joint strategy to manage and protect the rights of the forcibly displaced and those who seek better economic opportunities. The strategy should include programs that have been proven effective toward increasing government accountability, reducing violence and corruption, decreasing femicide and other gender-based harms, protecting vulnerable populations, and promoting sustainable economic development and climate change adaptation throughout Mexico and Central America.

- Build toward a high-level global migration meeting on the margins of UNGA in
 September 2021. Given the scale and impact of the global migration crisis, the next
 administration should work to galvanize multilateral action and rally partners in the
 international community to increase their own financial support and commitments
 to resettle and host refugees and to support the forcibly displaced.
- Lead on Syrian and Iraqi humanitarian assistance. The president should press
 Congress to allow Syrians who assisted U.S. forces to apply for special immigrant
 visas (SIVs) and expedite the processing of Iraqi SIV applicants. The next
 administration should redouble humanitarian efforts in Syria and neighboring
 countries, particularly Iraq, by asking Congress for special supplemental funding to
 provide additional humanitarian assistance to those fleeing Syria, more funds for
 refugee resettlement agencies and officers, and more funds for U.N. agencies and
 nongovernmental organizations working on the issue.
- Announce a new U.S. policy on Venezuela that prioritizes the welfare of the Venezuelan
 people and supports regional efforts. The next administration should focus U.S. policy
 toward Venezuela on coming to the aid of the Venezuelan people by:
 - Immediately granting TPS to Venezuelans living in the United States.
 - Ramping up humanitarian assistance for Venezuela's neighbors laboring to care for the nearly 5 million Venezuelan refugees who have fled since 2015.
 - Depoliticizing humanitarian assistance provided to the Venezuelan people in Venezuela through nongovernmental and multilateral actors.
 - Ensuring U.S. sanctions do not block humanitarian aid flows to the Venezuelan people.
 - Investing in regional and global diplomacy to support a restoration of democratic order in Venezuela and return sovereignty to the Venezuelan people.

Make a new generational push on arms control, nonproliferation, and disarmament

The next administration must recommit to efforts to reduce the proliferation of nuclear and conventional arms, constrain the spread of other emerging lethal technologies, and reduce the militarization of space. The Trump administration has undercut an arms control regime built up over decades that helped reduce tensions and the risks of nuclear accidents while plowing billions of dollars into new weapons with questionable strategic or military value. While some nuclear modernization is necessary, the size and form of these programs are increasingly destabilizing and costly, funneling money away from other priorities that do more to keep the country safe. Finally, the Trump administration has also done nothing to slow the adoption of new lethal technologies or to work with allies to establish international norms around their use, from those that allow for autonomous weapons to those that could render space a battlefield. The next administration must meet this increasingly dangerous moment with a new generational push in its first 100 days on all fronts to make the world a safer place while still defending U.S. security interests.

• Stop the U.S. nuclear spiral. The Trump administration accelerated a nuclear arms race by unilaterally withdrawing from the Intermediate-Range Nuclear Forces (INF) Treaty and beginning the development of new weapons prohibited by the treaty. 15 Russia had cheated on the treaty, and China was not party to it, but the United States' withdrawal was clumsily managed, ceding the moral high ground and weakening the potential for a broader strategy to manage intermediate-range nuclear missiles. The Trump administration has also failed to negotiate a fiveyear extension to New START, which expires in February 2021, despite Russia's apparent willingness to do so, putting at risk the critical inspections and verification opportunities the treaty provides. 16 The management of nuclear-armed intermediaterange missiles in the wake of the INF's demise is a more difficult problem that will not be resolved in the first 100 days of a next administration. The spread of these systems is now far advanced, and the U.S., Russian, and Chinese militaries have each built conventional variants of these missiles into core warfighting plans. But an attempt to manage this proliferation should be made; the risks of nuclear misunderstanding is too high given how quickly the missiles can reach their targets.



QUICK WIN: Appoint a U.S. special representative tasked with negotiating an extension of New START and engaging in consultations with allies on the future of the INF. The representative should immediately begin efforts to restore international agreements and cooperation on these issues.



QUICK WIN: Announce a sustained U.S. ban on nuclear testing in the first 100 days and consider pushing for ratification of the Comprehensive Test Ban Treaty in the first term. Doing so would demonstrate serious U.S. commitment to reducing nuclear tensions around the world.

- Launch a new, comprehensive deterrence review. To rationalize U.S. nuclear weapons plans, test Russian intentions, and lay the groundwork for a broad range of potential talks around arms control and nonproliferation, the administration should consider a range of steps that will cost little in strategic terms. First, the nuclear and strategic policy decisions taken under the current administration should be revisited in a new, comprehensive deterrence review. The deterrence review should replace the narrow Nuclear Posture Review and should involve the NSC and departments of State, Energy, and Defense, thereby examining the full range of concerns related to deterrence in their wider geopolitical context. The deterrence review should be presented to the president for final decisions. Pending the outcome of this review, the administration should take a series of steps to pause decisions that contribute to a spiraling arms race:
 - Delay awarding the contract for the new intercontinental ballistic missile (ICBM) (Ground Based Strategic Deterrent). While the aging out of the current Minutemen III ICBMs requires attention, the contract should be paused pending the outcome of the deterrence review.
 - Pause the contracts for the Long-Range Stand Off Weapon nuclear-armed cruise missile and the TLAM-N sea-launched version. These new weapons add capabilities to the U.S. arsenal but are potentially destabilizing to global proliferation and could ultimately increase the risks of a nuclear exchange. Their contracts should be paused until the deterrence review is completed.
 - Stop the deployment of the new low-yield tactical variant of the W-76 nuclear weapon. This new weapon presents an extreme and unnecessary escalation risk because of the way it is deployed. The deployment of this system should be publicly paused pending the outcome of the deterrence review.

- Resuscitate the Open Skies and Arms Trade treaties. President Trump has likewise announced his intention to withdraw from the Open Skies Treaty, which was designed to reassure countries across Europe and the Atlantic about secret deployments through regular, approved surveillance flights. 17 The next administration should recommit to the Open Skies Treaty because it is in U.S. interests. On conventional weapons policy, the next administration should also consider rejoining the Arms Trade Treaty and ask the Senate to give its advice and consent for the ratification of the agreement. The United States should support the regulation of the international conventional arms trade, particularly light weapons, which cause the overwhelming preponderance of combat and civilian deaths in the world's persistent conflicts. There is no competitive advantage placed at risk by taking this commonsense step.
- Lead on demilitarizing space. In a newer domain, the United States has also done little to stop the development of a space arms race or to protect the safety of critical systems in Earth's orbit. Along with GPS, communications and weather satellites play a crucial role in the global economy and contribute hundreds of billions of dollars to the U.S. economy. The U.S. military relies heavily on satellites for its communications, reconnaissance, and early-warning capabilities. The Pentagon's dependence on space-based capabilities creates real vulnerabilities. Without Defense Support Program satellites, for example, the United States would find itself blind against ballistic missile launches around the world. But peaceful access to space is also at risk. Chinese and Indian anti-satellite weapon tests have created orbital debris that will take decades to dissipate. 18
 - Launch a policy review of space-based capabilities and vulnerabilities. This policy review should assess U.S. gains and setbacks in the space domain and consider policy options for offering constructive proposals to limit military competition in space, including an international arms control agreement to ban the testing of ground-, sea-, and air-launched anti-satellite weapons.
- Lead international efforts to prevent the adoption of indiscriminate automated lethal weapons. The next administration should conduct a policy review to develop options to limit the use of AI, particularly for lethal autonomy. The policy review should consider how best to engage with international bodies seeking effective ways to prevent indiscriminate automated weapons, including to clarify how the existing laws of war would apply to lethal autonomous weapons. The next administration should seek the international acceptance of theories of strict liability, command responsibility, and obligations to anyone fielding or employing autonomous lethal mechanisms.

Protect our values on technology

The United States also depends on a secure and open global network that extends beyond our shores and allows for fair and transparent e-commerce; supports freedom of expression and global information exchange; and protects users from cyberthreats abroad. The United States cannot simply pull up a drawbridge; we cannot defend ourselves without engaging with the world and building international norms. Coordinated international action is needed to keep the global internet open and secure as it migrates toward next-generation technology and to control the proliferation of dangerous or disruptive technologies.

The world's digital backbone is also its broadcast network. China's Huawei Technologies Co. reportedly has more than 50 commercial contracts to supply 5G equipment to other nations and a record of exercising control over network operations, including broadcast operations. 19 Already, in Africa and Europe, fears are rising that China will use Huawei's influence on digital infrastructure to limit access to information or stifle dissent. The United States must therefore seek to compete for market share and assist other countries trying to ensure that rapid digitalization does not erode freedom of expression or access to reliable information. Digital-infrastructure financing should be made a priority focus for overseas aid to alleviate developing nations' dependence on China for affordable digital infrastructure. The United States provides more than one-third of global development aid and should seek to provide a digital alternative for developing nations, giving them access to secure technologies and advancing governance principles for a free and open internet.

Meanwhile, emerging technologies can allow totalitarian governments to control their populations. Several current, lightly regulated technologies already provide the tools to effectively control and manipulate people. Emerging technologies will increase the risks. The proliferation of smartphones, digital cameras, and other sensors tied to centralized cloud-based data centers provides the infrastructure for ubiquitous, nearconstant surveillance. These sensor networks combined with massive advances in processing power and data analytics, facial recognition, and newer tools such as the automated determination of mood and emotion threaten the very concept of privacy. These capabilities can help deter and respond to nefarious activity but also provide

another way to control a population and suppress dissent. How these tools are used, including by law enforcement, and who has access to the data and under what circumstances, are all pressing questions. The next administration should follow the EU's lead and work to place citizens' privacy at the center of its norm-building at home and abroad and work to advance international standards to protect data privacy.

Likewise, authoritarian governments also now have potent new tools to influence the populations of other countries. Technologies for creating and disseminating false information, including fake full-motion video and audio that are effectively indistinguishable from genuine content are now widely available and rapidly improving. Social media provide a massive distribution system for fake information and allow for microtargeting of specific audiences. Massive bot networks can shape and control public debate with high degrees of deniability, while AI can allow for automatic adjustments to increase effectiveness at scale. The massive information attacks that characterized the 2016 election were crude compared with the threats the United States and its allies face as the relevant technologies mature.²⁰

The United States can no longer assume that values such as human dignity, universal rights, the rule of law, and democratic institutions will inevitably win out; the next administration must act to protect these values in the face of technological threats to their acceptance. But the United States should not act alone. Rather, the next administration should lead a global effort among democratic nations to adopt common governance principles for broadcast traffic in the digital era. Working with international partners who share our values, the democratic world should invest in capabilities to identify and respond to these threats and take strong action to deter and punish those who interfere in our democracies. That effort should also develop best practices for providing interoperability between free and open internet systems and those that utilize Chinese technology and governance principles. To help address concerns about American motives, the United States should enlist credible independent actors to pressure the Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers (ICANN), the Internet Engineering Task Force (IETF), and the International Telecommunication Union and 3rd Generation Partnership Project (3GPP) to challenge authoritarian efforts to erode the free and open global internet. Countering authoritarian influence at these standard-setting bodies will require the U.S. government to prioritize engagement in terms of staffing and resources, as the Chinese have already done.

- Develop a U.S. strategy on digital technology. In the first six months of the next administration, the White House should develop a new international strategy highlighting U.S. global objectives, values, and principles in digital technologies. This global strategy should be developed in conjunction with an expedited domestic strategy for digital technology. Priority should be given to coordinating with allies to promote democratic values in technology, pushing back against increasing disinformation and digital authoritarianism, and integrating with the next administration's cyberstrategy. This strategy should also prioritize digitalinfrastructure financing in overseas aid to allow developing nations to develop affordable digital infrastructure free of authoritarian controls. The strategy should enlist credible independent actors such as the ICANN and IETF to challenge authoritarian efforts to erode the free and open global internet. This new approach could also provide research grants to encourage U.S. firms to participate in standardsetting meetings at bodies such as the 3GPP.
- Task a national intelligence assessment on critical technology. The director of national intelligence, in coordination with the secretaries of state, treasury, defense, and commerce, should produce a national intelligence assessment of which international technology standards are critical to national security—including 5G and hardware standards related to AI—and coordinate with democratic allies to ensure standards are protected at relevant international standards-setting meetings.
- Stand up an international technology forum for like-minded democracies to develop common approaches and strategies. This forum would provide allies who share concerns about emerging technology and its implications for free and open societies with a way to coordinate national strategies and develop multilateral approaches. This group could mobilize to counter abuse by authoritarian and nonstate actors and, eventually, become a vehicle to counter disinformation and develop shared principles governing the use of emerging technologies such as AI or microelectronics. This forum should complement existing international efforts such as the International Grand Committee on Disinformation.

Reinvigorate multilateralism

The next administration must embrace multilateralism, pursue collective responses to problems that transcend national borders, and strengthen and renew international institutions. Working with international partners is critical to addressing the most urgent challenges the United States will face, but the next administration must approach alienated partners with humility and with pledges to commit to transparent, honest, and cooperative relationships. This is fundamental to advancing U.S. interests, which rely on an open, democratic, and stable international system. Cooperative multilateralism also plays to the United States' strengths—primarily its robust alliance structures—and is the best way to reduce the demand on American resources for conflict resolution, disaster response, and economic rescue packages.

Currently, multilateral institutions such as the United Nations and its many component bodies as well as the World Trade Organization are under great pressure and are subject to persistent populist attacks. Yet the response to the 2008 economic crisis, the management of the eurozone debt crisis, the Paris Agreement, and the collaborative international response to the 2014 Ebola pandemic demonstrate how indispensable and effective these organizations and networks can be. The fractured, halting response to the COVID-19 pandemic—crippled by national rivalries, willfully ignorant populist leaders, and President Trump's attacks on the World Health Organization—only underlines the importance of good-faith multilateral cooperation. Indeed, the international success stories of the post-2008 period have often been the product of a new form of pragmatic multilateralism, one in which sometimes ad hoc groups of countries cooperated on issues of agreement when international bodies remained deadlocked and in which national governments worked more closely with nongovernmental actors to address pressing problems.

This new, pragmatic multilateralism devised flexible approaches to crafting a new set of sustainable development goals and helped conclude the Iran nuclear agreement and the Paris climate accord. This multilateralism—based on a diverse set of actors and coalitions of the willing—will need to be deepened and broadened by the next U.S. administration. Above all, the United States will have to show tangible commitmentin money, material, and political concessions—to rejuvenate these efforts after years of attacks by the current administration. To begin this process, the next administration should engage in the areas outlined below—taken collectively, these steps will begin to restore trust in the United States as a good-faith actor interested in cooperative approaches. Presidential time in the first 100 days will be extremely limited, meaning the next administration has a short window to frame and affirm U.S. commitment to this new, pragmatic multilateralism.

- Roll out a new multilateralism in a presidential speech at the Organization of American States (OAS). The headquarters of the world's oldest regional multilateral institution is less than a mile from the White House. In the first 100 days, the president should visit the OAS to deliver a speech outlining a new multilateralism focused on the following core principles:
 - That the most pressing challenges facing the United States and the world require cooperative, multilateral responses.
 - That the United States will recommit to these cooperative efforts, leading where possible and supporting when needed.
 - That the United States believes in the value of the U.N. system and existing multilateral institutions and will engage fully with those systems, but that the urgency of today's global challenges sometimes requires pragmatic, ad hoc coalitions.
- That cooperation will at times require either U.S. restraint or be marked by competitive multilateralism, but that a stable, peaceful international system is good for the United States and good for the world.



OVERARCHING POLICY:

Make an early global anti-corruption push

Rampant corruption is undermining international systems and good government around the world, hollowing out the social compact that is the foundation of democratic governance. The next administration should make rooting out corruption and strengthening the rule of law a top priority, conceiving of it as a threat to international peace and security alongside climate change or terrorism. A major domestic and multilateral push on anti-corruption would also send a strong signal to competitors such as Russia and China that the United States views the rule of law as a comparative advantage to our system. This will require early steps at home and abroad, including:

- Press Congress to pass legislation such as the ILLICIT CASH Act. This will close loopholes in U.S. anti-money laundering regulations, levy meaningful fines on financial institutions which enable large-scale financial crimes, and require the collection of identifying information on the beneficial ownership of all financial entities created in the United States and all foreign entities involved in large transactions in the United States or with U.S. entities.²¹
- Adopt the wide-scale use of geographic targeting orders. These orders offer a powerful tool to crack down on high-risk locales—particularly in real estate transactions, one of the main ways in which oligarchs, warlords, and criminals launder their ill-gotten gains.
- Propose a global corruption initiative. This would harmonize standards, close regulatory and legal gaps, limit opportunities for arbitrage, and facilitate information exchange among the United States, United Kingdom, and EU—three entities that control the majority of cross-border financial transactions.
- Reinvigorate U.S. participation in the Open Government Partnership. In addition, the next administration should arrange a global anti-corruption conference modeled on a 2015 summit organized in the U.K.
- Bolster multilateral judicial support missions in El Salvador and reestablish the missions in Guatemala and Honduras. These efforts to support prosecutors and judges pursuing large-scale anti-corruption cases in Central America have led to hundreds of corruption convictions, helping boost transparent governance and faith in the rule of law.
- Promote the establishment of an independent Inter-American Anti-Corruption Commission (IAACC) akin to the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights. As a vehicle for this effort, the administration should push to add a protocol to the IAACC, the first anti-corruption convention of its kind.²² The starting blocks for the infrastructure of a new IAACC would be the Mechanism for the Implementation of the Inter-American Convention against Corruption housed at the OAS. Work toward such a protocol could begin in the lead-up to the 2021 Summit of the Americas, which the United States is slated to host.
- Increase funding for the Office of Foreign Assets Control and the Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights, and Labor at the State Department. Additional funding would allow these offices to vet and bring more cases under the Global Magnitsky Act, which provides for visa bans and sanctions on officials responsible for gross corruption or flagrant human rights abuses.

- Instruct the interagency to formulate a plan to respond to the strategic use of corruption by authoritarian regimes. The president should instruct the NSC to formulate a plan to respond to authoritarian efforts to use bribes, rigged contracts, and other illicit inducements to secure political influence, access to resources, or other advantages. The president should also instruct the departments of State and Defense to mainstream anti-corruption into their regional strategies.
- Urge Congress to reinstate the Cardin-Lugar rule requiring Securities and Exchange Commission disclosure of payments for natural resources. The president should push Congress to require the disclosure of payments to national governments. Disclosure provides transparency and discourages U.S. companies from making illicit payments for access to foreign natural resources, a significant portion of which often flow to corrupt or illegal parties.

Conclusion

The idea that the United States can protect itself and advance its interests by going it alone is deeply flawed. American success over the past century has been built upon alliances, prudent diplomacy, and cooperative approaches to shared problems. The country's greatest failures abroad have come when these principles—and our allies have been ignored. As the coronavirus pandemic has starkly underlined, the profound challenges of climate change, migration, nuclear proliferation, and the abuse of emerging technologies can only be tackled with cooperative, multilateral approaches. By adopting the policies outlined above and pursuing a new spirit of cooperation, the next administration can begin to rebuild American influence and reconstitute a more effective and humane international system.



New executive orders or policies recommended in the first 100 days:

- Rejoin the Paris Agreement with an updated nationally determined contribution.
- Issue a presidential policy directive declaring climate change a U.S. national security priority.
- Make an early global anti-corruption push with new legislation and new tools.
- Announce a sustained U.S. ban on nuclear testing and launch a new, comprehensive Deterrence Review.
- Launch a policy review of space-based capabilities and vulnerabilities.
- Develop a U.S. strategy on digital technology.
- Extend TPS designations for the seven countries the Trump administration revoked, or grant Deferred Enforced Departure to affected individuals, in order to protect hundreds of thousands of longtime U.S. residents.



Executive orders or policies recommended for recission or removal:

- Migrant Protection Protocols with Mexico: Violates the rights of asylum-seekers and expels them to possibly dangerous conditions in Mexico
- · Humanitarian Asylum Review Process for Mexican nationals and the Prompt Asylum Claim Review for non-Mexican nationals: Programs that deny asylumseekers due process
- Asylum Cooperative Agreements with Guatemala, El Salvador, and Honduras: Violates the rights of asylum-seekers and effectively forces them to abandon their claims
- Executive Order 13888: Devolves power on refugee resettlement decisions to state and local authorities

Endnotes

- 1 The U.N. Refugee Agency, "Refugee Data Finder," available at https://www.unhcr.org/refugee-statistics/ (last accessed July 2020).
- 2 BBC News, "Venezuela crisis: Four million have fled the country, UN says," June 7, 2019, available at https://www. bbc.com/news/world-latin-america-48559739.
- 3 The U.N. Refugee Agency, "Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2018" (Geneva: 2019), available at https://www. unhcr.org/globaltrends2018/.
- 4 U.N. Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs, "Rohingya Refugee Crisis," available at https://www. unocha.org/rohingya-refugee-crisis (last accessed September 2020).
- 5 John Podesta and others, "A 100 Percent Clean Future" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/green/ reports/2019/10/10/475605/100-percent-clean-future/.
- 6 John Podesta and Todd Stern, "A Foreign Policy for the Climate: How American Leadership Can Avert Catastrophe," Foreign Affairs, May/June 2020, available at https://www. foreignaffairs.com/articles/united-states/2020-04-13/ foreign-policy-climate.
- 7 Brady Dennis, "Trump makes it official: U.S. will withdraw from the Paris climate accord," The Washington Post, November 4, 2019, available at https://www.washingtonpost. com/climate-environment/2019/11/04/trump-makes-itofficial-us-will-withdraw-paris-climate-accord/.
- 8 Podesta and others, "A 100 Percent Clean Future."
- 9 Melanie Hart and Kelly Magsamen, "Limit, Leverage, and Compete: A New Strategy on China" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2019), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/security/ reports/2019/04/03/468136/limit-leverage-compete-newstrategy-china/.
- 10 Podesta and others, "A 100 Percent Clean Future."
- 11 Alan Yu, "An International Climate Road Map for the Next President," Center for American Progress, November 1, 2019, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/green/news/2019/11/01/476572/internationalclimate-road-map-next-president/.
- 12 Erol K. Yayboke and Aaron N. Milner, "Confronting the Global Forced Migration Crisis" (Washington: Center for Strategic and International Studies, 2018), available at https://csis-website-prod.s3.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/ publication/180529_Ridge_ForcedMigrationCrisi.pdf?xG6z s9dOHsV2fr2oCxYTT6oar049iLf.

- 13 The U.N. Refugee Agency, "Funding Update: 2020" (Geneva: 2020), available at https://reporting.unhcr.org/sites/ default/files/Global%20Funding%20Overview%2017%20 July%202020.pdf.
- 14 Executive Office of the President, "Executive Order 13888: Enhancing State and Local Involvement in Refugee Resettlement," Federal Register 84 (190) (2019): 52355-52356, available at https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2019/10/01/2019-21505/enhancing-state-andlocal-involvement-in-refugee-resettlement.
- 15 C. Todd Lopez, "U.S. Withdraws From Intermediate-Range Nuclear Forces Treaty," U.S. Department of Defense, August 2, 2019, available at https://www.defense.gov/Explore/ News/Article/Article/1924779/us-withdraws-from-intermediate-range-nuclear-forces-treaty/.
- 16 Samuel Rebo, "One Year From Expiration, 'New START' Remains in Limbo," The Lawfare Institute, February 27, 2020, available at https://www.lawfareblog.com/one-yearexpiration-new-start-remains-limbo.
- 17 David E. Sanger, "Trump Will Withdraw From Open Skies Arms Control Treaty," The New York Times, May 21, 2020, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/21/us/ politics/trump-open-skies-treaty-arms-control.html.
- 18 Carin Zisiss, "China's Anti-Satellite Test" (Washington: Council on Foreign Relations, 2007), available at https://www.cfr. org/backgrounder/chinas-anti-satellite-test.
- 19 Arjun Kharpal, "Huawei touts more than 50 contracts for 5G as US pressure continues to mount," CNBC, September 3, 2019, available at https://www.cnbc.com/2019/09/03/ huawei-touts-more-than-50-contracts-for-5g-as-us-pressure-mounts.html.
- 20 Jane Mayer, "How Russia Helped Swing the Election for Trump," The New Yorker, September 24, 2018, available at https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2018/10/01/howrussia-helped-to-swing-the-election-for-trump.
- 21 ILLICIT CASH Act, S. 2563, 116th Cong., 1st sess. (September 26, 2019), available at https://www.congress.gov/ bill/116th-congress/senate-bill/2563/text.
- 22 Organization of American States, "Inter-American Convention Against Corruption (B-58)," available at http://www. oas.org/en/sla/dil/inter_american_treaties_B-58_against_ Corruption.asp (last accessed September 2020).



Appendix

The First 100 Days During a Global Health Crisis

No matter who wins the 2020 presidential election, the next president will be sworn in during an unprecedented set of national crises. At the time of this report's publication, more than 215,000 Americans have lost their lives to the coronavirus, a deadly record that cannot be undone. If current projections hold, more than 400,000 Americans will have died from COVID-19 and millions more will have been infected before Inauguration Day. Meanwhile, as states and localities have boosted medical capacity to respond to coronavirus outbreaks, other Americans have gotten sicker.² Patients with cancer, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes have not been receiving the health services they need—often because of shortages of diagnostics and medicines or because planned treatments were delayed.

Even if America is fortunate enough to already be at the end stages of the brutal coronavirus pandemic, the next president will face the worst U.S. economy since the Great Depression.³ The Treasury is significantly depleted.⁴ Millions of people have lost their loved ones, their jobs, and much of their net worth. State budgets are under severe stress, buckling under an economic and health burden that the federal government has failed to relieve. By January 2021, the United States will likely have tried several unprecedented fiscal stimulus efforts to keep the national economy going, but unemployment will almost certainly still be high and entire industries will remain decimated. Meanwhile, the rise of telework, the demise of retail, the inequities in the gig economy, and the rise of automated manufacturing will all portend major, unpredictable changes to industries that will never return to the way they were before the pandemic.

Another challenge will be the international consequences of the Trump administration's failure to lead and organize the world in responding to the pandemic. President Donald Trump's uncoordinated travel bans and his bullying of competition for scarce medical resources undoubtedly made the crisis worse, but it has also harmed the willingness of U.S. partners to collaborate on collective solutions. The next administration will face severely damaged relationships while at the same time dealing with crucial problems that must be addressed collectively. Nations will need to work together to develop and distribute a vaccine globally to more than 7 billion people and then set about putting in place an international architecture to prepare for the next pandemic. They will also need to rebuild their economies in a way that creates a healthy global economy that works for everyone. It is essential that the next administration takes up the frayed mantle of American leadership and marshals international responses to these challenges.

Finally, the next administration will face these challenges as the ongoing pandemic and crippling mismanagement continues to severely hamper the ability of essential institutions—including the White House itself—to respond. By January of 2021, critical national security and foreign policy institutions will have faced nearly a year of strained and limited operations. Diplomats, whose very jobs are to interact with foreigners, have had to delay or cease operations as more than 6,000 officials and their relatives left their diplomatic posts to return to the United States.⁷ The intelligence community, which has limited ability to operate remotely from classified systems, has adopted reduced staffing to permit social distancing, requiring staff to report for duty on alternating weeks and reducing its capacity by half.8 The U.S. Department of Defense initially limited operations sharply and then implemented a phased approach to reducing those restrictions; however, it saw sharp spikes in coronavirus cases following its decision to lift travel restrictions and shelter-in-place orders, making additional interventions to contain the spread more likely in the future. Moreover, exposure at White House events led to decisions by key Department of Defense officials to quarantine. Whatever the final months of 2020 hold for these national security institutions, they will undoubtedly continue to strain under the circumstances, with important consequences for the next administration.

The next administration will also face a historically hollowed-out and underequipped National Security Council (NSC) staff. Unlike some parts of the Executive Office of the President, the NSC staff traditionally depends heavily on career civil servants on detail from other executive branch departments and agencies. Those officials, deemed "holdovers" by the Trump administration, provide critical continuity, offering significant substantive expertise and institutional knowledge that is important for a smooth transition between presidential administrations. 10 The Trump administration, however, saw record-setting turnover during its first term, with significant upheaval occurring in the NSC staff. Of particular consequence given the ongoing pandemic, national security adviser John Bolton disbanded the NSC directorate tasked with global health coordination. 11 The next administration will take office with an NSC that lacks this critical competency.

At the time of this writing, serial turnover within the NSC staff has included four national security advisers, six deputy national security advisers, three chiefs of staff and executive secretaries, three senior intelligence directors, three senior directors for Europe and Russia, three senior directors for Africa, and three homeland security and counter-terrorism advisers.¹² This extraordinary rate of turnover has caused a cascade of departures in less senior jobs, with a notable decrease in the level of expertise among some of the staff that remain. Finally, President Trump instructed his fourth national security adviser, Robert O'Brien, to make major staff cuts at the NSC in fall 2019. More than 40 NSC staff were immediately returned to their home agencies, with an additional 20 percent reduction expected by the end of 2020.¹³

Against this backdrop—with an ongoing public health and economic crisis, a nation divided, and weakened institutions to lead the response—the next administration will need to take decisive action in the first 100 days to reassure the nation and face the coronavirus challenge. Looking ahead, it will also need to begin preparing for the next crisis even as it is responding to this one.

The next administration must take immediate action in the following key areas:

- 1. Governance.
- 2. Vaccine manufacturing and distribution.
- 3. Global cooperation.
- 4. Preparing for the next global health emergency.

Governance

In a moment of crisis, the most obvious need is for organized, accountable leadership and an unambiguous decision-making process. The next administration will need to establish trustworthy, transparent mechanisms for the coronavirus pandemic response and ensure that the public is well-informed and empowered to make good decisions for themselves and their families.



QUICK WIN: Name a White House coronavirus response coordinator. As an initial step, the next president must establish and communicate clear, actionable guidance to the federal departments and agencies. To do so, they will need to identify a single responsible official to oversee, prioritize, and coordinate government response and recovery plans.



QUICK WIN: Immediately restore the White House National Security Council Directorate for Global Health Security and Biodefense. The directorate, which was established by the Obama administration before being eliminated by the Trump administration in 2018, should be tasked with coordinating U.S. government efforts and capacities to prevent, detect, and respond to infectious disease threats.14



QUICK WIN: Restore the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) coronavirus task force. As the United States reached 190,000 coronavirus deaths in September 2020, the Trump administration shut down the task force that USAID had set up to tackle the still-ongoing pandemic. The next administration should immediately restore USAID's coronavirus task force and leverage it to oversee and distribute global aid related to the pandemic.

- Support immediate budget measures to shore up the pandemic response. Federal financial resources can help speed up response and prevention efforts.
 - Increase global health funding for the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). The next administration should reverse the declining budget for CDC's global health security activities by supporting a \$250 million increase in emergency funding for CDC's global health program, which is used to fund global disease detection, global health security collaborations, and field epidemiology and laboratory training.

- Reestablish USAID's PREDICT program. In 2019, USAID announced that it would end its PREDICT surveillance program for emerging infectious diseases. 15 The program was established to identify and combat viruses with the capacity to generate global pandemics. The next president should direct the reestablishment of the program and include funding for the program in their FY 2022 budget.
- **Establish a "lessons learned" commission.** The next administration should establish a presidential commission to investigate the facts and circumstances that led to the failures of the coronavirus pandemic response; the lessons that should be learned from those events; and the institutional, administrative, and legislative measures that need to be taken to prevent such failures in future global health emergencies.
- Direct a review of coronavirus-related government contracting and supply distribution and hold corrupt actors accountable. The quantity and speed of the flow of money and contracts associated with the coronavirus response are a rich target for corrupt actors, and the current administration has done little to promote transparency and accountability for the issuance of public funding. The next administration should commit to the highest levels of transparency, including by making data regarding past and future coronavirus contracts publicly accessible. The president should also direct a review of coronavirus-related government contracting and supply distribution; and the U.S. Department of Justice should investigate any instances of corruption and self-dealing that are uncovered.

Vaccine manufacturing and distribution

Vaccine manufacturing and distribution will be a critical element of returning to a normal way of life. Yet unprecedented government action and coordination will be required to accelerate the time frame for when most Americans can expect to be vaccinated. A number of potential constriction points—including cost, distribution, supply chain requirements, and delivery mechanisms—may impede the manufacturing and distribution of an eventual vaccine. Moreover, the Trump administration's lack of leadership and action has caused needless delays, questionable decisions, and a lack of transparency regarding vaccine manufacturing and distribution planning. While the Center for American Progress' comprehensive COVID-19 vaccine plan offers a broad assessment to inform planning efforts, it is also important to emphasize the following immediate steps, which rely on the president's national security and foreign policy authorities.¹⁶

- Map the nation's vaccine manufacturing capacity to identify critical gaps. Pharmaceutical manufacturers around the world are scrambling to secure supply chains and manufacturing capacity in an uncoordinated race that is locking up manufacturing capacity. The next administration, led by the coronavirus response coordinator, should immediately map the nation's manufacturing capacity to provide visibility for manufacturers up and down the supply chain and to identify—and close—critical gaps.
- Use the Defense Production Act (DPA) to coordinate manufacturing capacity and supply chains. Armed with a comprehensive understanding of the nation's manufacturing capacity and critical gaps, the next administration should use the Defense Production Act fully to ensure that U.S. manufacturers are prioritizing American purchase orders—and to require manufacturers with capacity to use their facilities and contracted capacity to produce essential vaccine components, even if that means producing another manufacturer's vaccine.

 Task the White House coronavirus coordinator and the NSC global health directorate to develop a coordinated and transparent vaccine distribution plan. The U.S. government needs a thorough and coordinated plan that Americans can trust for how vaccines will be distributed once they are available. This plan will need to be developed in close coordination with the international community, including countries who play a critical role in vaccine testing and manufacturing. Who receives the vaccines first domestically will need to be prioritized under a rolling immunization protocol developed by the CDC. Other departments and agencies—including the Federal Emergency Management Agency, the Department of Defense, and the U.S. Postal Service—could help enable the delivery and supply of vaccines. Internationally, the U.S. Department of State will lead efforts to ensure global coordination of vaccine distribution to ensure the strategic deployment of vaccines to high-risk populations. USAID will have a role in distributing vaccines to developing countries. The pressures to get the vaccine out will be extraordinary, and the next administration will need an efficient, equitable plan that is grounded in scientific advice, guided by strategic national interests, and transparent to the American people.

Global cooperation

The coronavirus pandemic demonstrates that America's security and prosperity is inextricably tied to what is happening in the rest of the world. When the United States withdraws from the world, it creates unavoidable risk to America's security and prosperity. As this crisis has unfortunately made clear, the United States cannot ensure the safety of its citizens nor the stability of its economy without partnerships with other nations and global cooperation. The next administration should signal an immediate shift by committing to work with international partners to build countries' capacities to prevent, detect, and respond to infectious disease threats.

- · Rejoin the World Health Organization (WHO) and embrace the Global Health Security **Agenda.** Americans are safer when America is engaged in strengthening global health. Yet as the world struggled in 2020 to contain the pandemic, the Trump administration announced its intent to end its 72-year-old membership in the WHO.¹⁷ The exit will not take effect until July 2021, giving the next president an opportunity to reverse course. In the first 100 days, the next president should commit to rejoining the WHO and take an active role in global health preparedness and response. The United States should also embrace the Global Health Security Agenda (GHSA), a network launched in 2014 to respond to the global threat of infectious diseases such as coronaviruses, influenza, Ebola, and others. ¹⁸ Endorsed by the G-7, the GHSA focuses on transparently reporting outbreaks, coordinating rapid responses, bringing together medical expertise, and building global capacity to respond to infectious diseases.
- Call for bold, united leadership from the G-20. The G-20 should be leading the world out of the coronavirus crisis, but following a single meeting in March 2020, the group has fallen silent. The next president should demand an early summit in 2021, urging G-20 leaders to convene virtually to discuss enhancing the global response. At the summit, the United States should support the suspension of debt payments from the poorest countries until December 2021 so that they can channel more of their scarce financial resources toward vital emergency relief efforts. The United States should also commit direct cash support to development banks and support WHO efforts to ensure that any new vaccine will be available to even the poorest countries.

• Champion multilateral initiatives with global capacity. The Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization—now known as Gavi, the Vaccine Alliance—represents another important innovation. It is seeded with \$750 million from the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation and run by a board comprised of both donor and recipient national governments; international institutions such as the World Bank, the WHO, and UNICEF; and various civil society organizations, technical and industry representatives, and independent individuals. 19 Governments, private corporations, and foundations have donated some \$2.7 billion to Gavi. Given the economic impact of COVID-19, which will cramp government spending for at least a decade, such public-private arrangements will be more necessary than ever to bring appropriate resources to bear on these problems. problems. The next administration should encourage and support these initiatives.

Preparing for the next global health emergency

The COVID-19 pandemic is not an isolated event. Once the U.S. response to the coronavirus has stabilized—and perhaps even before then—the administration will need to begin preparing for the next global health emergency. The crisis has sent shock waves through governments, civil society, and the private sector; we must do better next time. The next administration will need not only to regain control of the coronavirus response but also to make strategic investments to ensure that the United States is better prepared for the next global health emergency.

- Invest in U.S. supply chain resilience. Supply chain networks designed for low-cost and minimal inventory pose a major risk for disruptions. Investments in resilient supply chains will enable manufacturers to meet changing market demand. Building on the assessment of vaccine manufacturing capacity discussed earlier in this section, the next administration should conduct a broad review of the U.S. health care supply chain to identify and remedy weaknesses that could become critical choke points in a future pandemic response. The review should include recommendations for developing domestic capacity to supply components with a high risk of supply disruption.
- Reform the Strategic National Stockpile. The Strategic National Stockpile (SNS), originally established in the late 1990s by the Clinton administration, was renamed and realigned following the aftermath of the 9/11 attacks to focus on localized bioterror threats. It was not designed for a nationwide pandemic. However, new and reemerging infectious diseases are on the rise and are the most likely and foreseeable situations necessitating the use of SNS resources in the future. The next administration should reform the SNS, retooling it toward pandemic needs and entering into strategic contracts with manufacturers to support the domestic market for critical goods and to ensure the shelf life of existing supplies. The next administration should also prioritize requests for adequate funding for the SNS to adapt to this expanded mission.

• Pursue international cooperation initiatives. The coronavirus pandemic has revealed that hard-won advances in global peace and security are fragile. The next administration, working through the U.S. ambassador to the United Nations, should pursue bold multilateral action in the G-20 and the United Nations to urge member states to cooperate, share best practices in virus containment and response, coordinate measures to protect critical medical supply chains, and apply pressure to prevent states from using violence to contain the virus or as a pretense for other activities.

Conclusion

As of this report's publication, the coronavirus pandemic has caused almost 75 times as many deaths as 9/11. The immediate damage to the U.S. economy resulting from the pandemic will also be record-breaking—in the trillions of dollars. As the consequences to public health and safety become clearer, the next administration must realign its national security priorities to make safeguarding the health of the American population a key part of the country's national security going forward. Even when this pandemic is behind us, our approach to national security cannot return to a pre-COVID-19 state.

Endnotes

- 1 Alexa Lardieri, "Key Model Predicts More Than 410,000 Coronavirus Deaths in the U.S. by January," U.S. News & World Report, September 4, 2020, available at https:// www.usnews.com/news/health-news/articles/2020-09-04/ key-model-predicts-more-than-410-000-coronavirusdeaths-in-the-us-by-january.
- 2 World Health Organization, "COVID-19 significantly impacts health services for noncommunicable diseases," Press release, June 1, 2020, available at https://www.who. int/news-room/detail/01-06-2020-covid-19-significantlyimpacts-health-services-for-noncommunicable-diseases.
- 3 Heather Long and Andrew Van Dam, "U.S. unemployment rate soars to 14.7 percent, the worst since the Depression era," The Washington Post, May 8, 2020, available at https:// www.washingtonpost.com/business/2020/05/08/april-2020-jobs-report/.
- 4 Scott Horsley, "Fed Goes All Out To Keep Economy Alive During Coronavirus Shutdown," NPR, April 6, 2020, available at https://www.npr.org/2020/04/06/826894304/fedgoes-all-out-to-keep-economy-alive-during-coronavirusshutdown.
- 5 Sage Belz and Louise Scheiner, "How will the coronavirus affect state and local government budgets?", Brookings Institution, March 23, 2020, available at https://www. brookings.edu/blog/up-front/2020/03/23/how-will-thecoronavirus-affect-state-and-local-government-budgets/.
- 6 BBC News, "Coronavirus: US travel ban on 26 European countries comes into force," March 14, 2020, available at https://www.bbc.com/news/world-us-canada-51883728.
- 7 Jessica Donati, "Unprecedented Number of U.S. Diplomats Return Home," The Wall Street Journal, April 1, 2020, available at https://www.wsj.com/articles/unprecedentednumber-of-u-s-diplomats-return-home-11585788812.
- 8 Warren P. Strobel and Dustin Volz, "Spies, Unable to Telework, Adapt Their Access to U.S. Secrets," The Wall Street Journal, April 6, 2020, available at https://www.wsj.com/ articles/spies-unable-to-telework-adapt-their-access-to-us-secrets-11586177533.
- 9 Amanda Macias, "U.S. military coronavirus cases surge as Pentagon lifts travel restrictions," CNBC, July 2, 2020, available at https://www.cnbc.com/2020/07/02/coronavirusupdate-military-covid-19-cases-spike-as-pentagon-liftstravel-restrictions.html.

- 10 John Gans, "At the National Security Council, Trump loyalists are at war with career aides," The Washington Post, November 21, 2019, available at https://www. washingtonpost.com/outlook/inside-the-nationalsecurity-councils-war-between-trump-loyalistsand-career-aides/2019/11/21/0a5c0f52-0be1-11eabd9d-c628fd48b3a0_story.html.
- 11 Deb Riechmann, "Trump disbanded NSC pandemic unit that experts had praised," Associated Press, March 14. 2020, available at https://apnews.com/ce014d94b64e98b-7203b873e56f80e9a.
- 12 Kathryn Dunn Tenpas, "Crippling the capacity of the National Security Council," Brookings Institution, January 21, 2020, available at https://www.brookings.edu/blog/ fixgov/2020/01/21/crippling-the-capacity-of-the-nationalsecurity-council/.
- 13 Ibid.
- 14 Riechmann, "Trump disbanded NSC pandemic unit that experts had praised."
- 15 U.S. Agency for International Development, "Reducing Pandemic Risk, Promoting Global Health," available at https:// www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1864/predict-global-flyer-508.pdf (last accessed September 2020).
- 16 Topher Spiro and Zeke Emanuel, "A Comprehensive COVID-19 Vaccine Plan: Efficient Manufacturing, Financing, and Distribution of a COVID-19 Vaccine" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2020), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/healthcare/ reports/2020/07/28/488196/comprehensive-covid-19-vaccine-plan/.
- 17 Zachary Cohen and others, "Trump administration begins formal withdrawal from World Health Organization," CNN, July 8, 2020, available at https://www.cnn. com/2020/07/07/politics/us-withdrawing-world-healthorganization/index.html.
- 18 Global Health Security Agency, "About the GHSA," available at https://ghsagenda.org/home/about-the-ghsa/ (last accessed September 2020).
- 19 Gavi, the Vaccine Alliance, "Home," available at https:// www.gavi.org/ (last accessed September 2020).

Appendix

Important National Security Dates: 2020-2021

2020	November	3	Election Day
	December	10	Human Rights Day
2021			
2021	January	1	Council of the European Union presidency change to Portugal
		3	117th Congress begins
		20	U.S. presidential inauguration
	February	1	President's FY 2022 budget request due
		5	New START expires
		22	Start of 46th regular session of the U.N. Human Rights Council
	February–March		Munich Security Conference (date not yet confirmed)
	March	1	United States assumes presidency of the U.N. Security Council
		8	International Women's Day
		15	15th anniversary of the establishment of the U.N. Human Rights Council
		19	18th Anniversary of the U.S. invasion of Iraq
	April	22	Fifth anniversary of the Paris Agreement
	May	2	Tenth anniversary of Osama bin Laden's death
		16	U.S. Armed Forces Day
		25	Memorial Day
	May-June	-	Iranian presidential election (date not yet confirmed)
	May-August	-	G-7 summit will be hosted by the United Kingdom (date not yet confirmed)
	Late May	-	Shangri-La Dialogue in Singapore (date not yet confirmed)
	June	20	World Refugee Day

July	1	Council of the European Union presidency change to Slovenia
	4	Independence Day
August 19		U.N. World Humanitarian Day
August-September		German federal election (date not yet confirmed)
September	6	Labor Day
	11	20th anniversary of 9/11
	14	U.N. General Assembly opening date
	21	U.N. General Assembly opening of the general debate
September- November	-	G-20 summit will be hosted by Italy (date not yet confirmed)
October	7	20th anniversary of the invasion of Afghanistan
November	-	Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation summit and East Asia Summit (dates not yet confirmed)
	11	Veterans Day
December	7	80th anniversary of Pearl Harbor
	10	Human Rights Day
	26	30th anniversary of the collapse of the Soviet Union
	-	Manama Dialogue in Bahrain (date not yet confirmed)
Late 2021	-	United States hosts Summit of the Americas (date not yet confirmed)
	-	NATO summit meeting in the United Kingdom (date not yet confirmed)

Appendix

Partnering with Congress

The following collection of recommendations from this report—arranged by committee—involve legislative initiatives that the next administration, in partnership with Congress, should begin within its first 100 days:

Appropriations:

Signal a meaningful shift in national security resourcing by increasing State Department funding. Specifically, the next administration should fund 1,000 new State Department full-time equivalent positions to grow the U.S. diplomatic presence overseas and begin rebuilding a more diverse workforce aligned to emerging threats. Five-hundred of these slots should be reserved to build a cadre of officials engaged on international climate issues. (see pages 5–30)

Generate a new workforce to tackle climate change by creating 500 new full-time employee slots at the State Department, the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID), the Department of Commerce, and the Department of Agriculture to work on international climate. (see pages 96–119)

Increase USAID's budget, with a significant focus on global health and climate change. Regional funding should be directed to hard-hit countries and regions, such as sub-Saharan Africa, Central America, Southeast Asia, and the Balkans. (see pages 5–30)

Phase out the use of the Overseas Contingency Operations account and propose targeted reductions to the Pentagon's budget. The defense budget should prioritize investments in capabilities most likely to deter provocative action from China and Russia. (see pages 5-30)

Increase global health funding for the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention by supporting an additional \$250 million in emergency funding for the global health program to aid the COVID-19 response. (see pages 120–132)

Reestablish USAID's PREDICT program, which helps to identify and combat viruses that can generate global pandemics. (see pages 120–132)

Commit to a multiyear U.S. foreign and security assistance package for Afghanistan to demonstrate a clear U.S. commitment to the Afghan people. (see pages 54–77)

Restore U.S. assistance to the Palestinian Authority by reversing the previous administration's hold and ease or lift existing legislative restrictions on this assistance to create positive incentives for diplomatic progress. (see pages 54–77)

Fully resource the Global Fragility Act by supporting it with adequate appropriations. (see pages 54–77)

Fully fund the U.S. pledge to the Green Climate Fund at \$2 billion. (see pages 96–119)

Lead on Syrian and Iraqi humanitarian assistance, including through supplemental financial assistance for those fleeing conflict in the region. (see pages 96–119)

Transfer the Defense Department's security assistance accounts, which mirror the State Department's security assistance programs to ensure that security assistance policy aligns with the overall U.S. diplomatic strategy. (see pages 5–30)

Armed services:

Ensure that the administration implements National Defense Authorization Act provisions on election interference, including by creating a counter-malign influence center at the Office of the Director of National Intelligence and a social media data center as well as by appointing a counter-foreign influence coordinator. (see pages 31–53)

Limit the use of the Insurrection Act by putting in place appropriate checks on presidential use of the military—including against peaceful protests—and by closing loopholes that allow its inappropriate invocation. (see pages 5–30)

Pass and fully fund the Pacific Deterrence Initiative to improve U.S. deterrence against China. (see pages 78–95)

Foreign relations and affairs:

Repeal and replace the 2001 Authorization for Use of Military Force to more tightly bind the use of force to regular affirmations of public consensus via congressional debate and votes. (see pages 54–77)

Pass a State Department authorization bill that reexamines and prioritizes the role of diplomacy in U.S. foreign policy. (see pages 54–77)

Establish new parameters and strategic objectives for arms sales that embed human rights in U.S. policy and prevent partners from using American weapons for purposes that violate our standards. (see pages 5-30)

Establish an annual floor for refugee resettlement in line with global need in order to prevent future administrations from gutting U.S. refugee admissions, as proposed in the Refugee Protection Act of 2019. (see pages 31–53)

Pass new anti-corruption legislation, such as the ILLICIT CASH Act, to close loopholes in existing U.S. laws and improve transparency on foreign financial influence, including through a ban on political spending by U.S. corporations with an appreciable amount of foreign ownership and/or control. (see pages 31–53 and 96–119)

Create a program that provides special immigrant visas (SIVs) for Syrians who assisted U.S. forces and expedite the processing of Iraqi SIV applicants. (see pages 96–119)

Rules and administration:

Pass legislation on election interference that strengthens deterrence mechanisms and provides funds to prevent future cases of interference. (see pages 31–53)

Appendix

Travel and Foreign Engagement

Official travel provides an important opportunity for an administration to reward allies, solidify partnerships, and signal strategic shifts. While travel may be limited due to the ongoing coronavirus pandemic, the next administration should prioritize the following international engagements, recommended in this report:

The president:

Canada: The president-elect should prioritize his first international engagement with Canada by traveling to the country prior to inauguration if possible—and if not, by participating in a public virtual event with Prime Minister Justin Trudeau. After inauguration, the president should invite the Canadian prime minister to an early meeting at the White House. (see page 47)

The European Union (EU) and NATO: The president's first international trip—as soon as such travel is possible—should be to Europe, with a first stop in Brussels to visit the EU and NATO headquarters. (see page 81)

Mexico: Before inauguration but after engagement with Canada, the president should extend an invitation to the Mexican president for either a virtual meeting or, if safe, one in the United States. After inauguration and following his first trip to Europe to visit the EU and NATO, the president should travel to Mexico to signal the importance of the U.S.-Mexico relationship. (see page 47)

The vice president:

Germany: In February 2021, the vice president should invest in mending the rift between the United States and its allies by leading a high-profile delegation to the Munich Security Conference, either virtually or in person. (see page 82)

African democracies: Once travel is permitted, the vice president should lead a highlevel U.S. delegation to visit key democratic African countries, signaling a new era in productive relations. (see page 85)

The Cabinet:

Mexico: The secretaries of state, homeland security, energy, and commerce should each prioritize engagement with Mexico, either virtually or in person, to pursue a coordinated, forward-looking agenda on bilateral issues such as trade, energy, and migration. (see page 83)

Japan, South Korea, and Australia: In a show of support for America's democratic allies in the Asia-Pacific region, the secretaries of defense and state should prioritize a joint visit to Japan, South Korea, Australia, and New Zealand—ideally within the first 100 days or virtually, pending health restrictions. (see page 84)

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Siena Cicarelli, Laura Edwards, Peter Juul, Haneul Lee, Jordan Link, Joel Martinez, Alexandra Schmitt, and Kaveh Toofan for their contributions to this report.

In particular, the authors thank Siena Cicarelli and Alexandra Schmitt, whose management of this project was critical to making this report possible.

Our Mission

The Center for American Progress is an independent, nonpartisan policy institute that is dedicated to improving the lives of all Americans, through bold, progressive ideas, as well as strong leadership and concerted action. Our aim is not just to change the conversation, but to change the country.

Our Values

As progressives, we believe America should be a land of boundless opportunity, where people can climb the ladder of economic mobility. We believe we owe it to future generations to protect the planet and promote peace and shared global prosperity.

And we believe an effective government can earn the trust of the American people, champion the common good over narrow self-interest, and harness the strength of our diversity.

Our Approach

We develop new policy ideas, challenge the media to cover the issues that truly matter, and shape the national debate. With policy teams in major issue areas, American Progress can think creatively at the cross-section of traditional boundaries to develop ideas for policymakers that lead to real change. By employing an extensive communications and outreach effort that we adapt to a rapidly changing media landscape, we move our ideas aggressively in the national policy debate.

